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Directors and Corporate Information
EERKEEEN

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Chairman
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI (retired on 19th August 2024)
Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND (retired on 19th August 2024)

Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG

Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG (appointed on 19th August 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO
Ms. May LO (Deputy Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI (Group Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Eugene LYE

GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. lan Hong NG

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Carrie Yee-kwan SO

REGISTERED OFFICE

No. 1 Kin Wong Street,
Tuen Mun,

New Territories,

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

a Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

EET
HITERE
BREAEE

BAFITES

FTEERET (R=ZZWFENA+ABEME)

Jan P.S.ERLUND 4 (R=Z2=WENA+ A BRE)

RERLSE

Paul Jeremy BROUGH %t 4

EEEEL

ABELZT (R=ZE-NFENA T+ BEZEE)

FHUTES
BREBELL
BEALE
BEELL (HZE)

HITES
R 1R S (BT B AR )
e LCTPES

SEERMITEE

RE &+

DEHE
) EE S

M EE
Bt

# 5

P
R — 3

B Em

LEHEHFEBH

(B REISE R B IEH) TR
ARFIE EREBE



Directors and Corporate Information
EEREEER

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Merchants Bank Company, Ltd.

Bank of China Limited

BNP Paribas

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Tel: (852) 2468 9272
Fax: (852) 2465 1008

Email: ir@vitasoy.com
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Closure of Register of Members

HERERDBFEERT

- Annual General Meeting

BRBERE —EHENAZ+H(EH=)

Record Date 25th August 2025 (Monday)

20th August 2025 (Wednesday) to 25th August 2025 (Monday)
E-E_RFNAZ+EHA(EH-)

A ZE-AFNAZTHEB(EH-)

- Proposed Final Dividend
EERPRE

2nd September 2025 (Tuesday) to 3rd September 2025 (Wednesday)
—ECHFARCH(EHD)ZEZE-RFAAZRA(EHZD)

Record Date
o8k A H

3rd September 2025 (Wednesday)
“E-HFABR=ZH(EHZ)

Annual General Meeting

RRBEXRS

11:00 a.m., 25th August 2025 (Monday)

Chatham Room, Level 7, Conrad Hong Kong, Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong
—EHFNAZTHEHE(EH-) EF+—KIE
BRSEBSRATESBBHE LIERRE

Final Dividend Payable 17th September 2025 (Wednesday)
TRERERE —E-HFARTER(EHE)
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Financial Highlights
HMBRE
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Year Ended 31st March #Z =B =+—HILEE

Results
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

As at 31st March R=BA=+—H
Financial Position

B G AR R
2025 2024

—ELF i3 %
ELENNTITIM HK$ million Change
ELACE Pl B EET EoEH
N On par

Total Assets REE 5,649 5,637 .
BFF
Net Cash Balance REFEH 657 111 +492%
Total Equity Attributable to Equity APAREFEAELER QTS e
Shareholders of the Company #zg ’ ’

Year Ended 31st March 2025 B2 —ZE-FF=fA=+—HILLEE
Sales Analysis by Location
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54% 36%
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Notes: “Hong Kong SAR” represented the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.
“Macau SAR” represented the Macao Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERHRS

In FY2024/2025, we observed a significant
shift in consumer behaviour toward greater
price sensitivity. In the coming year, the
indirect impact caused by heightened
geopolitical factors and the direct impact
due to growth slowdown in the categories
we compete are likely to create challenges
for our business in the short term.

For the longer term, however, we remain
confident in our ability to drive gradual
improvements in both revenue and
profitability.

R-ZB-WN/ —Z_HHBEE KMA&
HEA AR EHEEANRE  HEHEER
BEBSR - ERAR—F HEHERZ M
BIFfE WA ESEURERMESERSE
EEREFERNEEZESE RBEEE
EREBHRE o

AMREMS  RMBEEEZFED D
BERIAWARBNEED -

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
(SBS, BSc, MSc)
EEREFHE(SBS, BSc, MSc)

Executive Chairman

HITERF
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

In FY2024/2025, Vitasoy Group’s revenue increased by 1% over
the previous financial year, driven by growth of our core products in
Mainland China alongside the solid achievements of the Hong Kong
Operation.

The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company grew substantially by 102%, driven by enhanced sales
execution focus in Mainland China, strong performance in the
Hong Kong Operation, and our strategic emphasis on improving
procurement and operating efficiency at both the market and
corporate levels.

Based on the Group’s financial performance and cash position, the
Board of Directors recommends a final dividend of HK10.2 cents per
ordinary share for FY2024/2025, subject to shareholders’ approval
at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25th August 2025.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary
share, this brings the total dividend for FY2024/2025 to HK14.2
cents per ordinary share.

Moderate sales growth and continued profitability
enhancement in Mainland China and the Hong
Kong Operation

Mainland China improved its topline sales performance in the
second half of the financial year, closing with moderate sales growth.
Substantial year-on-year profit growth was achieved, driven by
disciplined sales execution and improved operating efficiency in both
the manufacturing and commercial operations.

The Hong Kong Operation delivered revenue growth and accelerated
improvement in profit from operations during the year, despite a
challenging retail landscape in the local market.

Australia and New Zealand grew sales and reduced loss following
restored manufacturing stability in a very competitive sales
environment.
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

In ASEAN markets, Singapore narrowed its loss from operations by
improving its export business and gradually recovering the domestic
business in tofu segment, partly offset by the transition to a new
distributor for imported beverages. Meanwhile, our joint venture
with Universal Robina Corporation in the Philippines achieved strong
revenue growth, primarily driven by the on-the-go platform.

Year ahead

In FY2024/2025, we observed a significant shift in consumer
behaviour toward greater price sensitivity. In the coming year, the
indirect impact caused by heightened geopolitical factors and the
direct impact due to growth slowdown in the categories we compete
are likely to create challenges for our business in the short term.

For the longer term, however, we remain confident in our ability to
drive gradual improvements in both revenue and profitability.

Our brands remain well-positioned and highly relevant, supported
by a strong product portfolio across both core offerings and by
innovation. We continue to enhance our organisational capabilities
and improve operational efficiency at both the market and corporate
levels.

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) performance
continues to maintain high standards as demonstrated by our high
external ESG ratings, both local and international.
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

Note of appreciation

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to
my fellow Board members, the management team and all our staff
for their dedication and contributions throughout the year. | also
extend my appreciation to our shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners - their continued support and trust are vital to
our ongoing growth and progress.

Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman

24th June 2025
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GROUP CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REPORT/BUSINESS REVIEW

SETHRANRE RGER

In the longer term, we are confident that
our brands are well-positioned to gradually
better capture growth opportunities thanks
to our core portfolio and pipeline of healthy,
innovative products.

REmMS BEZRMNZLERESRR
BERIFEmRARSY  ZMABELET mERE
ZLEEEREES

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
PESS KA

Executive Director and
Group Chief Executive Officer

HITESBRETRAR
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Group revenue increased by 1% in FY2024/2025. Sales in our
biggest market, Mainland China, rose by 1% in local currency
compared with the previous year, thanks to an improvement in
the second half of the fiscal year. Core products under both the
VITASOY and VITA brands achieved concurrent growth in volume
and revenue during the year, despite intensified competition in the
tea market.

The Hong Kong Operation delivered another year of revenue growth
of 2%, driven by strong brand equity, widespread availability and the
success of our core products and innovation.

Australia and New Zealand recorded revenue growth of 5% in local
currency. This was made possible by the successful resolution of
the manufacturing challenges, which led to improved operational
performance and thus the ability to fully satisfy the high demand for
the products in our portfolio.

Our ASEAN operations in Singapore and the Philippines remained
focused on driving sustainable growth and reducing losses during the
financial year.

Gross profit margin improved to 51.3%, mainly due to lower
commodity costs and a more efficient manufacturing footprint. This
was partially offset, however, by higher trade promotional expenses
in Mainland China and the impact of unfavourable foreign exchange
movements. Profit from operations grew substantially by 96%,
driven by improved gross profit and enhanced efficiency following
a disciplined rightsizing of investments and expenses at both the
market and corporate level.

Although our focus is on driving sales of our core products, we view
innovation as a critical building block for incremental growth. During
the financial year, we continued to introduce new product variants
under both the VITASOY and VITA brands in all our markets.

We remain confident in the long-term potential of the plant-based
market and our ability to capture growth opportunities. Looking
ahead, we will continue to focus on our core fundamentals, while
expanding product availability to support sustainable revenue and
profit growth.
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHARRE FBOE

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

The Sustainability Report provides a detailed account of our ESG
efforts and results in FY2024/2025 as well as our plans for the
future. The board-level ESG Committee provides direction and
oversight for Vitasoy’s sustainability strategy, supported by the
executive-level Sustainability Steering Team.

Sustainability Framework

The Vitasoy Sustainability Framework provides a structure for
organising and evaluating ESG performance, in line with seven of
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) deemed
relevant to our business. In the last fiscal year, the ESG Committee
endorsed Sustainability Framework goals for the next five-year
cycle to FY2030/2031, including targets for Portfolio, Packaging,
Manufacturing and Workplace.

Reporting What Matters

Vitasoy’s value chain incorporates inputs, processes and outputs
when sourcing ingredients and manufacturing and distributing
products. The Company updates its “double materiality” assessment
every three years by evaluating ESG impacts, risks and opportunities
from a financial and non-financial perspective to prioritise
sustainability topics. The most recent assessment is presented in the
materiality matrix in the Sustainability Report for FY2024/2025.

Vitasoy and Plant-Based Nutrition

Vitasoy offers a wide range of affordable and healthy plant-based
products under the VITASOY and VITA brands. Compared with
alternative food and beverage options, the Company’s plant-based
products are nutrient-dense, low in calories, saturated fat and
cholesterol, and have a lighter environmental footprint.

Integrated Risk Management

The Company identifies and manages its ESG risks through the
Governance, Risk and Compliance System, and adheres to high
quality standards and health recommendations for its product
portfolio. The Company'’s climate change disclosures and sustainable
farming practices align with the recommendations of the TCFD
(Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures) and TNFD
(Task Force on Nature-Related Financial Disclosures). Transforming
product packaging to become more sustainable is also integral to
managing environmental, sales and reputational risks.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHARRE FBOE

Climate Change and Carbon Reduction

The Company helps to combat climate change by offering plant-
based food and beverage options that are lower in carbon emission
compared with alternatives. Progress has been made in both energy
efficiency and water intensity to reduce the Company’s direct
and indirect carbon emissions. The Scope 3 carbon inventory has
also been updated to include Forest, Land and Agriculture (FLAG)
emissions from raw materials. During the financial year, initiatives
were underway to engage suppliers on collecting accurate carbon
data and enhancing the ESG performance of our supply chain.

Making the Right Products - Portfolio

Vitasoy is optimising its plant-based portfolio by expanding
its product offerings, enhancing their nutritional benefits and
encouraging healthier choices. “Vitasoy Nutrition Criteria” are based
on dietary guidelines from health authorities such as the World
Health Organization.

In FY2024/2025, the Company made strong progress towards its
portfolio goals through continuous innovation. A more ambitious
target for FY2030/2031 was adopted to accelerate the growth of
low- and no-sugar products, reinforcing our commitment to reducing
sugar content in line with wellness guidelines, evolving regulations
and shifting consumer preferences.

Making the Right Products - Packaging

Vitasoy addresses opportunities and risks associated with
sustainable packaging by monitoring new regulations, evaluating new
technologies and adopting more sustainable primary and secondary
packaging materials and designs. The Company has achieved strong
performance against targets for sustainable paper and glass bottle
recycling. Pilot initiatives to eliminate single-use plastics and reduce
virgin plastic consumption are currently underway.

Making Products the Right Way - Manufacturing

Vitasoy focuses on mitigating its environmental impact from energy
use, water consumption and waste disposal in manufacturing
operations. Various projects are ongoing to achieve energy and
water savings, waste reduction, and enhanced waste segregation and
diversion from landfill.
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHARRE FBOE

Making Products the Right Way - Supply Chain

Vitasoy manages supply chain risks and opportunities through ethical
sourcing policies and supplier engagement practices. Suppliers in
Mainland China are screened for environmental violations by an
independent third party. A comprehensive assessment of nature-
related risks and opportunities was conducted on soybean farms
in Mainland China and Australia. Vitasoy’s Sustainable Farming
Guidelines stipulate proper management of resources and
biodiversity protection. The Company also works closely with
contract farmers to implement sustainable practices.

Making Products the Right Way - Workplace

Vitasoy's workforce is recognised as its greatest strength. Ensuring
workers can enjoy a safe and healthy workplace is a top priority for
the management of Vitasoy, which focuses on the elimination of
lost-time injuries.

To create a safe, purpose-driven and inclusive working environment,
the Company has invested in a strong corporate culture, talent
development and performance management. In recognition of its
HR initiatives, Vitasoy has received awards for its global mobility
and leadership development, as well as for programmes such as the
Sustainability Forum and Leadership Lounge.

Making Products the Right Way - Community

Vitasoy seeks to make long-term positive contributions by promoting
good nutrition and supporting rural revitalisation. The Vitasoy
Community Care Programme in Mainland China, for example,
provides VITASOY Low Sugar Soyabean Milk and health and physical
education opportunities for children in rural primary schools. To date,
this programme has provided almost two million packs of VITASOY
Low Sugar Soyabean Milk to rural schools across the country.

Through nutrition classes, sports activities and paper carton recycling
workshops, we raised awareness of healthy diets and sustainable
lifestyles to around 7,000 rural children in 49 schools across 11
counties in Guangdong, Hebei, Henan, Gansu, Shanxi, Hunan and
Guizhou.

The Homegrown Baristas initiative in Australia helps young people
gain valuable skills and work experience. What's more, the Company
has been promoting a circular economy in collaboration with local
stakeholders through initiatives such as Drink Without Waste.

In Mainland China, the Beverage Carton Clean Recycling Programme
engaged more than 1,800 schools and collected over 960 tonnes of
post-consumer paper cartons.

Q Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

RABENEERE-HER
HODNERECRBRRREEESHEERE
HEHEEER RS - FEAMNHERTE
ERNE=ZFTNRREAGE -AKEZET
EPERNERANAEZRSEAREENER
KB gmIN U SEREESIFTARESR
BREMZEMNZEEE - ADFFEFE
REERSHE HTUSEEER -

RAEENEERZ-THFRER
ERPNETERRERERAES - #1215
EEENEEAKRRREIZAZERER
WIFERE BOABRRIESEN -

REE—Ezz2 BEEPHREEBTMUNTIHE
RE ADAEBBEBRAEENLL - AT H#E
REVEBTEARAREER BEHALE
R GHNAERRRBUEMNEELRES
EEGRE  WRAEAUSERREREBEREME

BETEMRRRE -

RABENEERE—HE

HUNBNEBHEBERFEER AN RE
FHRERBER - fI0 - b RPE R
MEARTHRERNNENZ ERMAMMME
BIPUREREREREERERS - 4K
EFER  ZTHCOZ2ESHNENERE
HERIT 200 B B M INEREZ LS -

HM@ER Ad TR HE LA
MEMILEEHAN 49 FTERL 7,000 8 EN
RERMHEERE BREZHIABEENKRT
B BURMMUMYREERERTFELE
FAHERE -

B 7S £ U0k B (Homegrown Baristas) 5t 215 Bf
FRAESESHWRER TELRH I &
ARHEEMBHESIE BRRIEJBRSE
W HERERARE -

EHREA BiB1800MEBRSER FRE
Bl - WETHBIOMARAR -



Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review
SETHRARBE EKEE

Financial Highlights M E

Highlights of the Group’s financial performance for the year ended T XREJAEBEHZE-—S-_AF=A=+—8H
31st March 2025, with comparisons against the previous financial IFEMNBMKEERE  BHEE ST -_NE=

year ended 31st March 2024, are presented in the following table: A=+—HiEzt—REBFEENEL :
Year ended 31st March
BE=A=+—HLEE i - e
2025 2024 of currency
—E_RE —E-NE impact
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) Change 28— MR
(B¥HER) (B¥BEET) HE Exza
Revenue 6,217 +1% +1%
A ’ ’ ’
Gross Profit
3,111 +3% +4%
EA
EBITDA (Earnings before Interest Income, Finance
Costs, Income Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation and
Share of Losses of Joint Venture) 685 +22% +23%
EBITDA (REtFIBEWA « RIERA « FiGH - #E -
BHEBARMEEEDRBENEF)
Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company 116 +102% +102%
RO ERERFE AEL G
Basic Earnings per Share (HK cents)
R 10.9 +102% +102%
SRERBF (B1L) ’ ’
Gearing ratio 3% -3ppt -3ppt
EE ’ 3EAH 3ELY
Gearing ratio (excluding lease liabilities) 13% -3ppt -3ppt
EELR (TEEEEAE) ° SEPE BELY
ROCE (Return on Capital Employed) 1% +4ppt +4ppt
EREHE 0 4B 4B
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Revenue

For the year ended 31st March 2025, Group revenue increased by
1% to HK$6,274 million (FY2023/2024: HK$6,217 million).

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year was HK$3,218 million
(FY2023/2024: HK$3,111 million), representing an increase of 3%.
This was mainly due to higher sales volume, lower commodity costs
and a more efficient manufacturing footprint, partially offset by
higher trade promotional expenses in Mainland China and the impact
of unfavourable foreign exchange movements.

Gross profit margin increased to 51.3% (FY2023/2024: 50.0%).

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses decreased 3% to HK$2,930 million
(FY2023/2024: HK$3,010 million).

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses decreased 4% to
HK$1,901 million (FY2023/2024: HK$1,976 million), mainly due to
improved operational efficiencies, such as lower transportation costs
and savings in staff-related expenses.

Administrative expenses decreased 1% to HK$694 million
(FY2023/2024: HK$701 million), mainly due to improved operational
efficiencies but partly offset by severance payments incurred by
Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited.

Other operating expenses were HK$335 million (FY2023/2024:
HK$333 million), which mainly included staff costs for employees in
support functions and sundry tax charges in Mainland China.
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WA
BE-_ZE_RAF=ZA=+—HLEHFEE =K
£ B U A 18I0 1% Z 8 ¥ 6,274,000,000 7T
(ZEZ=Z/ZZ_NHBREE: B
6,217,000,0007T) °

EFREF =R

ZFE.FA$WE’J%%U?%‘}%”ﬁ?&ZlS,OOO,OOOJ_E
(ZZB== /Z“Z-UHIREE : 8% 3,111,000,000
7)o tﬂs%’IEEMﬁEEbH‘EM*ﬂﬁE
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EFELFAZESII%(CE-= “E N
FE :50.0%) °

KEEH
mELEBRF A 3%ZE B % 2,930,000,000 7T
_g::/_ ZMEFEREFRE : ¥ 3,010,000000
JT) °

i HEE - i‘é’i&’“fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁdw%i%m
1,901,000,000 T (ZF== '“E_MHHBFE:
7815 1,976,000,00070) » EERNEEMNREFH -
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EBITDA (Earnings before Interest Income, Finance
Costs, Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation and
Share of Losses of Joint Venture)

EBITDA for the year was HK$836 million, an increase of 22%
year-on-year. This was mainly driven by the higher gross profit
contribution and effective operating cost rationalisation in our
operations.

The EBITDA to revenue margin for the year increased from 11% to
13%.

Profit from Operations

Profit from operations for the year was HK$364 million, an increase
of 96% from a profit of HK$185 million last year.

Profit before Taxation

For FY2024/2025, profit before taxation increased by 141% to
HK$317 million (FY2023/2024: HK$132 million).

Taxation

Income tax charged for the year was HK$76 million (FY2023/2024:
HK$14 million), with an effective tax rate of 24% versus 11% last
year, mainly due to the tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised
and written-off of previously recognised tax losses.

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$235 million (FY2023/2024: HK$116 million), representing an
increase of 102% over the previous year.

RETFBWA - BERAE - FIEHR 47
E BHBRARFGESEQRAEEMN
# % (TEBITDAL)

£ N B9 EBITDA % & £ 836,000,000 ¢ » 1% £ #2
n22% T EHEERKFIEIEHER S BN
UREEBRTENSBEHIEERA o

FAMWEBITDALEEN T ERR11%EMZE
13% ©

KR F
FRNEEFERABH364,000,0007T ' BEF
i ) 78 # 185,000,000 JT I AN 96% ©

BR &L A % R
REZB-M/ R0 BREE  BREAER
#®IN141% = 8 % 317,000,000 T (ZBE==
“EZMHBERE - 8% 132,000,000 7T) °

BiE

FRAWFEBHZHAEBBE 76,000,000
(ZEBEZZ /ZE_NEHBEE: B
14,000,0007t) r EBRFE R 24% > EFH A
1% TEHRABR 2 A ARKERUR
MR CRARBBENRESE -

RRAFRERE ARG RF
7 B BRAE R A BB % R 5 78 %5 235,000,000

T(ZEBEZZ /ZE_NUHREE: B8
116,000,000 7T) » BFEF L H1102% ©
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Financial Position

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure primarily
through internally generated cash as well as banking facilities
provided by our principal bankers.

As of 31st March 2025, cash and bank deposits amounted to
HK$1,268 million (31st March 2024: HK$794 million), with 81%,
14% and 3% of our cash and bank deposits denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars (HKD), Renminbi (RMB) and United States Dollars (USD),
respectively (31st March 2024: 82%, 12% and 3%). As of 31st March
2025, the Group had a net cash balance (cash and bank deposits less
bank borrowings, bills payable and lease liabilities) of HK$657 million
(31st March 2024: HK$111 million). Available banking facilities
amounted to HK$971 million (31st March 2024: HK$1,193 million)
to facilitate future funding needs.

The Group’s debt amounted to HK$610 million (31st March 2024:
HK$684 million), of which bank borrowings were HK$265 million
(31st March 2024: HK$256 million), bills payable were HK$47
million (31st March 2024: HK$125 million), and lease liabilities were
HK$298 million (31st March 2024: HK$303 million).

The gearing ratio (total debt/total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company) decreased to 20% (31st March 2024:
23%). Excluding lease liabilities from total debt, the gearing ratio was
10% (31st March 2024: 13%)

The Group’s return on capital employed (ROCE, being EBITDA/
average non-current debt and equity) for the year was 25%
(FY2023/2024: 21%).

Capital expenditure incurred during the year decreased to HK$124
million (FY2023/2024: HK$133 million), mainly due to the
normalised investment required for maintaining and upgrading our
production lines and equipment.

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had pledged a bank deposit of
approximately HK$1 million as security for a bank guarantee related
to a lease arrangement (31st March 2024: nil).
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Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

The Group publishes various non-financial KPls in its FY2024/2025
Sustainability Report, which will be released in July 2025 together
with this Annual Report.

Tax Strategy

When considering tax, the Group gives due consideration to
the importance of its corporate and social responsibilities. More
specifically, the Group commits to paying taxes in the countries
where it creates value and complying fully with tax laws across
all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also commits to following
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD) transfer pricing guidelines and to ensuring that the arm’s
length principle is always observed in transactions between Group
companies. The Group also actively supports the OECD international
tax reform work on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) on Pillar
Two. In addition, the Group commits to being open and transparent
with tax authorities about the Group’s tax affairs and to disclosing
relevant information to enable tax authorities to carry out their
reviews.

Financial Risk Management

The Group’s overall financial management policy focuses on
anticipating, controlling and managing risks, and covering
transactions directly related to the underlying businesses of the
Group. For synergy, efficiency and control, the Group operates a
central cash and treasury management system for all subsidiaries.
Borrowings are normally taken out in local currencies by the
operating subsidiaries to fund their investments and partially mitigate
foreign currency risks.

Potential Risk and Uncertainties

The Company has implemented a comprehensive risk management
framework across the Group to consistently anticipate, assess and
mitigate key business risks, as well as a risk governance structure to
ensure risk ownership and proper oversight. In view of the rapidly
changing business environment, the Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management Department has stepped up its efforts to improve
key risk indicators, identify external emerging risks and facilitate
risk reviews for key purchasing decisions. Details of these risk
management processes are covered in the Risk Management section
of the “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual Report.
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FEEBR-Z_AFLAERARFHR -H2
N2 2 _ARRFEAUSERRE
BEFHHSEETEERRRER -

B R R B

EZRHEN AEESEEZERALERK
SEANEEM -FHEME  AEEBFR
HRAEEENERPHMAGIE  X2EBTFR
BHRAREEEENRBEES FARERKE
FERLSESFRERASEEEEES X
BEEELCABNRZHEBRLIFEREA - K
EEFBEBXEEEEBN I —FERER
BN EERNERB MR ETE I
SEREENHESBHHBEE -—ERSTQ
FEZES  LAREABENERBEERENT
HEBERTIE-

Bt %5 R B o B

AEENEEMBEERRBARAIREZR
o REEARENEEXTEEEBRNRS -
REFHENE HEREZNEN  AKH
REMEMBLAAEBETHRESRMHREER
BoBREEMBAR-—RUBHERETHEE
AEMREHEBRHUES RBEROIERR o

BERBRTAPEE

AARAEERRNERZAMNEAMEEESR K
A—EaRBENER A REEERERR
- URRAEBERRE BREABEETE

BERIZENEEEE BERNEBHREREE

FrEAsE ki AR o R SN SR T ELE B o (R
REBAREREZ ZSAREERENF
BHERAFRANCEESRENAREE—H

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @



é% Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHARRE FBOE

Review of operations

Mainland China

Sales improvement in the second half enabled moderate
topline growth, with strong operating profit growth driven by
improved production and operational efficiency

(Rounded to the nearest million)

(MBEEAZRELER)

Revenue from external customers (RMB million)

RENMEETZVA(AREEET)

Profit from operations (RMB million)

REEN(ARBBET)

Revenue from external customers (HK$ million)

RENEETZWACBEEET)

Profit from operations (HK$ million)
KERF (BEBET)

Revenue grew slightly by 1% in local currency terms compared with
the previous year due to growth from flat in the first half to 2% in
the second half of FY2024/2025. Core products under the VITASOY
and VITA brands registered concurrent sales and volume growth.

While continuing to expand our core business, innovations in both
VITASQY (fruity variants of Strawberry and Banana) and VITA tea
(VLT Zero) provided incremental revenue for the existing product
portfolio.

We continued to improve profitability by increasing operating
efficiency, lowering commodity prices and exercising disciplined
cost control. Profit from operations rose by 41% to achieve a 9%
operating margin for the year.
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BEEO
P il A 3t
FHFHEXZFEUABFER - &
FlZHERIZFBRLEEREELERE

2024 % Change
—TomE BOLLEE
3,087 +1%
203 +42%
On par
3,359
¥
221 +41%
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SETHRARBE EKEE

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and &B X2 (FBEBTHE - HEF9 453

Exports) THEREHO)
Sustained revenue growth and accelerated profitability EZ BB EERES EHRAFE

improvement achieved amidst a challenging retail environment & R /1% EH & FI&E D

2025 2024

—E-EHEF —ENF
(Rounded to the nearest million) HK$ million HK$ million % Change
(MIEEIANZRERFEE) BEEERT BEHET Botk®s

Revenue from external customers

. 2,224 +2%
REPEEEZBA ?
Profit from operations 295 +04%

R ER

The Hong Kong Operation delivered another year of revenue HEMBEROLEBEEBEE[AFNXET &
growth, underpinned by a strengthened core business and targeted BEXBEEZEFESRRNALER -BEAhEE
innovations. Despite some challenges in the overall local retail ZEREMEE T RE - B4R 45752
environment, both VITASOY and VITA brands continued to lead the  ##&S|EEEBTS  ZERMIERNREEE -
market in Hong Kong, reinforcing our strong brand equity.

Profit from operations grew by 24%, driven mainly by higher sales E&EFIEE24% > TESHE LA - BHEK

volumes, lower overhead costs and lower commodity costs, all of AT EEREMEKANTHRTEE » FRKEEF
which contributed to the 12% operating profit margin for the year. BEEMBAAEREZEMEE 12%
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Australia and New Zealand

Continuous sales growth and loss reduction following
restored manufacturing stability in a very competitive sales
environment

(Rounded to the nearest million)
(METIAZREFEE)

Revenue from external customers (AUD million)

REIIEEEZBA(REFTET)

BN X ¥ P bR

BEELERERT  BMNEBRHEFEHR
HEERE T BRI HERERIWEZSL
WLEEER

2024 % Change
—FomE BOLLEE
103 +5%

Loss from operations (AUD million)
_ _ e — 15 +49
A (R ) = (18) 4%

Revenue from external customers (HK$ million)

REIIEEEZRACBEEET)

Loss from operations (HK$ million)

HEBR(BEBEET)

Revenue grew 5% in local currency terms, following the resolution of
earlier production line issues.

After a challenging first half, we narrowed the loss from operations
in the second half by 31% in local currency terms. This improvement
was driven by the restoration of manufacturing stability and
optimisation of logistics, which together supported the sustained
resumption of promotional activities in the final quarter of
FY2024/2025.

For the full year, the loss from operations decreased by 4% to
AUD15 million.
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Singapore

Gradual recovery in the tofu segment, both local and export,
following the transition to a new distributor for imported
beverages

(Rounded to the nearest thousand)

(MIEBAEZELTT)

Revenue from external customers (SGD thousand)

REIIEEEZWA GRE T T)

Loss from operations (SGD thousand)

HEBRORETT

Revenue from external customers (HK$ thousand)

REIEEE ZWA GBE T T)

Loss from operations (HK$ thousand)

HEBR(BET T

Revenue decreased slightly compared with the previous year.
While tofu sales volume grew in both domestic and export markets,
the imported beverage business was temporarily affected by the
completion of the transition to a new distributor.

The loss from operations narrowed, mainly due to lower raw material
costs and an optimised sales mix.

Business Outlook

In the current financial year, in the context of a much more
challenging external environment and categories’ growth slowdown,
our goal is to sustain scale and profitability across all operating units
by expanding our market share in the core categories of plant milk
and ready-to-drink tea, with a particular focus and priority on the
Mainland China business.

At the same time, we will work to sustain sales growth and decrease
the loss from operations in Australia.

In the longer term, we are confident that our brands are well-
positioned to gradually better capture growth opportunities thanks
to our core portfolio and pipeline of healthy, innovative products.

WAREFEMRD -BERAAREATSH
TRHENEMER BEORBEBRETK
BEEHIHEMEEZRTE -

3 03

EEEB (X REO)ZFXEE  REO

B iBREH T HE

2024 % Change

—FomE BOLLEE

18,396 -1%

(2,210) +40%

131 107,008 -1%
(12,855) +40%
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Mainland China

Overall beverage category growth has slowed down and the
competitive context has become more challenging, while consumers
become more price sensitive. Our main goal in the short-term
horizon is to sustain scale and profitability.

In FY2025/2026, we will further sharpen field sales execution
to increase sales per outlet and improve product availability. Our
core VITASQY and VITA brands will continue to be supported by a
dedicated focus on our core products and strong innovation pipeline.

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and
Exports)

Closely integrated with the Mainland China commercial programme,
Hong Kong will continue to execute its distinctive, far-reaching
expansion strategy across all channels to sustain highly profitable
topline growth. Export sales to the United States (which has been
consolidated under Hong Kong Operation) accounts for less than 2%
of total Vitasoy business in FY2024/2025, and the estimated tariff
impact to the Group is not material. However, we will continue to
assess the financial impact of global trade barriers on our business.

Australia and New Zealand

We remain committed to accelerating sales by leveraging our now
stabilised manufacturing operation. Manufacturing stability allows
us to completely satisfy growing demand, while further innovations
and other operational efficiencies will enable us to continue to
decrease the loss from operations of FY2024/2025. While we have
resolved the manufacturing issues, it is taking longer to improve our
cost structure and recover our market position and this has been
exacerbated by a very competitive sales environment.

Singapore

We will continue to drive growth in tofu sales and diversify
sourcing for cost optimised beverage products to increase scale and
significantly improve the bottom line.

The Philippines

Our joint venture with Universal Robina Corporation will continue
to advance scale and grow the exciting plant milk category in this
promising market. As the market has shown responsiveness to
almond and oat milk across different shopper occasions, we will
invest behind our comprehensive portfolio of soy, almond and oat
milk across both single serve and multi serve.
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Conclusion

Increased sales and effective management of raw material prices
together with enhanced operating efficiency enabled the Group to
deliver significant profit growth for FY2024/2025. Looking ahead
to FY2025/2026, we will prioritise sustaining business scale and
profitability, navigating challenges posed by geopolitical tensions,
weak economic conditions and competitive plant milk and ready-to-
drink tea markets.

For the longer term, we remain well-positioned to deliver value and
growth across our markets, bolstered by our strong brand equity,
robust core product portfolio and ongoing incremental innovations.
Our comprehensive organisational capabilities, combined with
our international presence in the growing plant-based food and
beverages market, provide a solid foundation for our sustained
success.

| would like to thank our Executive Chairman and Board of
Directors, whose wisdom and guidance have been invaluable
during the past year. | would also like to acknowledge our staff and
business partners, who performed with great dedication and agility
throughout the year.

Roberto GUIDETTI

Executive Director and

Group Chief Executive Officer
24th June 2025

ﬁllﬁ

AEBNHEEELA  EMHERGIENE
B oEEBERRTERER  BRSAKER=
BN CECARBEFESESUBRENER
RE-ZE_FH /—Z-_,HEREE RAEH
NGESEBRRBERBNED  RBEBUAR
ZER SERBERIRENPMADGRRTS
R R R AR B o

REMS  BEAMEBANREEE BED
BROERASREFERARN  BMNEREBRML
B AEmHSEREERER -RME2ENA
BEEN I EUENMB AN RGN ARMNEKRR
METEHER REMNSERNEETERE
B

RAZURUDBHRMANBTEIERESS
RBE-—F #HANETEREEREEREHE
BNER AATEHRBHBEMEZBEIRE
BRHERANFERENELFTRILETD B

FEES T HE -

REte R

HITEFE
£ETRAH
—E-HEFAA=tMA

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
ETRELSHS




Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is firmly
committed to a high level of corporate governance and adherence to
the governance principles and practices emphasising transparency,
independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness. These
principles and practices are regularly reviewed, enhanced and
updated by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its delegated Board
Committees to reflect the ever changing regulatory requirements
and corporate governance development. The Board would conduct
regular review on the implementation and effectiveness of those
policies embracing those principles and practices. The Board believes
that the high standards of corporate governance is the essential core

HMPEREERERQE (AT ]) BFEK
FHEEER UNABTIEAZEAE B
v -BE BEFRQATZERRBRESR -
ARRESFE(ESENREAREZESEZ
EEEHRN RELEFZERARESR
RIS EENEEREREXERBRE  — &
ERFWE EREEHREEZERIRERNEK
RzBRERMETER RS EFSHEE
ERENTXERHEMNEEFEELRER
B URERR 2RREEREMEHEAR
BEE T A RERABE R

for sustaining Vitasoy Group’s long term performance and value
creation for our shareholders, the investing public and the other
stakeholders.

four out of the ten directors are independent non-executive directors

TRESEVTOARBYFIITES

three out of the ten directors are female

TRESEP=ABLH

Board the Board has diverse mix of knowledge, skills, experience and expertise

ESSRAZUENAR  HiE - BBRRER

Composition

EEEHEM

chairpersons of major board committees are independent non-executive directors

TEREEREECIREYRBUFYTES

NI N NN

roles of Executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate, and
1 Group Chief Executive Officer is a professional management executive

BOTEIEREETHARZABGYEES AEREITRARAEEEETRAR

N

five Board meetings and eight Sub-board Committee meetings in FY2024/2025
— RIECDN S/ CE_ANBEERTTAAEEEEERN\AESEET
e

average 95% attendance rate of meetings

SEFHIHEREI%

periodic review a Corporate Culture Statement to always align with business
—— strategies and operating practices

_J EfREAELER  BEBRRREEERARE-H

proactive sustainability strategy and effective implementation
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active participation of in-house training and continuing professional development

BBSHEARABFIURSEEXRE

clear roadmap for Board Succession Plan and Board Diversity
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has, throughout the year ended 31st March 2025,
complied with all the code provisions and, where appropriate,
adopted certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Corporate Culture

Vitasoy is one of the world’s leading producers of tasty nutritious
plant-based foods and beverages for over 80 years. In 1940, our
founder Dr. K.S. Lo was motivated to provide an abundant source of
affordable nutrition to help improve the lives of others. Since then,
we have built on his principles to champion sustainable practices
across our business. We are leading the transition towards more
sustainable plant-based nutrition. Our founding purpose continues
to inspire us today.

Vitasoy Culture Statement: Our Purpose, Values and
Behaviours

Our Purpose

To advance the world’s transformation towards a sustainable future,
through the amazing power of plants.

Our Core Values

We share the same three core values:

1. Integrity - Honest, trusted, loyal. We are reliable and
responsible partners.

2. Dedication - Committed, enthusiastic, with a “can-do” spirit.
We always give our best efforts.

3. Advancement - Striving, moving forward, always improving.

We aspire to advance ourselves and the Company.

Our Vitasoy Success Drivers (VSD)

We set six competency-based behaviour standards for all our
employees:

Customer Focus
Innovation

Quality Orientation
Strategic Agility
Collaboration
Accountability

oA E

By living our shared Purpose, Values and Behaviours, we create a
culture of high performance, build a better environment in which to
work and make positive impacts on each other.
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Alignment of Culture with Business Strategies and
Operating Practices

Vitasoy’s Executive and Leadership team set the tone and develop
the strategies for our Culture which is reviewed, aligned and
endorsed by the Board or its Board Committee/s on a regular
basis. The leadership team acts as a role model and cascades the
Company'’s culture to all levels via various internal communication
platforms and systems.

Our core values are embedded in the Group Business Ethics Policy
and the Code of Conduct for employees and relevant stakeholders.
The Code of Conduct is clearly laid out in our Staff Handbook and
communicated to all new joiners. We provide refresher training to all
employees and relevant stakeholders on Business Ethics and Code
of Conduct on a regular basis to ensure strict compliance of all rules
and regulations when we do our business.

The Company’s talent acquisition, onboarding, performance
management and talent development processes for our employees
are all aligned with our Purpose, Values and Behaviours. Purpose,
Values and VSD training has been mandated to all new joiners during
their onboarding. Our Values and VSD standards are reinforced
during day-to-day work and employees are recognised by role
modelling our Purpose, Values and demonstrating positive VSD
behaviours.
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Board of Directors

The general management of the Company'’s business is vested in the
Board. The Board has established various committees to carry out
specified functions assigned by the Board which require specialised
areas of expertise. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management power of the Company to the Executive Directors and
Senior Management of the Company. However, full delegation is not
allowed for some specific matters under the Companies Ordinance,

EET

EXSREARRAXB2EREETF X
RITEzEZEGRBITESEMEZRATE
BREEXNBHER R ERRE -ESSEMF
RRATRZYTEEREEERAEBATEER
RAAESEH - A RBE(AFAKRPD - £
RAREEBTASHMREZRRE 5
TREBREFAAFEEZTMARE  XEA

PRESEHEHBFLHBERRE -EFEC
KRR cSEER JIRAGTESSHELHRE
ZBIE  BREERRR

the Listing Rules, the CG Code or other regulatory requirements, and
the final decisions on those specific matters are required to be made
by the whole Board. A defined schedule of matters reserved for
Board decisions has been adopted by the Board, including but not

limited to:
e Business direction and strategic plans
XK F R ERKRE
o ESG strategy
Direction and Strategy ® R - HEREREREK
7R ERE e Corporate culture
EIL
® Major merger, acquisition or disposal transactions
FTESH - WBIHERS
e Ensure the Company strategy is in alignment with ESG issues by taking
account of ESG opportunities and risks
Oversight role of ESG FRLTEAN - HAREAZMERER  BRAQDRBEAS -
= 5 . HEREARSE—H
RIE - HERER ° )
- e Approval and review of corporate culture statement
EEAG R R AR B3 (LB
e Approval and review of ESG related policies
HERBFERR S REARMEBREBR
e Reorganisation of group and capital structure
Corporate Structure ® EREEREREE
{DEEZE e Share buy-back
RAD B E
e Appointment or removal of Directors, Chief Executive and Company Secretary
Appointments and %1%5?:5%%%% N ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ&ﬂaﬁ%%
. sals e Appointment or removal of External Auditors
Delegatlcin ?.f Authorities ® EAT S 5 AL 6T
ZERZETED e Set up and dissolution of Board committee
BRIRBBESEZEES
e Annual budget
FEREH
e Capital expenditure plans and management
EXREAXGERER
e Significant guarantee or indemnity
Financial Transactions, BERERSFERFE
Internal Control and e Notifiable and connected transactions
Risk Management ® . iﬁ%qﬂﬁ&ﬁ%xg
BHERS - MEBEE At
KEBER e Dividend policy
BREEE
e Internal Control and Risk Management
ABEZERERERE
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The Board strives to achieve high standards of corporate governance
practices as well as the Company’s mission to creating value for our
shareholders. The Board is responsible for developing the strategic
directions and overseeing the Company’s ESG matters and ensuring
the Company’s ESG strategy is aligned with and incorporated into
the Company’s mission, vision and long term business strategy. A
lot of focus and attention have been devoted to formulation and
execution of the Company'’s strategic planning as well as integration
of ESG considerations into the strategic plans.

Strategic planning horizons are currently set for five years. The
Board has approved a Five Year Strategic Plan including the ESG
Strategy for the fiscal years up to FY2029/2030 in November 2024
and has always been taking a proactive role in reviewing and revising
the Strategic Plan periodically in response to changes in the macro
economic, competitive business environment, ESG related risks and
opportunities and regulatory requirements. The Board also actively
defines the Company'’s sustainability strategies and practices, and
prioritizes and allocates resources to achieve the long-term success
of the business and its sustainability.

EER RN ENEEENCEERERRENT
AATDARRAEBEZ2FHm EEEEEH
AIRBUEFRAREBARAGAZRE HERE
BREH iEEE1%2|KATZfaiR THERERR
BEARAQATZFEm BESURRREKRER
A é%ﬁ#%ﬁ%ﬂizﬁlﬂrﬁﬂ&ﬁ’_ﬂx
AAERBERE > FHERE HERERZER
EARKERE -

ERBREBEREREF - ESEER=-F
“ME+-AHEER=Z-h =
BEE-AFRBERAS (BERE HERER

B) W -ERERBLEE XBHFRE -
BE HekEREERBREBUREESR
re88 BEEHRNRETRKRE &
EETRBHEARA AR EARRRBRE
RUVBEZERIBRERUEREB2RE
BN RFERRE -
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Board Composition

EETAEAMX

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman
HITER
(Length of service as director: 53 years)

(EERBEH B =)

Independent Non-executive Director Executive Director
Non-executive Director FEHITES HTES
BAEHTES
Mr. Anthony John Liddell Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
NIGHTINGALE : BRRTL : PEEELLE
EEE%E : : Group Chief Executive Officer
SEITHAAE
(Length of service as director: 10 years) (Length of service as director: 31 years 9 months) (Length of service as director: 11 years 2 months)
(BEERIEFH: 1F) ’ (EFREFH: =+—FNEA) ’ (BEFRFFH: +—FMlEA)
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO Mr. Eugene LYE
etk : BERGE : e MY S
(Length of service as director: 8 years 9 months) (Length of service as director: 8 years) (Length of service as director: 7 years 9 months)
(EFIRHFH: NEAEA) (EFIRIHFH: )\ %) (EFRFFH: FAEA)
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG Ms. May LO
EEFEL : BHXZL
: Deputy Chairman
B
(Length of service as director: 8 years) (Length of service as director: 8 years)
(BEFRFFH: NF) : (EFRFEFH: NF)

Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG
BREELE

(Length of service as director: 10 months)

(BFREFH: T187)
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The designation, position and brief biographical information of each ~&EZEZ B4 BURBEEURFUEBRES
Director, together with the relationship amongst each other, Senior EBEBEAE - FERRFERBRR ZBEEREHD
Management or substantial or controlling Shareholder are set out RAFHRIEERSESTEAS | —H - ltHh -
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this HINEESHERKEACRBEZETHIIER
Annual Report. In addition, a latest list containing the names of the B EREBHAXZFER LT ([BFT)
Directors and their roles and functions is published on the websites ~ #uf & 2K A 5] 48 Ik www.vitasoy.com °

of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

and the Company at www.vitasoy.com.

Designation B

4 ! Independent Non-executive Directors 3 I Non-executive Directors 3 | Executive Directors
BYFHTES FHITES HITES
Gender 431

Female Male
3. 7!
z E:

Ethnicity &

3 | Non-Chinese 7 | Chinese
FEH EE
Age Group £ iiR# 5l
L - ) ____________J
1 | 41-501 | 51-60 4 | 61-70 4 | Over70

700k

Tenure of Office (Years) {EHi ()

D T e
1.

<1 519 4 | Over9
9 E
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The Directors’ core skills, expertise and experience are relevant to
the Company’s business, strategy and governance which enable the
Board discharges its duties and responsibilities effectively.

BORMREGHER HESSHEATRET
HBEREE-

Directors' core skills, expertise and experience

ESZIRRE FRNARER

Manufacturing

and Project

Food Management

Legal  Technology Marketing EER

%@ RERE min kR HAER

Accounting,
Audit,
Finance, Risk
Management
General &3t Hit
Management BER
Name #a GAEE BRER
Executive Chairman HTEE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BRELAE *
Independent Non-executive s
Directors BIFUTES
Mr. Anthony John Liddell n
NIGHTINGALE REdit '
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4 *
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG BETTHEL
Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG REELT *
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BERRUT x
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BEALE *
Ms. May LO BHELT *
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI EEELE X
Mr. Eugene LYE BRLEE x

The diverse expertise of the Board ensures that our business
direction aligns with sustainable growth and operational resilience.
By bringing together professionals from a broad spectrum of
disciplines, the Board is well-equipped to navigate complex
industry challenges and capitalise on emerging opportunities in a
dynamic market environment. Specifically, professionals in finance,
legal, and risk management strengthen transparency and ethical
governance, ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements
and meeting stakeholder expectations. Additionally, expertise in
the manufacturing industry and food technology drives innovation
and supports continuous improvement in product development
and operational efficiency. Furthermore, leadership experience in
marketing and general management enables the Company to adopt
a customer-centric approach and reinforces our commitment to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products.
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Board Composition and Diversity

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to set out the
objectives and the factors to be considered for achieving the
diversity of the Board in June 2013. The board diversity is achieved
through a number of factors, including but not limited to experience,
professional qualification, knowledge, gender, ethnicity and age.
The Board Diversity Policy has been updated in March 2022 to
expressly include the disclosure of targets and timelines for achieving
gender diversity at Board level. The Board Diversity Policy has
been published on the Company’s website. The Remuneration and
Nomination Committee (the “R&N Committee”) reviews this policy
annually and monitors the implementation to ensure continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practices.

During the year, the Board, through the R&N Committee, had
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the Board's composition
complies with the CG Code with an appropriate mix of skills,
experience and diversity that are relevant to the Company’s strategy,
governance and business and contribute to the Board’s effectiveness
and efficiency. The implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
during FY2024/2025 was considered effective.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Board
appointment and renewal have been made based on merit as well as
complementing and expanding the skills, knowledge and experience
of the Board as a whole. The R&N Committee reviews the progress
on achieving measurable objectives for gender and age diversity
annually and review such objectives, whenever applicable to ensure
it leverages diversity to contribute to the achievement of the
Company'’s strategic objectives. The R&N Committee has established
the measurable objectives for achieving gender and age diversity up
to FY2029/2030. As at the year ended 31st March 2025, progress in
achieving the objectives are:

EFEREHARRZ T

EXEN 2= ARNESENES T
tBE ERHIESEHESTLHENU
REHZTICNEERZ -ESEREZ L
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EERRRIFEEERER
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BERABE UWERESENERFALHE
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Gender
Bl

Female representation during FY2024/2025 was 30.0% (FY2023/2024: 18.2%) which has achieved
the target of “not less than 18%” set up for the years up to FY2025/2026

U 1 18.2%)  BEE

E\:;ﬁ:v_f!/— =z —ﬁjﬂmzir;*: A 530.0% (ZE ==
BoECRH /B ABHFEEFRER [FOR18% ] 2 BIZE-

Average age of the board members during FY2024/2025 was 66 (FY2023/2024: 69) which has
achieved the target of “average 67" set up for the years up to FY2025/2026.

REZB-ZN/ —ZS_HURFE EEERENTHIFRER (2= T -_NHHRFE 69
B CERE-E-RH "EAMBEEMRE 9675 2BE-
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The R&N Committee has reviewed and targeted to maintain the
current target for female representation of “not less than 18%”
on the Board, and to uphold the “average age of 67" of the Board
through FY2025/2026. However, the R&N Committee will continue
reviewing the targets over time as and whenever is appropriate.

In considering the Board’s succession, the R&N Committee
has already adopted a roadmap for the succession plan up to
FY2029/2030 and would adjust the progress as appropriate to
reflect evolving needs. The R&N Committee would identify and
select the potential candidates for Directors in accordance with
the Company’s Directors Nomination Policy and may engage
independent professional search firm to identify potential candidates
for Directors.

Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 19th August 2024. Pursuant
to Article 110 of the Company'’s Articles of Association, Ms. Wendy
Wen-yee YUNG will retire at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and will be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 104 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH and
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG will retire from office by rotation and,
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the 2025
Annual General Meeting.

Workforce Diversity

The Company believes that workforce diversity creates a dynamic
environment which leads to higher performance and improved
well-being. We are committed to upholding diversity of gender,
background, skills and experience across our workforce. The overall
gender diversity of the Company’s workforce (including senior
management) for FY2024/2025 is balanced, being approximately
49% female: 51% male. We continued to track the gender ratio by
business functions, regions, and levels of employment. We reviewed
the progress regularly to ensure visibility on gender equity, and
heads from functions and business operations were held accountable
for driving actions.

Further details on the gender ratio of the Group and initiatives
taken to improve gender diversity across management and the
wider workforce, together with relevant data, can be found in the
FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report, which will be published together
with this Annual Report.
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Board Independence EEEEUM

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good AATRHNEEZSBEIMEHRFLEEERE
corporate governance and board effectiveness. The Board believes SEE2NEKEZBEEE-BEELHE A2 7ER
that the Company has effective mechanisms in place to ensure MV EXREE TERRATDEMNESNBELEHY
independent views and input from any director of the Company KREREHEETESS  UEIAKENEE
are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective =~ MHEMIE EELEBEHFMRIEREES
decision making. The governance framework and mechanisms are TEHBEERERRES  UBERERY - #H
under regular review by the Board, through its R&N Committee, to BRIEZEZEESHR-Z=-RFENAMZEES
ensure their effectiveness. The R&N Committee had performed the  #E{TLL T #ET :

review of such mechanisms in June 2025 as follows:

Key Features or Mechanisms Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

EEISE S HE AT R ALK

Number of Independent Non-executive Directors  Four out of the ten directors are INEDs which represents 40%
(INEDs) of the total Board members and also exceeds the Listing Rules
BAFHITESAY requirement for INEDs to make up at least one third of the Board.

T EREEHENBABIFITES LHhESERELEYN
40% EBA L HHRAEEB I HHUTESEESSAYEES =
DZ—HEKR -

Nearly half of the Board members are INEDs which ensure that
independent views could be heard and be thoroughly considered
during the Board meetings and decision making by the Board.
TXHEEENERBUIHNITESE BREESSEERES
BREABRPHEAERR TS ZEBELER

Chairpersons of major Board Committees are INEDs.

TEESZERIFEYRBIFYTES -

The R&N Committee to assess and All INEDs are required to confirm in writing upon appointment and
confirm independence of INEDs annually their compliance of independence requirements as set
FHRRERZEEETEHR out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

ERBUAITEENBE LM BB ITESERNEZIREFEERIAHETLETR

RIS ABMRAMEMNB L ERE -

The R&N Committee received independence confirmation from
Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG in June 2024 upon her appointment
to the Board. The R&N Committee also assesses the continued
independence of existing INEDs on an annual basis.
FHRREEEER -2 _P_TIE%\E EEABELLIEZEAR
EEENERBENBIMERIAR FHRREEZEETEEE
nﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁléFﬂ"E%E’H—ﬂaﬁl Mo

Through the review by the R&N Committee and the self-
declaration of each INED, the Board could ensure the
independence of each INED.

ﬁL%&@H&k%?E MEEZREBLFHTESNERER
EXSTRASBELFNTESHNE LM -
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Key Features or Mechanisms

Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

FRSREHEH

Time commitment of INEDs

BN FHITESARANEE

Long Serving INEDs (with tenure for more than
nine years)

BEZFNBLFNITES (FHBBIF)

Director Nomination Policy

ESRABEE

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

BT RBET R

The R&N Committee reviews annually the time commitment of
each Directors, including INEDs. All Directors (including INEDs)
would confirm in writing their time commitment to the Company
annually.

TR R EE ST EREBNES (BB LHFITES) A
BRANKE 2BEE (BEBLITES) SFYSUETR
FEABRIEERQTEMNEHAER -

The R&N Committee would review and confirm that INEDs
allocate sufficient time to the Company to perform their duties
and responsibilities effectively. Directors’ attendance records for
meetings in FY2024/2025 are also disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report.

SRR A EE S EH Y RRAB LT ESTC I RN
FAARMUENBTEBERSEFT - EER TN =—F-FH
MBFENSEREECHETINEESARETIRE -

In respect of the re-election of an INED who has served on
the Board for more than nine years, the Board and the R&N
Committee would take account of additional factors and reasons
to justify why they consider the long serving directors are still
independent so as to ensure independent views and comments are
sought from long serving INEDs.
RERAREETSANFNBUIITESNS  ESSHGTMH
AREZEEZETRAREZRERHBREARZENESZNA
By MBERATETZENEVLFATEENERRZEREGS
B o

The Policy sets out the selection and nomination criteria and
procedures for appointment/re-appointment of Directors.
Independence is one of the factors to be considered for
appointment/re-appointment of Directors, in particular for INED.
PHRBEEER, ENEREENHERREREEUREF B
UMRERER /EFETES (RERBIFFTESR)NE
Ez—-

The R&N Committee would take account of the independence
factor in accordance with the Policy before making
recommendations to the Board for approval of the appointment/
re-appointment of INED.
FHRIREEE SN ESERIMERE ENEEBILIEH
TEENEZRA  REZBRRZEEBIMHEE -
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Key Features or Mechanisms Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

EESRS T BT RS AR R

Directors Conflict of Interest Policy The Company has policy and procedures in place to avoid any
EENNRHRBER potential conflict of interests and not to weaken the objectivity

and integrity of the Board for decisions making. Under the
Policy, any Director has to declare his/her directorships outside
the Company, interests in controlling company, public office
appointment and any other interests that might be considered
prejudicial to his/her independence and has to declare his/her
interests in any transaction in which he/she may have interest and
abstain from voting on such transaction.
ZIS"TE%J;EE&EE&EFLME%EH EFZER BTEHIS
EERKNEBERAGHE - REZBE  FO—ESXE
EF'%&EE&ﬁ’AEﬂ?I\E’JE%HEﬁ% RERABFHES - ABE
WRAMEMAUEERAEREB IMENFG  WEARBRERT
EEENENEAXZTHNRERZ  ITHRZRIBAERE -

Open Board Culture INEDs in family businesses will generally play a more active role in

HEANESE corporate governance area. Our Board culture under the leadership
of Executive Chairman, encourages questions and challenges from
directors in particular from INEDs who may hold different views
from the Executive Directors and Senior Management and their
comments and concerns will be closely followed up and addressed
by the Executive Directors and Senior Management.
RRCETNBYFBITEES-—RENCEERFTEREESR
BEENIER - EHITEFERET - %‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%%ﬁdtﬁﬁhﬁ%(t
HEBVIITES) REBMERERS  REUREFGTEER
SEEEASRETREBE ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ%%&%@%ﬁkﬁﬂ%%’cﬂ
RERBHESHNERREE -

No equity-based remuneration with performance- Director fees payable to Director, including INEDs, are fixed fees

related elements to INEDs without any discretionary element nor they are remunerated with

BUFATESAER FEHRRENIERE equity-based awards. Directors fees are also determined by the

HR A =B & R&N Committee and the Board with reference to the roles and
responsibilities taken up by the Director and benchmarking against
peers.

ENEES (BEBUFITES)NESHSAETHE  IUE
FABEREZ  MAHSTECRURELERNER E5He
THEFNRERZESHESES2RESTHNAENACGRRE
URTEZEEMERE -
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Key Features or Mechanisms

FRSREHEH

Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

BT RBET R

Access to independent professional advice

EESBYEERR

Evaluation of Director’s independence
mechanism

FEESNE LS

External independent professional advice is available to all
Directors, including INEDs, whenever deemed necessary.
MEEE MEEE (BRBLFIHTES) HUESINBBEL
HEXERo

With prior consultation with the Chairman of the Board, Directors
would be reimbursed for any professional fees in relation to their
fulfilment of the roles and responsibilities.
HELHEZETEEAR ESUREEEBTRERSEEE
BANEMEXER -

All Directors are encouraged to express freely their views and
constructive challenges during the Board/Board Committees
meetings.

LSBT EESTEESS EXZE282 LEHREER
RREERMEZES -

Regular board evaluation is conducted by external professional
consultant or the Company Secretary alternatively on a
confidential basis, which will help assess the effectiveness of the
independence mechanism by identifying any potential vulnerable
weaknesses for further improvement.
HABEXBRS QOB ERBZETHNENESTSTEEFF
BBFHE B LI BB BET R 2B UEE —SE

The Board, through its R&N Committee, had reviewed and EEESCEBEFHRIEZZEESSRTIRAA
considered that the abovesaid key features or mechanisms are LT EHEHEH T ERNERESSIEE
effective in ensuring that independent views are conveyedto M ER -EEE TR EE2EBEIEHNITESY
the Board. The Board also considered that all INEDs meet the & EHRAIEIIIEMENBE LSS -
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance EERITHAEESTRE

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability XA GEBAATIEERITHRAERE=-Z
Insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Company forthe Z—ME+A—BE-Z_-_FFAA=+HLH
period from 1st October 2024 to 30th September 2025. BMESERITBRAEERERE -
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Changes in Major Appointments and Other FEZREREMESREI 2 &5
Directorships

Changes in Directors’ Information during the year ended 31st March REZ-ZE-_AF=ZA=+—-HLEEEREZE
2025 and up to the date of this Annual Report are set out below: AERAMECEESEREBHIMT ¢

Changes in Major Appointments and Other Directorships

FREIREMESHE ZLE)

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4

- appointed as the chairman of the R&N Committee of the Company on 19th August 2024.
R-BE-MENA+NBEZEARLRAFHRIEEZEEEE -

- appointed as a non-executive director of The Executive Centre India Private Limited on 22nd April 2025.
MZZB-HFEMA =+ = HEZE A The Executive Centre India Private Limited Z JEH{TE S o

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG

EEEE L

- appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the Company on 19th August 2024.
RZZE-MENATNBEZEARERLAREREZEEERE °

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

BREX®E

- retired as a director of The Bank of East Asia, Limited on 9th May 2025.
R-E_HAFERANBRERTRITERLATZES -

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

HITERREBETRAS

BITEEREETHRABZACRBECFE
RERED  REERENHEBRE BRHE
FNENANBE UREECEXCRRE
FERHEETHZACKBELNOES -
BITEIFEEREESE EEHEENRER
REFEAEERENZ EETHAREE
EEAREXRE EEAKEHERKE BER

HERAHIER RN EHE

Executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive
Officer

The roles and responsibilities of Executive Chairman and Group
Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined and separate with a
very few overlapping of roles and responsibilities in the areas of
promoting sustainable development, ensuring effective stakeholder
communication, and promoting corporate culture and uphold of
integrity and honesty. The Executive Chairman is responsible for
providing leadership to the Board, overseeing its operations and
ensuring that decisions align with the best interests of the Group.

The Group Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing
the Group’s businesses, overseeing the formulation and successful
implementation of the Group’s strategies, objectives, and policies.

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
ERERHE

Executive Chairman

BTER

provides leadership to the
Board
EEEEE

- ensures compliance with good

corporate governance practices
and procedures
BREFRHFLEERERR
BF

- sets strategic directions for the

Group
AREEHEREMLES @

- monitors Board effectiveness

EREZEHN

promotes a culture of openness
and active contribution
amongst directors

REEEH 2B R ER
|

Z 2R

- provides continuous guidance

and mentoring to the Deputy
Chairman and Group CEO
BEESNIFAREFEREES
THARNIEER

promote social
responsibility goals and
long term sustainability
development
EHEHEEREERRET
HENER

ensure effective stakeholder
communication

BAREEHENERER

promote corporate culture
of accountability, integrity
and honesty

{REEMEY EERBE
2L

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
PEESELE

Group Chief Executive Officer
SETHRAR

- formulates the Group's strategic

plans under the strategic
directions of the Executive
Chairman

REHITERE 2RISR @
HIEAREE 2 Regst 2l

- implements the strategies and

policies approved by the Board
BitESSHEZ R RBER

- leads day to day management

of the Group
FEREFHHEER

- promotes and develops the

business and interests of the
Group
RERBERAEEER R F=

- provides monthly management

updates to the Board
BANEESRIGHZEER
wE
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ERERME

Board Proceedings

The Board met five times in FY2024/2025 to discuss and approve
the Group’s long term strategic plan; to review and monitor the
financial and business performance of the Group and each of
its operating units; to consider and approve annual budget, the
financial reports; to review and approve sustainability report and
various corporate governance and sustainability related policies
and practices; and to monitor and review the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management performance.

The Board and its Committees are supplied with full and timely
information in relation to the Company, which enables them to
discharge their responsibilities. There are established procedures
for Directors to seek independent professional advice for them to
discharge their duties and responsibilities, where appropriate, at the
Company'’s expenses.

Directors have made active participation in the Board meetings,
Board Committees meetings and the Annual General Meeting
during the year. Below is the schedule of meetings held during
FY2024/2025:

§$ﬁﬁr
EEGR-F-M —E-ARRFENEH
AREH @%ﬁm&MﬁmElzﬁm%%
RE BRRERAEERSEBEN Y
REBERR %ﬁ&§m¢rﬁ§&wﬁﬁ¢
BEHRMATHARBRRERECEERR
%Eﬁ%ﬁ@Z%Eﬁ%&%ﬁ,iﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BAEBARERREAZ AN -

EXeRHZESSYERESAQARMAEHEE
EX UETRE AR CARERFHE
ESHEENBRT  RETHBEREEM
FBHABVEXER  BRBEARQNAX -

FRr -EEVERSHESESE EEZE
%%%&Jﬁﬁﬂiﬁé ULTE=Z2=-m
—E_HUBFEERITHNERFERE

2024
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
A aA A +A NA hA +A +—H +=A8
ESG BM BM ESG BM BM BM
RN AGM RN AC AC
AC AC

Board Meeting

BM™ sxean

RN Remuneration and Nomination Committee Meeting
FHRIREEEEEE

AC Audit Committee Meeting
EREEEEE

ESG Committee Meeting
RIE HERERZESER

Annual General Meeting

REFAFRE

ESG

AGM
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Attendance records of the Directors at the Board Meetings, RZ-ZZ=-W —Z_FAHHFE KFEERE
Remuneration and Nomination Committee Meetings, Audit ZEE2H FHRREZESEE BEXRZEE
Committee Meetings, ESG Committee Meetings and Annual General B8R RE HEREARAZEEERERRR

Meeting during FY2024/2025 are as follows: BERGZHFETHRIWT
Meetings Attended/Held
HERE,/ EERE
Remuneration
and
Nomination ESG Annual Overall
Committee Audit Committee General Attendance
Board MR Committee ~ HRIZ - #HER Meeting Rate
Name #a 58 REZEE BEHZEE EREEE RRBFAE BRLERE
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUEHITES
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI SHBEL 1/20 071061 0/10 N/A 171 40%
(retired on 19th August 2024) (R=E-A%E TER
NA 1A BEE)
Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND JanP.S.ERLUND 2/2 17 171 N/A 171 100%
(retired on 19th August 2024) k4 TER
(R=F=NF
NA 1A BER)
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE BEE %% 5/5 2/2 4/4 2/20 11 100%
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Paul Jeremy BROUGH 5/5 2/2¢ 4/49 \N/A 171 100%
i TER
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG EETHL 55 202 3/3¢ L 11 100%
TER
Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG REELL 4/4 1”7 1/1 N/A N/A 100%
(appointed on 19th August 2024) (R=E-[% TER TEA
NATRA
EZH)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO ERRat 5/5 2/2 /1 %/A 11 100%
TEA
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BERLE 5/5 2/2 1/10 N/A 1n 100%
TEA
Ms. May LO BHZZL 5/5 2/2 4/40 2/2 1n 100%
(Deputy Chairman) (FIZfE)
Executive Directors BirEs
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BRERE 5/56 2/20 4/40 2/2 1/1¢ 100%
(Executive Chairman) (HTEE)
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI BEELE 5/5 2/20 4/4n 2/2 11 100%
Mr. Eugene LYE Rl e 5/5 N/A /10 22 11 100%
TEA

Average Attendance of the Board Members

ESERETHLRE

Group Chief Financial Officer SEERENKAE
Ms. lan-hong NG RELLT 5/50) 1/10) 4/4n N/A 1/10 N/A
TEA TEA
Group Chief Internal Audit and Risk SEANETRER
Management Officer ERERAE
Mr. Terence Chiu-kit CHOW ARgLE 1/ N/A 4740 N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TEH TER
Group Director, Sustainability Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Mr. Simeon Sing-hymn CHENG BERLE 1/10) \N/A kN/A 2/20 \N/A ‘N/A
TEA TEA TEA TER
External Auditors HEBEE
KPMG BEAETH N/A N/A 3/30 N/A iy N/A
EHH TER TEA TER TER
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(a) Chairman of the Board

(b) Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee before
19th August 2024

(c) Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee since 19th
August 2024

(d) Chairman of the Audit Committee

(e) Became a member of the Audit Committee since 19th August 2024

(f) Chairman of the ESG Committee
(g) Chairman of the Annual General Meeting
(h) Attendance by invitation

(i) Was unable to attend meetings due to ad hoc commitment

The Company acknowledges General Meeting is one of the important
forums to engage our shareholders. In the 2024 Annual General
Meeting, all Directors, including Executive Chairman, the Chairman
of the Board Committees and the External Auditors attended the
meeting physically and answered shareholders’ questions.

During the year under review, the Executive Chairman communicated
with the Independent Non-executive Directors on various occasions
without the presence of other Directors and Senior Management.

Board Committees

The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (R&N Committee), an Audit Committee, an
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee (ESG Committee)
and an Executive Committee with specific terms of reference.

Terms of reference of these Committees have been published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and/or the Company. All the
Committees are provided with sufficient resources, including the
advice of independent professional firms, if necessary, to fulfill their
roles and responsibilities.

GEX
@ EFEEIR

(b) REZ-NFNATABAAEEFHRRESRE
BEXfE

(c) B-Z-OFENATABEEFHRRESES

(8 RBRRAFRKEEXRE
(h EEHE

(i) HEREFEEMAELESRE

ARBRBABRRASEERRBEBNERRE
Z— RIZB-_NERRBAFASG 2RES
BREHTEIRE RESZEESIFERIMEEE
R ER S HFERE W EERRRER -

REBEFE STIFRBEHMEERSEE
BABTESZBERT  RAESETRBY
FUTESETEE -

EER8T
ESERTCAIFHRREEZEE BLE
5% BE HEREAESERVSTESE
SEBEZBAERHE -

DEZESvBESECBRMNBERAR, =
AATEG - TEZESVERMRERZER
BREBVEELATNER (WMEE) > UETH
ABRRE-
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FHRERERE

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
K&

Chairman

*iE
(Independent Non-executive Director)

(BUHHITESE)

[ J [ J [ J [ J [ J [ J
Mr. Peter Ms. Wendy Mr. Anthony Dr. Roy Chi-ping Ms. Yvonne Ms. May LO
Tak-shing LO Wen-yee YUNG John Liddell CHUNG Mo-ling LO BHELZT
EERELE REERL NIGHTINGALE EEFEL ERREL
REESLE
(Non-executive (Independent (Independent (Independent (Non-executive (Non-executive
Director) Non-executive Non-executive Non-executive Director) Director)
(EHITEE) Blesiy Blesiag iizs e (EHITEE) (EHTEE)
(BUHBITESE) (B HBITESE) (B HBITESE)
Major responsibilities ° to consider and approve the remuneration packages of Executive Directors
FERE and Senior Management of the Group, including salaries, benefits in kind and

bonuses; bonus schemes and other long-term incentive schemes, including
share option, share award and other benefit plans;

EREAREITEERSBEEBAEBZHFHEANGY,  BFEFE  EVFE
RIEAL; TEALGHEIR EMR MBS SEEBRE -RORBREMEFE

° to recommend to the Board the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

MESSERFATESZFH

° to review the design of all employee share schemes and to administer all
aspects of the share schemes in accordance with the applicable rules and
requirements;

BAMBEREROFENRAAUBRBEARURBREERBRODE

° to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including the skills,
knowledge, experience, gender and age) of the Board;
BHNEEE2EE - HE - E@ARKESZ L ETBEEREE  AE - L5 -
MHARFREFENS T

° to review the effectiveness of Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy;
BNEEEHNELZTLBRRESREBBER IR
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TEERRE
Major responsibilities ° to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors and to
(continued) review the annual confirmation on their independence;
TEBE (§) BRBIIHTESZBIMREHREBUMZFERR;

° to review Director’s time commitment;

BRESMANENER

° to identify and determine the measurable objectives for achieving board
diversity and monitor any progress made in achieving such measurable
objectives;

NEREEERESENES Tt 2 At e E ERERERZEANFERE
ZEE;

° to recommend to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of and
succession planning for Directors and Group Chief Executive Officer;

RESREETHARZZARERREIAIOESSREES

° to review and assess the adequacy and appropriateness of corporate culture
statement; and

BARFEEECBARBEHNRE ' R

° to review the effectiveness and alignment of corporate culture with the
corporate governance compliance functions.

BANEECZREREECEEXERSRBERDT - -
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Work done during and for
FY2024/2025
REARBR=-B=-M =2
—HEBEEMEZTE

reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration package of Senior
Management including the Executive Directors and Senior Management of the
Group by reference to the individuals’ job responsibilities and performances,
industry benchmarks and prevailing market conditions;

i RRNESEEEAE (BRAEEBHITEERSEEEALE) M
SEAFRG  EHESZABALZBERRE BEKERBITMIZRER

reviewed and approved the discretionary bonuses and the grant of share
options and share awards, having given due consideration to both the Group'’s
financial performance and the individuals’ performances during the year in
accordance with the performance-based compensation policy recommended by
an independent consultant;

BREBYEBES UERABEZHFNBEEX  Ex/ZRAKEZHBER
BEREBATFRZEARRE  RERMEBRMBBRAURBLBERE
R R4 2

reviewed and approved the Group’s new global long-term incentive plan
structure;

ERRAEAEEZ R BB B ZHRE

reviewed and recommended to the Board for the appointment of an
independent non-executive director;

ERRERES SRR UFHTES

reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the re-appointment of
Directors at the 2024 Annual General Meeting;
EHRERESEN T NERRBFAE LM EEE 2 ER

reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the letter of appointment
of Executive Directors;

ENRERESSHERNTESCZER
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Work done during and for . reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity, including the skills,
FY2024/2025 (continued) knowledge, professional qualification, experience, gender and age of the Board;
REARAR-ZT_ =T ERESEZER RE AREZnt BEEEEEZTREEE - AHE -
—HEBFEMEZTE(E EHEEK KB MIRFRSE

° reviewed the Board Succession Plan and its Road Map;

ERNESSHIABRERREQE

° reviewed the measurable objectives for achieving Board diversity;

ERNESTEZHESZTLNTAEER

° reviewed Director’s time commitment to perform his/her duties and ensured
there was no over-boarding of Directors;

EHNESETABREMVTENKERBRESURBERE

. assessed and confirmed the independence of all independent non-executive
directors; and

AETRIAZEBUFATES 2B IM K

° made recommendation to the Board for Directors’ Fees for FY2024/2025.

MESEEE_ZT-N "E-IWBFEZEEHE
The R&N Committee held two meetings during FY2024/2025. Each FHRERZEEEN S -N —_E_AHK

member’s attendance record during the year is shown in the previous FERNEBTRAEEZE ERENEREEES
section headed “Board Proceedings”. SN ENA - EEeRFE] -
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ERERME

Audit Committee BEZEEE
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
SeE
Chairman
xE
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(B HHTESE)
[ ]
Mr. Anthony John Liddell Dr. Roy Chi-ping
NIGHTINGALE : CHUNG
EETEL
(Independent
Non-executive
Director)
(B HHTEE) (BT HHITESE)

Major responsibilities

FERE

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the External Auditors and their audit fees;

RAEREMZERE  EFEERER URBEZRHMHEEEHEOE
EERMER

to meet with the External Auditors to discuss the nature and scope of the audit;
BB MEENRER I E2LEREE ;

to review the interim financial report and annual financial statements before
they are submitted to the Board;
ERXFEEEH > BEHRTHUBBRERDFHBHREK

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim review and final
audit, and any other matters the External Auditors may wish to discuss, and
review the External Auditors’ management letter and management’s response;
NWERRTPHENRFEERBREMZRACRERSHZRERR  REW
Hib/MNERE MR w2 BE » LR ER /N BN 2 BT 150 55 B8 bR 1 |
EEE 2O ;

to review the internal audit programs and to ensure co-ordination between the
Internal and External Auditors, assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems which cover all material financial,
operational and compliance controls, and ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group;
ERAIEZT AR AITETARIEXBENE 215 AR QTR
EMEEARVK EERGHREZIENEBEERRABEZZF RN
URERADETBEERAER2IERERAESEARFEE 2L ;
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TEERBRE
Major responsibilities ° to conduct an annual review of the adequacy of staffing of the financial
(continued) reporting functions;
TEBRE (&) HUBERBESFE2ETERREEMETFER

° to review the whistleblowing policy and system for employees and those
who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters; and to
ensure proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation
of those matters and for appropriate follow up action;
BEEBERLAREETEIREBRTHHHERSE  AMEZRHHEMSEEZT
RAEETARLBEIMENIERBERZS UREBREEEREHZ
EEEFEAFEB L AERFEGEE 2 RETH ;

° to review the effectiveness of the policy and system that promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations;

B REREENBE S ZERERZCHERRABHRY ;

° to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the External Auditors;
ERERADNTEIMEZHMEARZ ETERE

° to oversee and review the adequacy and effectiveness of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures that
have been in place;

ERRRIRENERNE LERSAEERAREERFRERABN

° to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

BERERAQNAEETEEREERESTAZBERRER

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to Directors and employees; and

HE BAREZEANRESRESZTATAREGAFM R

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

BRALDHEEEATUZAREREROEERRER T2 HE -
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Work done during and for o reviewed the FY2024/2025 preliminary interim results announcement; interim
FY2024/2025 financial report; preliminary annual results announcement and annual financial
REARAE=-Z-_m =% statements with management and External Auditors, and recommended their
—hUBEEREZIE adoption by the Board;

HERERMNERBMEN TN — 2 ANBRFE2 NS TRREDS
FHBBHRE NPT FERENEURDFIHRE  WEFESS T URR

° reviewed with the Internal Auditor the Company’s internal control systems and
the periodic audit reports prepared by the Internal Auditor and approved the
FY2024/2025 and FY2025/2026 audit plans;

ERABEMEH A AR ZAREERGEREBASNESAMER R 2 F5
e UHE—ZT-N  —_E_HPBFER-ZT-H /T AVBEE
ZEBERAER;

° reviewed the Group Risk Report prepared by the Internal Auditor;
ERBANRETMGEE 2 EERRRE

° met with the External Auditors to discuss the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations prior to the commencement of the audit work;
REZITERKA > EMEZHMASHRER TF2MEEREEURER
&%

° reviewed and considered the terms of engagement of the External Auditors;

ERRERIINBZBEN 2 ZBIRK

° reviewed and approved/pre-approved the audit and non-audit services
provided by the External Auditors, together with their respective fees;

EHARE FAEHENMERBMRECEERFERRBREEAKRE ;

° reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff
of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting, risk management (including
ESG risk) and internal audit functions, and their training programs and budget;
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal audit function and
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code;
BHAEERET MHER RERERE (BERE LERERER) EA
HES DRI E2ER ETERREBERTREN  UREIIRERE
BHEE  AEERREERABETBEZRBIRECEERTAERZER

° reviewed the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and Senior Management;

EHNESRSEEBASZEIIREEEXRRE
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Work done during and for
FY2024/2025 (continued)
REARB=-FT-N =%
R B EFE 2T (&)

reviewed the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

FERARADELEREREERECRCBERER

reviewed the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to Directors
and employees;

EREARESRESEZTATAREGRFM

reviewed the status of compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

ERLXERTFAUCERBERANEEERREANTMEZIKE

held private session with External Auditors in the absence of Executive
Directors and Senior Management; and

HHTESRSEEEAEFTESZERTEREIELBMEH K

reviewed various Corporate Governance related policies and systems
in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and Listing Rules
requirements.

BRZSBCXECHREBRRRRAGEENAEXRERTRR EHRAUZHE

The Board has approved a Whistleblowing Policy in March 2012 AZE——F=f EESCHERMERK
which has been revised in March 2022. The main objective of the X OWR-—E-_—_F=AFEHEIT BEXzE
Policy is to provide employees and external parties an open and ZEEELEZAESRMEATEH—FAIBERE
unified reporting channel and procedures to report any serious — ZEIREBERERF  EFEMNE ZEWRETM
misconduct or malpractice involving the Company and its employees S RAATREEECZBELAERLTETE
even on an anonymous basis. The Audit Committee has been EREESEE RS EESERERBFTEIRIK
delegated with the overall responsibility for monitoring and reviewing RK2ER KR -

the implementation and effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy.
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The Company has adopted a Group Business Ethics Policy in March
2020 to establish the general principles of business ethical standards
that all employees of the Company are expected to follow in daily
operation. Every employee is required to undertake to adhere
to this policy which includes provisions dealing with conflict of
interests, protection and proper use of company assets, bribery
and corruption, dishonesty and fraudulent act as well as reporting
procedures for potential illegality and misconduct. The Company
applies zero tolerance to any violation of this policy and shall not
tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. The Audit Committee has the
overall responsibility for reviewing the internal control system of
anti-corruption.

During the year, no incident involving serious fraud or misconduct
have been received from employees nor external parties which had
or would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position
and overall operations. No significant area of concern is noted on the
implementation and effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy and
Group Business Ethics Policy.

The Board has adopted a Corporate Governance Policy in August
2012 which has been updated in March 2024. The main objective
of the Policy is to provide a basic framework for developing the
Company'’s policies and practices to ensure alignment of interests
and expectations from our shareholders, the investing public and
other stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Policy has been
published on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the corporate governance
structure and practices within the Company and monitors compliance
fulfillment on an ongoing basis.

The Audit Committee met four times in FY2024/2025. Each
member’s attendance record during the year is shown in the previous
section headed “Board Proceedings”.
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TEERRS
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) RIE -HENREREET
Committee
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE
REESRE
Chairman
EE
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(B HHTESE)
[ ) (] [ ) [ )
Mr. Roberto Mr. Winston Ms. May LO Mr. Eugene LYE
GUIDETTI Yau-lai LO : EBHxz+ s Blks
PEIES L BEREBRE : :
(Executive Director and (Executive Chairman) (Non-executive Director) (Executive Director)
Group Chief Executive Officer)

(BT EELEE
1B )

(BITESE) (FHITESE) (BITESE)

Major responsibilities

FEMRE

to provide guidance and report to the Board on Group-level sustainability goals,
strategies, priorities and progress;

REBEECURERREE XK EBLEESEHREEAESSRME
BERER;

to review international trends in ESG-related legislation and regulation
developments, including public debates as regards social, environmental and
ethical standards of corporate behaviour and recommend anticipatory measures
and plans for the Company;

EHRE HEREAMEBUEREABZRNEKRES  BREALE - RE
REETABEZENARTER  YRAQAFEBETERERRETE

to advise the Board on environmental and social risks and opportunities of
material significance and provide anticipatory and mitigation plans;
MEEBEAZREZEZRERLEARIKBEONESSHFHBERVIRHERREE

R 8l

to review the Company’s sustainability performance against declared targets
under the Company’s Sustainability Framework;

REARFACBMZAIFERREREERNAQRAZAFEZRRR

to review material interests of the Company’s key stakeholders and provide
corresponding long-term strategic direction to the Company;

BFRARAIEFNENEATNG  YARAAQAFEMEREHKS @ ;
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Major responsibilities . to examine the relevance of sustainability indices and the desirability of
(continued) inclusion;
TER/E (F) RABEERES CHEEEURMAZSIBE2EEMN

° to review and approve Group-level sustainability-related policies; and

EHRAEEEEEN T IFERERABERER S R

° to review and approve the Company’s sustainability reports.

EHRAERD T UFEERREE

Work done during and for ° reviewed and approved the Group’s FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report;
FY2024/2025 BERMERAEE SN,/ —E_HHRFEUHERRRS
REARB=-T=-MN =%
“HEBEEMRE2ZTE

° provided strategic direction on climate change, identified the risks,

opportunities, and impacts associated with it, and drove the development of the
Company'’s decarbonisation efforts;

MREESRHEKID HAEERR BEREE  WHEBARDTRRK
THENER;

° reviewed key international landscape on sustainability frameworks and provided
direction on their adoption by the Company, including the HKFRS S1 General
Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information and
HKFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures (the HKFRS Sustainability Disclosure
Standards) published in March 2024;
EHTRHERREEANTZEREBREMREAATFEANES > EPEER
—ECNF=ATBRNC(EBM B REERDE SIS T ERREIHE EER
HEN—RERR(EBUNBRELERDE 2N RIRIGEHE (BB BRS
ZRDAUHBERRIEEEE) |
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TEERRE
Work done during and for ° examined key local and international sustainability-related policies and
FY2024/2025 (continued) regulations development, their implications to the Company, and provided
REARE=-ZE_-N =2 directions on corresponding actions for the Company, including the EU
—hEBEEREZTIE (8) Regulation on Deforestation-free Products and the Climate Reporting Bill in

Australia;
EFHFEEMRERUFERRHBREREZREREUREHAQAGZEE
WHAQABBELZHEETHRMESD  BRE(BEEEMERIRCENT
REIELR)

° provided strategic direction on focus areas on the Company’s progress and
achievements in selected external ESG ratings; and
RADNRERENMBRE HERERTIRFAZERRRREEHEFTR
HERIE; R

° reviewed and approved a set of external sustainability targets under
the Company’s Sustainability Framework for the next 5-year period of
FY2025/2026 to FY2030/2031 (details can be found in the Company’s
FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report).

ERRBBAR AR UFERRERT S8 —E-_AUBREFEE_Z=
T/ CE=-HHEEARARAEFHE —RIIBASEZRREEZE GHER
SEAAQNR N/ —E_ARBFERUFERERS) -

The Board-level ESG Committee continued to oversee our EZEESEEZEBE -HEREALRZESHEE
sustainability issues, and to advise the Board on a range of strategy HREMMASEREZE I —RINEHEL
ESG topics which present risks and opportunities for the Company. TBMEBEfREM R HERE HERER
The ESG Committee also provided strategic long-term guidance on ZEREEEHEZ -BE HERERZE
sustainability performance, goals and priorities. Please refer toour EE®TAUBERRERE BERELAEEE
FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report for more details of our efforts JEREFHEMEEREE - EEEXRMANRELRER
on material ESG topics. B HEREREEC2IEHEE H2H-ZF
— R RN REEARERRRE -

The ESG Committee held two meetings during FY2024/2025. Each ®RE -#HE@8RERZEEEN TN, =&

member’s attendance record during the year is shown in the previous A HFEARNLZTRAESE SHERER
section headed “Board Proceedings”. HESEZTRIERA —FEEEEF] -
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Executive Committee

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
EREXE

Chairman

£

(Executive Chairman)

(BUITERE)

[ J [ J
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI : Ms. lan Hong NG
PEEISELE : RENRZT
(Executive Director and (Group Chief Financial Officer)
Group Chief Executive Officer) (B B A )

(BT EBEEETRABE) :
Major responsibilities ° to operate as a general management committee under the direct authority of
FTERE the Board; and

NE-REEEESEF EERBESE R

° to consider and approve any contract, transaction and arrangement and
exercise of powers and functions as conferred by the Board in relation to day to
day management of the Company.

ZREEMERMEN XBRLHFURTHEHESTEFRAAABEETEMR
F 2N REBEE
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Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of
Directors

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation
by the R&N Committee of the Company or by shareholders in a
General Meeting. Shareholders may propose a candidate for election
as Director in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Director Nomination Policy. The nomination
procedures by shareholders have been published on the website
of the Company. Any Director who is appointed by the Board shall
retire at the next General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and Code
Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, all Directors, including Non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
every three years and one-third (or the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) of Directors shall retire from office every year at
the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy in March 2012
to set out the procedures and criteria for identifying and selecting
potential candidates for the appointment of new Director as well as
for considering the renewal of director appointment. The Board has
delegated to the R&N Committee of the Company the authority to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorship; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations to
the Board to the appointment or re-appointment of directors.

The Director Nomination Policy is intended to guide the R&N
Committee of the Company when recommending new director(s) and
when deciding whether to recommend that current Director(s) be re-
elected. The R&N Committee of the Company will carefully consider
the qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender and age
diversity, time commitments and contributions of any currently
sitting director before making a re-election recommendation to
the Company’s shareholders. Any shareholder of the Company
who is qualified to be present and vote at the general meeting,
may nominate one or more persons for election as a director of the
Company at any general meeting if the shareholder complies with
the director nomination provisions, including without limitation the
notice, information and consent provisions under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the Listing Rules.

EEZET EERER

ARARANRBEARAFHREEZET 2ER
FEBRRASHRREZEHES - RRAR
BAAAERMARESRARRERREA
HEES RRZREERFCEAQF 2R
LHH - NESSRE2EETHEARNT-ER
RAELEER-

REALDERMA R EEERFAMKENB22
% 2REE (BEFITES)HPEARLE=
EWmESR MBFAR=I2— (FHKEEE
THIRZDZ-) ZESREARTARREF
RELER-

EERBER

ESECR T —FZABRMNESREEE
ETHEHINERREERBEAREIHETESYU
RERERAIESZEZRFRER A2
AR iR ZESCRESSEREUYE
BEREBERHAESENENAL  WHE
FOEESHBERARRERATHEES &
BEYFHTESNE LN RAESEAESR
ENZEQESSRHESR -

ARBzEEREBKREEMERBHEESK
RERBEBEERRIESAFMRIEEES
SREES - ARAZFMRERRESEN
MERBRAEFZERE HEE &R - BuM
MHRRFERZ T - HENHNKEBRERME
BADBRREHERRZR - EAFTESER T
FEREASENRELREZARAQATRE A&
BRESREAGR (BEETRRALAER
AMARETRAIBT 28BS - BHAKRFFAHR)
ZERTREARRAELERE-EHIU LA
THEARBRES -
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The R&N Committee of the Company reviews the Director
Nomination Policy, whenever appropriate, and recommend to the
Board for approval any amendments or updates to the Policy from
time to time.

The Director Nomination Policy has been published on the
Company’s website.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Induction programs are arranged for any newly appointed Directors
for provision of information which would assist him or her in
understanding his or her role as a Director as well as building an
understanding of the value of the Company, its business, products
and markets. On appointment, new Directors will also be given an
induction program kit outlining the responsibilities and duties as
Directors under various regulatory requirements. The induction kit
also contains the Board policies, including the Terms of Reference
of the Board Committees. Directors are provided with “A Guide on
Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines
for Directors” issued by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors as
guidelines on the general principles of duties of directors and a “Code
of Conduct for Directors” to avoid conflicts of interest as far as
possible.

An induction training session was conducted by an external legal
adviser for the newly appointed Director, Ms. Wendy Wen-yee
YUNG in August 2024. The session covered the requirements under
the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and other applicable legal
obligations that are applicable to her for a thorough understanding
of the statutory duties as a director of a listed company. Ms. Yung
has obtained the legal advice from the legal adviser as required
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 14th August 2024 and has
confirmed her understanding of the information provided by the
legal adviser. In addition, several induction training sessions were
conducted and presented by Senior Management to Ms. Yung in
September 2024. These included detailed briefing sessions delivered
by the Group’s chief officers, providing insights into the Company’s
strategic priorities, operational structure, sustainability framework
and target as well as governance practices. Ms. Yung also visited
the Group’s manufacturing plant in Dongguan, Mainland China, and
participated in the local market visit. These activities were designed
to deepen her understanding of the Group’s business operations and
development.
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The Company also arranges continuous professional development
program to Directors at the expense of the Company. A designated
budget is allocated specifically to Directors’ training. The Company
Secretary provides regularly to Directors information about the
enrollment of external training courses and seminars as well as legal
alerts and articles which are relevant for Directors to keep them
up-to-date on any legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
requirements and also professional practices in a dynamic business
world. The program and information would help refresh Directors’
knowledge and skills in performing their roles, functions and duties
of directors of a listed company.

During the year, the Company organised two Board trips for our
Directors, one to Mainland China in August 2024 and another to
Australia in March 2025. During these Board trips, the Directors
visited our overseas offices, production facilities and local markets
as well as attended townhall meetings. They also met with local
management teams to gain deeper insights into the current business
performance, operational challenges and growth opportunities
of these operations. These visits and interactions enhanced the
Directors’ understanding of the regional operating environments
and strengthened communication between the Board and local
teams, thereby supporting more informed, responsive and effective
strategic decision-making.

RRABATRESZHFESXBRRAE A8
BEARARAXN QAACAESEIEEE
EHEE - ARNEEHMAESREIBZIR
BRANE2HREER  BETREKTER
BAUARYE  EHESHEZEKHEN -
EERMXEREREURTHBIL2EHER
BANEXEE -FHERERENEGHESH
HABRZERWAN METLHTATE
EREEIzA® BERETS-

FR ARTBEEZHRMAEETEZER 2
AR ZZE-_MFENBAIEFEARL  URRZ
E_HhE=RAAEBRN EZREESEEZEH
B ZEZZ2HBRMNEIPER £EZBER
EMmEUREEERS HETHEHER
EEESE FATHZEEEZEAMEREKE
EERBRIEREB ZEERREFHMNRE
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All Directors have provided to the Company Secretary their training 2R ESHCHAAQATAMEREUBEN=-Z
records for FY2024/2025 which have been reviewed by the Audit Z—P / —E_ABBRFEE2ZNRH  ZET
Committee. The average training hours of the Directors during the #HEEBERZESEMN FRAESFHZIIG
year was 159 hours by reading the articles and legal/market updates, #A&159/ b BRBYMBENEREZE TEH
by attending or participating in Board trips, management briefings, ¥ HE HEHZREETSEZR THEEHN S -
conferences, seminars and other events. These activities focused T2&F A EREMESD - ZEFF EEME
on enhancing Directors’ understanding of their duties and other EZEEYHHBSEREMMEREFERR 27 &
topics relevant to the Group’s strategy, business, governance and AR AIiH/E3 RIAEEEN T #E -
sustainability.

1. Townhall during the Mainland China Board trip
EEEPEARERAMZEES

2. Directors visited Mainland China office
EEZM2ETENBHIPAIE

3. Leadership Lounge during the Australia Board trip
EEERNEZROB I AREHE
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The following table summarizes topics of training program attended T RPN EEEER "S-, S -FHHGIK

by all Directors during FY2024/2025: FEHEEY e =S
Areas
i
Legal,

Director duties regulatory, Accounting,

Global Company and governance Innovation and governance finance, tax

business business ~ EZBER technology Ml ER - i BE-

Name #E RREE  ADREHR E RlIF R i kS
Executive Chairman BITER

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BRELE v/ v/ v v/ v/ v/

e e . o 44

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Pa“B' ; eorsn;|y-| s v v v v v v

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG BEEIEL v/ v/ v/ v/ v v

Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG AREZL v v/ v v/ v/ v/

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BEERLL v v v v/ v v

Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BEALE v/ v/ v v/ v/ v/

Ms. May LO BEXgE v v v v v v
Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI BEEELE v v v v v v

Mr. Eugene LYE Bl ks v/ v v v/ v v
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&

Directors’ Training Records

EE 2RI

Analysis of training attended by Directors in
FY2024/2025 by topic
EER-Z-N /—T_HHRFESMNZ
Bl — REEDN

5% 4%

6%
7% ‘

9%

69%

@®» Company Business

RRATER

Global Business/Forum
BRIREKwiE
Accounting/Finance/Tax
a5t/ u% K

Director Duties and Governance
EERERER

Innovation and Technology

RIFRHE

Legal/Regulatory/Governance

SEBIERER

Analysis of training attended by Directors in
FY2024/2025 by type
EER-Z-N —S-_HHRFESMNZ
Bl — RER S

5%

25%
44%

26%

The Board also acknowledges the importance of continuous training
and development to Senior Management, which enables them to
boost their skills and knowledge to re-evaluate their roles with a
newly informed perspective and in this highly competitive consumer
product market. Senior Management is encouraged to participate
in various continuous professional development programs and
other training courses at the expense of the Company. The average
training hours of Senior Management during the year was 54 hours.
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ﬂ}

Senior Management’s Training Records S EEE AR ZIEIE 8%

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in
FY2024/2025 by topic
SBEEEBEAEBR-ZE-_N —ES-HHBEESMZ

Bl — REES
8% 6%
O @®» Company Business

KARES
Audit/Accounting/
13% Finance/Tax
487 Bt g5t wK B
0 Market/Business/Product/
Development
o iR ERSRE
25 /o Regulatory/Governance/

Sustainability
ERERRERR

Cyber Technology
IR

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in
FY2024/2025 by type
SEEEABR-Z-N —S_HHBRFEESMZ
BT — RER S
19%

@ In-house Training
RERLEFI

@ External Courses/Seminars/
Workshops
—47% HNERRE ' TES

Readings
=)
CES

34%
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Responsibilities of Directors

Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Annual Financial Statements for FY2024/2025 are
prepared on a going concern basis. All the new accounting standards
and policies adopted by the Company have been thoroughly
discussed and approved by the Audit Committee before adoption by
the Board.

The Group has adopted its own Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standards set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules. Specific enquiries were made of all Directors
and they have confirmed compliance with the required standard set
out in the Own Code for the year ended 31st March, 2025. A similar
code has also been adopted by the Group for the specified group of
employees who may possess or have access to price sensitive/inside
information.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
during FY2024/2025. Directors have also disclosed to the Company
their interests as director and other office in other public companies
and organisation in a timely manner, and have regularly reported to
the Company Secretary on any subsequent changes.

Evaluation of the Board and the Executive
Chairman

The Board believes that the evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Board and its Executive Chairman is an essential requirement of
good corporate governance and has since FY2011/2012 adopted
the Recommended Best Practice under the CG Code of conducting
regular Board evaluation exercises.

The objective of the Board evaluation is to assist the Board in
identifying and addressing its strengths and weaknesses, and
highlighting the Board’s expectations for itself and areas for further
improvement. As part of this evaluation process, the Executive
Chairman is also subject to evaluation on whether he has adequately
and effectively performed his roles and fulfilled his responsibilities as
the Chairman of the Board. The Board is committed to reviewing its
own performance and effectiveness at a regular interval.
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A formal internal evaluation of the Board and the Executive
Chairman was conducted in FY2024/2025. During the evaluation
process, questionnaire with scoring was used for collecting scores as
well as opinions from all the Directors. The questionnaire included
28 statements for Board evaluation and 8 statements for Executive
Chairman evaluation. Completed evaluation forms were sent to the
Company Secretary on a confidential basis.

Evaluation of the Board

g Q EEEZIHK

e Strategic direction, planning and oversight
KEEAME - RERER

e Sustainability focus and drive
ARERRENRSD

e Board profile and composition
EEEMRRAK

e Board dynamics
Exgm

e Relationship with the management
HEEEZEFR

e Board view on committees

EZEHZESENEE

All Directors actively participated in the whole evaluation
process. Responses from the Board members were overall very
positive. Directors also proposed a few valuable and constructive
recommendations for continuous improvement of the Board’s
performance, mainly in the area of board composition.

The Company Secretary has provided summaries of the aggregate
evaluation results for the Board and Executive Chairman, along
with the valuable comments provided by Directors in each area to
the Board. The Executive Chairman as the leader of the evaluation
process reviewed the results and comments, and discussed the
Directors’ comments with Senior Management and provided his
responses and proposed action plans to address the areas identified
in the evaluation results. The Executive Chairman’s responses and
action plans have also been considered and discussed amongst
the Directors, allowing for further deliberation and collective input
ensuring a collaborative approach to enhancing Board effectiveness
and governance standards.

R-ZB-N/ —Z-A0BREE  AQXFACY
EEERFTERETEXNRNIBTME o AT
BEY AAFEABEAETARETEES
WEFIRER  EHEE28EIGMESE 2
PR STHFF MBI ITERE 2Rl o EEF 2 51
REURBERER FATMWE o

Personal attributes

BARE

Leadership

HEET B

Encouraging active participation
S EERS

Relationship with Group CEO
BEEBETBARNBR
Relationship with stakeholders
BRH7 & WIBA R

Adherence to good CG practices
BTIRIFLEERER
Promotion of ESG

RERE  HERER
Succession planning

gEsta

2RESYBGSHEREIGBRE -ESEHK
EHERTVEFRFLE ESTUFETZEE
EERNRH-LHERARRMER B
FHEETSARSHE -
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
been appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is responsible
for facilitating the procedures/activities of the Board and the Board
Committees as well as good communication flow amongst the Board
members, shareholders and Senior Management.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval. The Company Secretary reports to both the
Executive Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer. The
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for matters relating
to Board governance and Directors’ duties, such as giving advice
on corporate governance developments and compliance, related
laws and regulatory requirements and facilitating the professional
development programme and induction programme of Directors. All
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary.

During the year, the Company Secretary undertook over 15 hours
of external CPD training courses to keep abreast of latest regulatory
changes and corporate governance practices and to refresh her skills
and knowledge.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. To achieve this, the Board ensures that there is an effective
framework of risk governance and ongoing risk management process
to promote the long-term success of the Company.
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The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility on an ongoing
basis for ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal controls are maintained to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement of information. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Internal Control

The Company has had in place an internal control system, which is
developed based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) components for internal controls,
to manage and mitigate rather than to eliminate business risks. The
key underlying components of effective internal control system are
illustrated as below:
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Assessing risks and reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls is
a continuing process in the Company. Our internal control system is
designed to give reasonable assurance that:

° Assets are prudently safeguarded;

° Business activities are conducted in an effective and efficient
manner;

° Financial reporting is accurate, timely and complete; and

° Laws and regulations relevant to the business are complied.

Under the Company’s internal control system, management is
charged with the responsibility to design and implement the internal
controls while the Board and the Audit Committee oversee the
effectiveness of the internal control system that has been put in
place.

Internal Audit

Group Internal Audit (a team under Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management Department) plays a critical role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company.

The scope of services of the department is set out in the approved
Internal Audit Charter and includes:

° Unrestricted access to all the Company’s activities, personnel,
records, properties, and other information sources required to
carry out internal audits;

° Review the effectiveness of internal control over operational,
compliance and financial reporting as well as risk management
function; and

° Special reviews of areas of concern identified by management
or the Audit Committee.

Group Internal Audit, reporting to the Audit Committee, provides
independent assurance as to the existence and effectiveness of risk
management functions and controls in business operations.
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Risk Based Audit

Using risk assessment methodology and taking into account the
Company structure, management’s concern, nature and complexity
of operation, and operating environment, Group Internal Audit
prepares its annual audit plan which is reviewed and approved by
the Audit Committee. The risk assessment methodology assists
in identifying business risks and determining audit frequencies.
Based on the approved audit plan, Group Internal Audit schedules
its internal audit programs to conduct an independent review of
different financial, business and functional operations and activities
with resources focusing on areas with higher risk.

During the FY2024/2025, Group Internal Audit issued reports to
Senior Management covering various operational and financial
units of the Company and its subsidiaries. Group Internal Audit also
conducted reviews of major projects and areas of concern identified
by management.

Ethics Policy and Whistleblowing System

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all company’s activities and
operations. It is the responsibility of all directors and employees to
comply with these minimum requirement.

The Company has established Group Business Ethics Policy and Code
of Conduct, which outlines our commitment to integrity, and set
out business ethical standards that the directors and employees are
expected to follow. On top of that, the Code of Business Conduct
for Suppliers and Customers also set clear expectations on the
ethical conduct of our suppliers and customers, providing guidelines
on various aspects such as conflicts of interest, confidentiality, anti-
corruption and fraud. Group Internal Audit and Risk Management
Department also launched Vitasoy Global Integrity Portal where the
portal embedded with e-learning platform, policy and publication
library and online complaint channel, aims to enhance mutual
communication of Vitasoy's standards and expectation on ethics and
integrity with employees, key suppliers and distributors.

The Company has established a Whistleblowing Policy and system
for employees and other stakeholders to raise suspected misconduct,
malpractice, irregularities or concerns through a confidential
reporting channel. Procedures are in place for Group Internal Audit
to conduct independent investigation and follow up. Group Internal
Audit will report all the reporting received under the Whistleblowing
Policy and action taken in response to such reporting to the Audit
Committee on a regular basis.
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Risk Management

Risk management framework with effective governance structure
and management process are in place. Such framework enables the
Company to adopt a proactive and structured approach to identify
and manage risks across the Company with ongoing monitoring and
oversight.

Oversight & &

e Enterprise Risk Management
Executive Committee
TEEREEHTEES

e Entity CEOs
75 A BT EEAR

e Group Risk Management
SEREREE Anticipate

FER

3’(\
=

Regulate
ER
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Risk Governance Structure B ERERE

The risk governance structure consists of three layers of roles and EREARBEETI=ZAEEZ2ACRES
responsibilities as explained below:

Layer Roles and Responsibilities
=g HEE 7% % Bk B
Oversight Audit Committee, acting on behalf of the Board
EE ° Oversees the Company’s risk management and internal control on an ongoing
basis.
° Oversees those risks that warrant the Committee’s attention and supervise risk
management process as part of good corporate governance.
RRESEZEREEYE

. SEEEANAzEREERAIMEEE -
. EEZEEREIRCRSARYEERREERRF  URARIFEEES -

Group Internal Audit

° Conducts independent review on the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system and provides reasonable assurance to Audit Committee.
EEREES
. HEAREERADEZRAZRAETELER  TOEXEZEERREHGE
RFE °
Risk Monitoring & Review Enterprise Risk Management Executive Committee & Entity CEOs
ERERERERN . Design, implement and monitor the risk management and internal control
system.
° Provide assurance to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of risk

management and internal control system.
CEREABREEHTEEERMS QARTHRER
. Rt BRREEEMREERAIEZRL
. MEZZESRHEARBEERABELZRFER B ZIRE °
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Layer Roles and Responsibilities
[Bm|E A% 2 B
Group Risk Management, an independent team under Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management

° Supports the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee.

° Develops and implements risk management frameworks, policies, tools and
methodologies with all subsidiaries.
° Monitors status of risk and communicate with the Executive Committee and

Audit Committee on an ongoing basis.
SEEARERASEANDESREAREEBFIET 2B B
. XEESE  ERZEERCXEREERIHTEES -
. HEMBARRYLRMITREIMEEERL BEX - TARLE-
. FEEREARBRR  YRPTEESRELZESHERRE

Risk & Control Ownership Department Heads & Individual Employee
B REFINEE ° Ownership of managing risks, executing control activities and identifying new
risks in daily operation.

BHAXEREIHNET
. REBEEDERRMR - B17 B 15E B K 58 Bl kg

Risk Management Process B EEREF

Our risk management process is embedded in our daily operations, HKFfizEBREEBREFCHNABELESHE &
financial activities, compliance, strategy development & business #&EE - &1  FHREFEEZKRE - RER
planning, investment decision and external factors. The processes ERIIAEE  BFWOT :

are as follows:

Anticipate: Potential risks and threats that are related to
different business processes and relevant to the Company’s
objectives will be anticipated and identified by all individual
staff. Risks are grouped into six clusters (including reputation,
strategy, market, liquidity, credit and operation) to facilitate
the assessment appropriately.

Rate: Each identified risk is evaluated on the basis of impact
and likelihood consistent with the risk appetite set by the
Board. The risk impact and likelihood will be rated according
to the historical records, statistical analyses and relevant
experiences, specialist and expert judgments by management.
Group Risk Management facilitates the evaluation process
including the summary discussion in the Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee and Audit Committee.
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Respond: A delegated management is assigned to each risk
as risk owner to fully respond on each risk. Risk management
strategies and corresponding control owners are identified by
risk owner to deploy appropriate control activities.

Regulate: We take a close monitoring on the current status of
risk, which is being monitored through key risk indicators with
defined thresholds, occurrence of related incidents, control
effectiveness and audit results. Any change in current status
of risk to a worsened level will trigger a react process through
creation of a mitigation plan.

React: When there is a change on the current status of risk,
the corresponding owner will coordinate mitigation plan with
action details, responsible person and timeline to address the
status.

Report: To support the oversight of the Board on the
effectiveness of Vitasoy’s risk management, risk reporting
requirement was approved by the Board of Directors under
risk management framework. Periodic risk report is provided
to the Enterprise Risk Management Executive Committee
summarizing the results of risk monitoring, mitigation
plans and the current risk management implementation
progress. Besides, since the launch of the Governance, Risk
and Compliance System (“GRC System”), Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee and risk owners are able
to obtain real-time risk status through the relevant system
dashboards.

Risk Management Activities

Upgraded risk management tools for risk assessment process
As one of the key tools to maintain an effective management
of risk, opportunities for extending the functionality of GRC
system continue to be explored. This year, the risk assessment
module in GRC system has been upgraded to facilitate the
e-questionnaire function for the annual risk assessment
process. This enhances the two-way communication flow and
achieves a more all-rounded analysis for the risk profile.
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° Enhanced risk management trainings

With the ever-changing business environment, Vitasoy
conducts risk management training for key associates to
raise risk awareness and improve preparedness for incidents
and crises. Specifically, more support was given on risk
management training this year to enhance risk awareness and
risk mitigation capabilities in local entities. These trainings
constitute a fundamental pillar in nurturing risk management
culture and encouraging risk-informed decisions and
operations.

° Managing ESG risks with risk management framework

The effective management of ESG risks is a key focus of
Vitasoy’s risk management activities. ESG risks have been
managed alongside other relevant business and operational
risks under the risk management framework. With the
facilitation of the GRC system, various levels of employees will
be engaged in managing the risks and transparent information
will continuously be provided regarding the status of ESG
risks.

° Risk reviews for key purchases
In addition to the regular risk management process, Vitasoy
maintains the risk review process in making key purchasing
decisions. The review has ensured that critical purchasing risks
are adequately assessed and considered and hence improve
the quality of purchasing decisions.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

Group Internal Audit has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control system, including those of its operating companies. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion
of Group Internal Audit on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control system.

The Board, with confirmation from management, considered the risk
management and internal control system are effective and adequate
for the year ended 31st March 2025. No significant areas of concern
that might affect the financial, operational and compliance aspects
and risk management functions of the Company were identified.
The scope of this review also covered the adequacy of resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting,
financial reporting and internal audit functions, as well as training
and relevant budget to them.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of
the requirements under the applicable Listing Rules and Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable
after such information comes to our attention unless it falls within
any of the safe harbours provisions under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. The Company has had a system in place with established
policies and procedures for complying with the Inside Information
disclosure requirements under the regulatory regime. The Board
has adopted a Disclosure Compliance Policy on 27th November
2012 which has been further revised with a few housekeeping
amendments on 25th November 2021. The Policy has been
formulated by reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission.
The purpose of the Policy is to provide Directors and employees
with guidelines on assessing, reporting and disseminating inside
information, maintaining confidentiality and abiding shares dealing
restrictions. The Company has included in its code of conduct and
staff handbook a strict prohibition on the unauthorised disclosure or
use of confidential and inside information.

External Auditors

KPMG has been appointed as the External Auditors of the Company
by shareholders at the last Annual General Meeting. An amount of
HK$6.1 million (FY2023/2024: HK$6.8 million) was charged for
FY2024/2025 for statutory audits for the Company and subsidiaries.
The amount for the other audit-related services and other non-audit
services provided by KPMG for the Company and subsidiaries were
HK$0.3 million (FY2023/2024: HK$0.3 million) and HK$0.3 million
(FY2023/2024: HK$0.3 million) respectively. The non-audit services
mainly comprised tax advisory services.

The responsibilities of the External Auditors with respect to the
FY2024/2025 financial statements are set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy to provide guidance to
the Board and the management of the Company for distribution of
surplus funds to its shareholders.

In determining the level of dividend payment, the following criteria
and consideration must be taken:

Sharing of success with shareholders

- Liquidity and capital requirement

- Historical trend of dividend payout

- Benchmarking with competitors within the industry
- Fulfilment of financial covenants

- Taxation impact

- Restrictions

- Other factors that may deem relevant

The Company intends to declare dividends to shareholders to align
with the fluctuation in profit attributable to shareholders net of one-
off event impact and may declare special dividends from time to time
in addition to interim or final dividends. The determination to pay
dividends and level of dividend to be distributed will be subject to
the discretion of the Board made in accordance with the Dividend
Policy from time to time.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to convene General
Meeting

Pursuant to section 566 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”), shareholders representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings are entitled to send a request to the Company to convene
a general meeting. Such request must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at the meeting. A request may be sent to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s registered office in hard copy form or in
electronic form to ir@vitasoy.com and must also be authenticated by
the person or persons making it.
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Procedures for Shareholders to request circulation of
statement at General Meeting

Pursuant to section 580 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders or at least 50 shareholders, who have a relevant
right to vote, can request the Company in writing to circulate to
the shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt
with at that meeting or other business to be dealt with at that
meeting. A request may be sent to the Company Secretary at the
Company'’s registered office in hard copy form or in electronic form
to ir@vitasoy.com and must identify the statement to be circulated.
It must be authenticated by the person or persons making it and be
received by the Company at least 7 days before such meeting.

Procedures for proposing a Person for Election as a
Director at General Meeting

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, if a shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for
election as a Director at a general meeting, the shareholder should
deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be given to the
Company within the 7-day period commencing the day after the
despatch of the notice of the meeting (or such other period as may
be determined and announced by the Directors from time to time)
and in no event ending no later than seven days prior to the date
appointed for such meeting. The procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director have also been published
on the Company’s website.

Constitutional Document

During the year, there has been no change in the Company’s Articles
of Association. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Articles of Association of the Company has been published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. However, the
Company plans to propose certain amendments to the Articles
of Association at the forthcoming 2025 Annual General Meeting
to ensure alignment with the latest regulatory updates and
developments.
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Communications with Shareholders and Investors

We believe accountability and transparency are indispensable for
ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard, timely
communication with our shareholders is crucial.

The Board has adopted a formal Shareholders Communication
Policy to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to the Company'’s information. The Shareholders
Communication Policy has been updated on 22nd March 2022 and
posted on the Company’s website. We have established multiple
channels of communication to encourage effective participation by
the shareholders and also effective dialogue with shareholders under
the Shareholders Communication Policy. The Board reviewed the
Shareholders Communication Policy in June 2024 and considered
that the policy has been properly implemented and remains effective.
The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors.

We maintain a corporate website (www.vitasoy.com) to keep our
shareholders and the investing public posted of our share price
information, latest business developments, final and interim results
announcements, financial reports, public announcements, corporate
governance policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company views its Annual General Meeting as one of the
important platforms to communicate with its shareholders. All
Directors make an effort to attend the Annual General Meeting.
At the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the Chairman of the Board
briefed shareholders the business review and the outlook of the
Group and answered questions raised by shareholders. The chairmen
of the R&N Committee, the Audit Committee and ESG Committee
were also present to answer questions raised by shareholders. The
Company’s External Auditors attended the 2024 Annual General
Meeting to address questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the accounting
policies and auditors’ independence.

Separate resolutions in respect of each substantial issue, including
the appointment and re-election of Directors were proposed by the
Chairman at the Annual General Meeting and were voted on by poll.
The detailed procedures of conducting a poll were explained by the
Chairman at the commencement of the Annual General Meeting
to ensure that shareholders were familiar with such procedures.
An independent scrutineer was appointed to count the votes and
the poll results were posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on the same day following the Annual General
Meeting.
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The Company adheres to the Listing Rules and all regulatory
requirements set for listed companies in Hong Kong. The Company
is also committed to proactively provide its stakeholders with
sufficient, accurate and consistent information in a timely manner.
The commitment is evenly fulfilled irrespective of whether the
information is positive or negative for the Company. All material
information is disclosed to recipients equally in terms of content and
timing.

The Board and Senior Management acknowledge their
responsibilities to represent the interests of all shareholders
and to maximise shareholder value. Active engagement with
our shareholders and accountability to our shareholders are of
high priorities of the Company. We would actively reach out our
shareholders by:

° one-on-one-meetings, conference calls, investor conferences,
and non-deal roadshows

° publication of the Company’s latest financial results,
announcements, ESG and business performance on its own
corporate website, including interim and annual financial
reports, sustainability reports, audio webcasts of analyst
presentations given at results announcements, presentation
slides played at investors conferences, announcements and
the Company’s business performance

° publication and distribution of interim and annual reports
° shareholders meeting
° set up of dedicated Investor Relations’ email address/hotline

to receive enquires from the shareholders and investing public
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Directors and Senior Management
EENEEEEAE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Chairman

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO (SBS, BSc, MSc), aged 84, is the
Executive Chairman of the Group. Mr. Lo was appointed
a Director of the Company in 1972. Mr. Lo is a member
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Lo graduated from the University
of Illinois with a Bachelor of Science degree in Food
Science and gained his Master of Science degree in Food
Science from Cornell University. Mr. Lo is an Honorary
Court Member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and life member of Cornell University
Council. Mr. Lo is a director of Ping Ping Investment
Company Limited. He retired as a director of The Bank
of East Asia, Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange with effect from 9th May 2025. He was
a member of The National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Save as
disclosed, he has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years. He is the father
of Ms. May Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company)
and Ms. Joy Lo Cheung (a substantial shareholder of
the Company), the brother of Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling Lo (a
Non-executive Director of the Company) and Ms. Irene
Chan (the substantial shareholder of the Company) and
the relative of Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo (a Non-executive
Director of the Company), Mr. Eugene Lye (an Executive
Director of the Company), Mr. Christopher Lye, Dr. Keiko
Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the substantial
shareholders of the Company).
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE (CMG, SBS,
JP), aged 77, was appointed a Director of the Company
in June 2015. Mr. Nightingale is the chairman of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee, a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. Nightingale graduated from Peterhouse College,
University of Cambridge with a degree in Classics.
Mr. Nightingale was Managing Director of the Jardine
Matheson Group (“Jardine Group”) from 2006 to 2012.
He joined Jardine Group in 1969 and was appointed a
director in 1994. Mr. Nightingale has stepped down as
a non-executive director of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited and of other Jardine Group companies since
31st January 2024. These include Dairy Farm and
Hongkong Land. Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited has
a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange as its
primary listing, with secondary listings in Bermuda and
Singapore. Mr. Nightingale is a director of Matheson & Co.
Limited and also the independent non-executive director
of Shui On Land Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Nightingale is a commissioner of PT Astra International
Tbk. He is the chairperson of The Sailors Home and
Missions to Seafarers in Hong Kong. Mr. Nightingale is
the former chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber
of Commerce and was appointed as a Hong Kong, China’s
representative to the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation
(“APEC”") Business Advisory Council from 2005 to 2017
and a Hong Kong representative to the APEC Vision
Group from 2018 to 2019. He was a member of The
Chief Executive’s Council of Advisors on Innovation and
Strategic Development and was a member of the HKUST
Business School Advisory Council. He was a non-executive
director of Schindler Holding Limited, Jardine Strategic
Holdings Limited, Mandarin Oriental, Prudential plc and
Jardine Cycle & Carriage Limited. Save as disclosed, he has
not held any directorship in other listed public companies
in the last three years.
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Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH, aged 68, was appointed a
Director of the Company in September 2016. Mr. Brough
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and the chairman
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Brough graduated from Nottingham Trent
Business School with a Bachelor’'s degree (Honours)
in Business Studies. Mr. Brough is an associate of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Brough is an independent non-
executive director of Guoco Group Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, an independent
non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited, an independent non-
executive director of The Executive Centre Limited, an
independent non-executive director of Eagle Investments
HoldCo, an independent non-executive director of Pacific
Primary Health Care Holdings Limited and from 22nd April
2025, a non-executive director of The Executive Centre
India Private Limited. Mr. Brough joined KPMG Hong Kong
in 1983 and held appointments as its Head of Consulting
in 1995 and as Head of Financial Advisory Services in
1997. In 1999, he was appointed the Asia Pacific Head
of KPMG'’s Financial Advisory Services business and a
member of its global advisory steering group. He held
the position of Regional Senior Partner of KPMG Hong
Kong from April 2009 before retiring in March 2012.
Mr. Brough is a director of Run Hong Kong Limited, a
not-for-profit entity. Mr. Brough is also a director of Blue
Willow Limited. Mr. Brough was the executive chairman of
Noble Group Limited, a company listed on the Singapore
Stock Exchange, and its successor company, Noble Group
Holdings Limited from 8th May 2017 to 1st October 2019.
He was an independent non-executive director of Habib
Bank Zurich (Hong Kong) Limited, a Hong Kong restricted
licence bank until 28th February 2023, the chairman of
the General Committee of The Hong Kong Club until 11th
May 2023 and the independent non-executive director of
Toshiba Corporation until 22nd December 2023. Save as
disclosed, he has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.
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Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG (GBS, BBS, JP), aged 72, was
appointed a Director of the Company in June 2017.
Dr. Chung is a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Dr. Chung holds a Doctor of Engineering
Degree from the University of Warwick, United Kingdom
and Doctor of Business Administration Degree from
City University of Macau. He has been appointed as
an Industrial Professor by the University of Warwick,
United Kingdom since December 2010. He was awarded
a Doctor of Business Administration honoris causa by
the Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2023, an
Honorary Doctor of Business Administration by the City
University of Hong Kong in 2023, a Doctor of Business
Administration honoris causa by The University of Macau
in 2019, an Honorary Doctor of Science by The University
of Warwick, United Kingdom in 2019, an Honorary Doctor
of Business Administration by the Lingnan University in
2015, an Honorary Doctor of Business Administration
by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007, and
an Honorary Doctorate Degree by the University of
Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia in 2006. He was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) and Gold Bauhinia
Star (GBS) by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government on 1st July 2011 and 1st July 2017
respectively. He was also appointed as Justice of Peace by
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government
on 1st July 2005 and won the Hong Kong Young
Industrialists Award in 1997. In November 2014, he was
further awarded the Industrialist of the Year. Dr. Chung
is a Board Member of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority and the Chairman of the Standing Committee
on Youth Skills Competition. He was appointed as the
Chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries from
July 2011 to July 2013 and now its Honorary President.
He was appointed as the chairman of Vocational Training
Council from January 2018 to December 2019. He is also
the founder and chairman of Bright Future Charitable
Foundation. Dr. Chung is an independent non-executive
director of TK Group (Holdings) Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong. Dr. Chung is a co-founder of Techtronic
Industries Company Limited, and retired as its non-
executive director effective from 10 May 2024. He also
retired as independent non-executive director of Kin
Yat Holdings Limited, KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited
and Fujikon Industrial Holdings Limited effective from
25th August 2014, 27th August 2015 and 23rd June
2021 respectively. Save as disclosed, he has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years.
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Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG, aged 63, was appointed a
Director of the Company in August 2024. Ms. Yung is a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Yung holds a Master of Arts degree
from Oxford University, United Kingdom and is qualified
as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong. She was
a partner of an international law firm prior to joining
Hysan Development Company Limited in 1999. She
had been an executive director of Hysan Development
Company Limited from 2008 to 2015. At the end of
2015, Ms. Yung founded “Practising Governance” for the
continuing education and capacity-building of directors
and senior executives as regards compliance of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, with a special focus on corporate
governance and ESG. Ms. Yung is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
Save as disclosed, she has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.
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Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO, aged 77, was appointed a
Director of the Company in 1993. Ms. Lo is a member
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lo received a Bachelor of Arts degree from
Oberlin College, Ohio in the United States and undertook
graduate studies in Urban and Regional Planning at the
University of Toronto in Canada. Ms. Lo joined the Group
in 1980 and was the President of Vitasoy USA until 2001.
Ms. Lo was the president of the Soyfoods Association of
North America which represents more than 30 soyfoods
companies covering the US and Canada. She does not
hold/has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies currently and in the past three years. She is the
mother of Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda (a substantial shareholder
of the Company), the sister of Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo
(the Executive Chairman of the Company) and Ms. Irene
Chan (the substantial shareholder of the Company)
and the relative of Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo (a Non-
executive Director of the Company), Ms. May Lo (a Non-
executive Director of the Company), Mr. Eugene Lye (an
Executive Director of the Company), Ms. Joy Lo Cheung,
Mr. Christopher Lye and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the
substantial shareholders of the Company).

Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO, aged 63, was appointed a
Director of the Company in June 2017. Mr. Lo is a member
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Lo holds a Bachelor's Degree in Electronic
Engineering & Physics from the Loughborough University
of Technology, a Master’s Degree in Medical Physics from
the University of Surrey, a Doctorate’s Degree in Medical
Physics from the University of London and an Honorary
Fellow from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lo is an executive director of Café de Coral Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lo is the chairman and a trustee of Lo Kwee
Seong Foundation (a charitable trust) being a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed, he has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years. Mr. Lo is the relative of Mr. Winston Yau-lai
Lo (the Executive Chairman of the Company), Ms. Yvonne
Mo-ling Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company),
Ms. May Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company),
Mr. Eugene Lye (an Executive Director of the Company),
Ms. Irene Chan, Ms. Joy Lo Cheung, Mr. Christopher
Lye, Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the
substantial shareholders of the Company).
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Ms. May LO, aged 50, was appointed a Director of the
Company in June 2017. Ms. Lo is currently the Deputy
Chairman of the Board, a member of the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee and a member of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lo holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from MIT Sloan School of Management
and a Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University.
She has worked in finance in various roles, including, as a
fund manager for a global asset management company and
has had experience investing in publicly listed companies.
She does not hold/has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies currently and in the past three
years. Ms. Lo is the daughter of Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo (the
Executive Chairman of the Company), the sister of Ms. Joy
Lo Cheung (a substantial shareholder of the Company),
the relative of Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling Lo (a Non-executive
Director of the Company), Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo (a Non-
executive Director of the Company), Mr. Eugene Lye (an
Executive Director of the Company), Ms. Irene Chan,
Mr. Christopher Lye, Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda and
Ms. Alexandra Chan (the substantial shareholders of the
Company).
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Executive Directors

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI, aged 62, was appointed as the
Executive Director of the Company on 1st April 2014.
Mr. Guidetti is a member of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Guidetti is
currently the Group Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Guidetti
graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics at the
Bologna University in Bologna, Italy in 1987 and further
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
at Centro Universitario di Organizzazione Aziendale in
Altavilla Vicentina, Italy in 1988. Mr. Guidetti completed a
Harvard Business School Executive Education programme
in July 2017. Mr. Guidetti is responsible for the overall
strategic planning, business development and general
management of all the Group’s operations. Mr. Guidetti
joined the Group as the Group Chief Executive Officer
on 1st April 2013 and has fully assumed the roles and
responsibilities of the former Group Chief Executive
Officer on 1st August 2013. He has 36 years of proven
track record in general management, strategic/business
planning, marketing/commercial leadership, product
innovation and new business development. He has
matured his professional expertise in two of the largest
global fast moving consumer goods organisations and
across local, regional and global roles in Europe and Asia.
He has spent the last 25 years in this field in Mainland
China, and regions including the Hong Kong SAR and
Taiwan. Mr. Guidetti is a non-executive director of Ariston
Group (listed company in Italy) and Givaudan (listed
company in Switzerland). Saved as disclosed, he has not
held any directorship in other listed public companies
currently and in the last three years.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Eugene LYE, aged 55, was appointed a Director of
the Company in October 2017. Mr. Eugene is a member
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Lye is currently the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Vitasoy USA Inc. and Vitasoy
North America Inc., the subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Lye holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from
the University of Toronto and a MBA from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lye is responsible for the
general management and development of the Group’s
import business of the Group’'s products for sales in
North America. He joined the Group in 2002 and has
been closely involved in all aspects of the North American
business for over 20 years. During his time at Vitasoy
USA Inc., Mr. Lye has held management positions in
sales and marketing in the Mainstream Channel, and has
had oversight responsibilities for both the research &
development and quality control departments as well as
serving as the Senior Vice President of the Asian Channel.
He does not hold/has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies currently and in the past three
years. Mr. Lye is the brother of Mr. Christopher Lye (a
substantial shareholder of the Company), the relative of
Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo (the Executive Chairman of the
Company), Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling Lo, Mr. Peter Tak-shing
Lo and Ms. May Lo (the Non-executive Directors of the
Company), Ms. Irene Chan, Ms. Joy Lo Cheung, Dr. Keiko
Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the substantial
shareholders of the Company).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. lan Hong NG, aged 54, Group Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Ng
is responsible for the strategic planning, financial management
and control, accounting, corporate finance, investor relations
and corporate services of the Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in
2021 and has solid finance management experience gained with
multinational companies. She also brings a wealth of experience to
this role with leading start-up commercial operation, acquisitions,
post-merger integration, finance and digital transformation projects
in fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) industry. Ms. Ng is a US
Certified Public Accountant, member of HKICPA, and holds a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration at the University of
Southern California Marshall School of Business.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES
Mainland China

Mr. David Dong WANG, aged 57, Chief Executive Officer, Mainland
China Operation. Mr. Wang joined the Group in April 2024. Mr.
Wang holds a Bachelor of Science from Sun Yat Sen University and
an EMBA from University of Minnesota. Prior to his appointment at
the Group, he held the position of President at Tupperware China,
and has previously occupied a number of senior roles within P&G,
as well as PepsiCo’s Food and Beverage units. Mr. Wang has over
30 years’ experience in senior general management and commercial
roles within the fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) sector.

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and
Exports)

Mr. Anthony Kai-yip CHAN, aged 56, Chief Executive Officer,
Hong Kong Operation. He joined the Group in 2007 and has been
promoted to the Chief Executive Officer of the Group’s Hong Kong
Operation in April 2023. He was appointed the Sales Director of
the Hong Kong Operation in 2009 with wealth of experience in
general management particularly for the sales and marketing areas.
Mr. Chan is currently responsible for the general management and
development of the Group’s operations in the Hong Kong SAR,
the Macau SAR and global export markets. Mr. Chan has solid and
extensive working experience in different leading multinational
companies including fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) and
consumer healthcare categories prior to joining the Company. Mr.
Chan received his education in the Hong Kong SAR and earned his
Master degree in Business Administration and Bachelor of Laws (LLB)
in 1998 and 2002 respectively.
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Australia and New Zealand

Ms. Sangeerni Mahalinga IYER, aged 39, Managing Director of
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd.. Ms. lyer is responsible for
general management and development of the Group’s operation
in Australia and New Zealand. She joined the Group in June 2020
as the Commercial Director of Vitasoy Australia and New Zealand
prior to being promoted to the Managing Director role. Ms. lyer has
extensive experience across Asia Pacific and Europe in fast moving
consumer goods (FMCG), Agribusiness and Investment banking
having held senior finance executive roles. She holds master’s
degree in business from University of Queensland and Master in
Econometrics from London School of Economics in addition to being
a Certified Practicing Accountant.

Singapore

Ms. Melanie Yam-hong PHUA, aged 53, Managing Director
of Vitasoy International Singapore Pte. Ltd., the Group’s tofu
manufacturing company in Singapore. Ms. Phua is responsible for
the general management and development of the Group’s operation
in Singapore. She joined the Singapore operation in November
2024. Ms. Phua is a seasoned executive with over two decades of
experience in general management, spanning Singapore, Malaysia
and Southeast Asia. She is a seasoned leader with a proven track
record of driving business growth, operational excellence, and market
expansion across diverse industries, including Food & Beverage
retail, fast moving consumer goods (FMCG), and manufacturing.
Ms. Phua holds a Diploma in Hotel Management from Switzerland,
which laid the foundation for her career progression, allowing her
to build deep operational expertise before advancing into senior
leadership roles. She continuously enhances her expertise in
communication, management, and innovation, ensuring she remains
agile in navigating evolving business landscapes through ongoing skill
development and practical experience.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER IN JOINT VENTURE

The Philippines

Ms. Lesley Joyce SYSON, aged 48, General Manager of Vitasoy-URC
Inc. (VURC), the Group’s joint venture company in the Philippines.
She is responsible for the general management and development of
the Group’s business in the Philippines. Ms. Syson joined VURC in
August 2024, bringing over 25 years of experience managing brands
in the fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG), retail, and mobile
technology sectors, spanning the emerging and developed markets
in Asia Pacific, Africa and Europe. She has consistently delivered
business results, with expertise in brand transformation, innovation,
and market expansion, particularly for ready-to-drink beverages in
Southeast Asia. Ms. Syson graduated Cum Laude from the Business
Management Honors Program of the Ateneo de Manila University,
completed an executive leadership program from INSEAD, and holds
a Master of Science in Innovation from Singapore Management
University.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2025.

Principal Place of Business

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong SAR and has its registered
office and principal place of business at No. 1 Kin Wong Street, Tuen
Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong SAR.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture and sale
of food and beverages. The principal activities and other particulars

of the subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The segment analysis of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the financial year is set out in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Group Chief Executive Officer’s
Report/Business Review set out on pages 10 to 25 of this Annual
Report. The environmental, employees, customers and suppliers
matters that have a significant impact on the Group, are provided
in the FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report to be posted on the
Company’s corporate website at www.vitasoy.com together with
this Annual Report. These discussions form part of this Report of the
Directors.

We attached great importance to the Group’s compliance with
all applicable laws, regulations and regulatory requirements, in
adhering us to the best industry practices. During the year, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance by the Group with the
applicable laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the
Group's operations.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31st March 2025, the percentage of sales
attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers was less than 30%.

The information in respect of the Group’s purchases attributable to
major suppliers during the financial year is as follows:

FEEFRIMER
REBZ-Z-_HF=A=1+—BLFEE K&
BEAREFOAEB ZEEIEDRI0% -

UTHREATMRFEEIEREBEASEER
BEZEH

Percentage of the Group’s total purchases

LAEBERBEETSL
The largest supplier
21%
RAMER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate
32%

BEaARHERESE

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) held
any interest in these major suppliers.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share (2024:
HK1.4 cents) was paid on 24th December 2024. The Directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK10.2 cents per
ordinary share (2024: HK6.3 cents) in respect of the year ended 31st
March 2025.

Donations

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$3,027,000 (2024: HK$3,497,000).

Bank Loans

Particulars of bank loans of the Group, as at 31st March 2025 are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 25(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. Shares were issued during the year on the vesting of
share awards.
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Report of the Directors
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Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
Annual Report are set out on page 2.

Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 19th August 2024. Pursuant
to Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms. Wendy
Wen-yee YUNG will retire at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and will be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 104 of the Company's Articles of Association,
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH and
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG will retire from the Board by rotation at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Directors of Subsidiaries

A full list of the names of the Directors of the Group’s subsidiaries
during the financial year and up to the date of this Annual Report can
be found in the Company’s website at www.vitasoy.com under “For
Investors/Governance/Board of Directors/Directors of Subsidiaries”.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

The Directors of the Company who held office at 31st March 2025
had the following interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and subsidiaries (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) at that date as recorded in the Register
of Directors’ Interests and Short Positions (“Register”) required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO:

(1) Interests in issued shares

EERKRG - HEARGBREREEZ

R B

BR(ERSFRPEMRPDE2HRAERBTFES
BEkARBTM (BEM) LEAEH RN
—ECAFZA=Z+T-HEBZARFIEER
EARFAEARRARMBLAR (EER(EFZRB
BRAD) 2RO REBERGEROT

(1) REBITRHOz2EDS

Number of ordinary shares

EERYE
Trusts and Total
Personal Family similar Equity numberof  * % of total
Note interests interests interests  derivatives  sharesheld issued shares
HEBRT
Name FiERk PR &
X iiF3 LGP 3 RikER FEER RATETIR FMBRHEY ZBESH
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
L nton et ((v) 68782601 28702500 72678300 1320412 171483813 1598
BEREEE
Mr. Anthony John Liddell
NIGHTINGALE 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.02
REELE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO o
BHE 1 (i), (iv) - - 92,084,750 - 92,084,750 8.58
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO e
BEE (iii), (iv) 9,198,000 - 121,657,000 - 130,855,000 12.19
Ms. May LO
Byt 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000 0.20
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
- 5,864,623 100,000 - 1,226,899 7,191,522 0.67
BEELE W
Mr. Eugene LYE
442313 - - - 442313 0.04
Belk4

*

The percentage has been compiled based on the total number of shares of
the Company in issue (i.e. 1,073,093,978 ordinary shares) as at 31st March
2025.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures (continued)

(1) Interests in issued shares (continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO is deemed to be interested in 28,702,500 shares
through interests of his wife. The 1,320,412 equity derivatives represented
interests in unvested shares granted under the Company’s 2021 Share
Award Scheme.

(i) Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is interested in 2,078,300 shares held by Yvonne
Lo Charitable Remainder Unitrust, 2,560,150 shares held by Yvonne Lo
Separate Property Trust and 14,768,000 shares held by Lo/Higashida Joint
Trust. Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is a beneficiary of such three trusts and is
therefore deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iii) Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO is interested in 48,978,700 shares held by two
discretionary family trusts. Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO is a beneficiary of such
two trusts and is therefore deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iv) Each of Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO and
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO is interested in 72,678,300 shares held by The
Bank of East Asia (Nominees) Limited which holds such shares as a
nominee for the Lo Kwee Seong Foundation, a charitable trust. Each
of them is a trustee of the Lo Kwee Seong Foundation and is therefore
deemed to be interested in such shares.

(v) Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI and his wife jointly hold family interests of 100,000
shares. The 1,226,899 equity derivatives represented interests in unvested
shares granted under the Company’s 2021 Share Award Scheme.

(2) Interests in underlying shares

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options and
share awards under the Company’s share option scheme and share
award scheme, details of which are set out in the sections “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme” respectively.

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company are
long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company
or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age
holds an interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or other
associated corporations, as recorded in the Register or as otherwise
notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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Equity-linked Agreements

The Company has two existing share schemes, namely the 2022
Share Option Scheme and the 2021 Share Award Scheme (the “Share
Schemes”). The Stock Exchange has granted an approval for the
listing of new shares of the Company to be issued under the Share
Schemes pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Accordingly, as at 31st March 2025, the share
options/share awards available for grant under the Share Schemes
and any other share schemes of the Company shall not exceed
98,923,698 (31st March 2024 and 1st April 2024: 107,281,481),
representing 9.22% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 31st
March 2025 and the date of this Annual Report pursuant to the
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme had expired on the tenth anniversary
of its adoption date, any share options that are outstanding under
the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force according to the
terms of the scheme.

Further details of the Company’s share option schemes and share
award scheme are set out below.

Share option scheme
(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012

On 28th August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
which the Directors, executives and employees of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (“Eligible Participants”) have made or will make
to the Group. It provides Eligible Participants with the opportunity to
own a personal stake in the Company with a view to motivating the
Eligible Participants to excel in their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group; and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group. The Board may at its discretion grant options to any
Director, executive or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Report of the Directors

EEgRE
Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)
(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012 (1) R-E——FNA=-+/HAHEZLE
(continued) BREE (E)
The principal terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme were as Z—Z——FBEREFEAZTERTOT :

follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

- The period within which the options must be exercised would
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period
must expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of
grant.

- There was no minimum period for which an option must be
held nor a performance target which must be achieved before
it could be exercised during the vesting period, but the Board
may determine at its sole discretion any such terms on the
grant of an option.

- An offer of the grant of an option remains open for acceptance
by an Eligible Participant for a period of 28 days from the
date of offer or such longer or shorter period as the Directors
might in their discretion determine. An Eligible Participant had
to pay HK$10 on acceptance of the option as a consideration.

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) to any one
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date
of grant.
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RPrEB2WHE  R(b)RONEER
HEAMAAEE XA EBIARE 2T
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FITEZHR - LERBRETERE
BRT HHRE T F o
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012
(continued)

The 2012 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 27th August
2022 following which no further option was granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme.

Outstanding share options granted under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and,
subject to the vesting schedule, exercisable in accordance with the
2012 Share Option Scheme. There were 12,503,500 outstanding
options that may be issued upon exercise of the right attaching
thereto, representing approximately 1.17% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report, under
the 2012 Share Option Scheme.

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022

On 30th August 2022, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the
2022 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain management
and key employees, to align Eligible Participants’ interests with the
long-term success of the Company, to provide fair and competitive
compensation to management and key employees and to drive the
achievement of strategic objectives of the Company. It provides
Eligible Participants with an opportunity to own a personal stake in
the Company with a view to motivating the Eligible Participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining an ongoing
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group. The Board
may at its discretion grant options to any Director, executive or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022
(continued)

The principal terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme were as
follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

- The period within which the options must be exercised would
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period
must expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of
grant.

- The minimum period for which an option must be held before
such an option can be exercised shall not be less than 12
months (or such other period as may be prescribed by the
Listing Rules). The Board and/or the Company may, at its
absolute discretion, determine that a shorter vesting period
shall apply than the prescribed minimum period.

- The 2022 Share Option Scheme does not specify a
performance metric which must be achieved before an option
can be exercised. The Company may specify such performance
target and the terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
provided that the Board may determine, at its sole discretion,
such term(s) on the grant of an option.

- An offer of the grant of an option remains open for acceptance
by an Eligible Participant for a period of 28 days from the date
of offer or such longer or shorter period as the Directors might
in their discretion determine.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022
(continued)

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options under all share
option schemes, or vested and to be vested under other share
award schemes already granted or to be granted (excluding
any options and/or awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme or other share award
schemes) to any one Eligible Participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant shall not in
aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of
grant.

During the year, 5,244,000 options were granted under the 2022
Share Option Scheme.

As at 31st March 2025, there were 6,907,500 outstanding options
that may be issued upon exercise of the right attaching thereto,
representing approximately 0.64% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report, under the 2022 Share
Option Scheme.

The 2022 Share Option Scheme will end on 29th August 2032.

At 31st March 2025, the Directors and employees of the Company
had the following interests in options to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company (market value per ordinary share as at 31st
March 2025 was HK$10.04) in consideration of HK$10 for each
grant under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and nil consideration
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme of the Company. As at 31st
March 2025, the total grant date fair value of unexercised vested
options and unvested options, measured in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(q)(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements, amounted to HK$54,763,000 and HK$24,732,000
respectively. The options are unlisted. Once vested, each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
the Company. Assuming that all the options outstanding as at 31st
March 2025 were exercised, the Company would receive proceeds
of HK$317,658,000.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)

Particulars of share options outstanding during the year and at the FRARNRFER  MRTEBREFBOT :
end of the year are as follows:

Number Number  *Market
Period during of options Number Number Number  ofoptions  valueper  *Market
whichoptions ~ Priceper outstanding ~ of options  of options  of options  outstanding shareat  value per
are exercisable share on atthe granted  exercised  forfeited atthe date of share on
Date of grant (dd/mm/yyyy - exerciseof  beginning  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe end of the grantof  exercise of
(dd/mm/yyyy) dd/mm/yyyy) options of the year year year year year options options
BRETES OEERE )] E&H R HTE
Participants BHAHY (B/B/%- WAfz WiTEz FhBHz ERTEz Fhtke HEGEz BREZE BRERZ
2% (B/R/%) A/B/%) SRER BREYE BREYE BRESE BREYE BREXE 28RTE SRTE
HKS HKS HKS
B ik B
Directors
g%

MrWinstonYaulai L0 10/09/2014 10/09/2015-09/09/2024 10080 1792000 ;
lalsoa substantil 14/09/2015 14/09/2016- 13/09/205 13600  1,588000 - -

(1,792,000) = 9.890 =
1,588,000 11520 =

shareholder)
BRBAL 06/09/2016 06/09/2017-05/09/2026 14792 1420000 - : 1000 15280 :
(TATERR)
MiRobertoGUDETTI  26008/2017 26/06/2018-25008/027 16296 1254000 - : CO1254000 16200 :
ERRLE 19/06/2018 19/04/2019-18/06/2028 25400 1288000 - . S 1288000 24000 :
0019 21/062000- 20106205 44810 866000 - : a0 4255 !
20062000 22/062021-20/06200 30200 1082000 - ! R0 155 !
0802 18/06202- 230800 19500 814000 - : S G40 1890 :
OHOTNZ OHOTNB-0OTNG 14140 998000 - : o ome0 1370 :
206203 26/06/2004- 25062083 12216 1022000 - : S0 10160 :
26106204 26/06/2005- 25106204 6352 - 1598000 : LS80 6170 :
Five ighest paid 0802 1806200223080 19500 216000 - : om0 1890 :
ﬁggg;ggg?;; 04/07/2022  04/07/2023-03/07/2032 14140 240000 - - - MO00 1370 :
261062023 26/06/204- 250062083 12216 238000 - : S0 10160 :
26106204 26/06/2005- 25106204 6352 ~ g0 : S 6170 :
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Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Report of the Directors
EEERE

B = B0 155 (@

Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)
Number Number ~ *Market

Period during of options Number Number Number ~ ofoptions  valueper ~ *Market

whichoptions ~ Priceper outstanding  of options  of options  of options  outstanding shareat  value per

areexercisable  shareon atthe granted  exercised  forfeited atthe dateof  shareon

Date of grant (dd/mm/yyyy - exerciseof  beginning  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  end of the grantof  exercise of

(dd/mm/yyyy) dd/mm/yyyy) options  of the year year year year year options options

BRETES OEBERE L) E&H R HTE

Participants RHAH (B/B/%- WAfz WiTEz FhBHz FhEz Fhitke HEGEz BREZE BRENZ

bl (B/R/%) A/B/%) ShER BREYE BRENE BRESE BREYE BRENE 28RTE SRTE

HKS HKS HKS

b gk ok

Other eligible 26/06/2015  26/06/2016 - 25/06/2025 13600 18,000 - - - 18,000 13620 -

employees working 9y 06016 24/062017-23/06/2026 14792 198000 - - - 198000 13960 -
under employment

Gl 26/06/2017  26/06/2018 - 25/06/2027 16.296 278,000 - - - 278,000 16200 -

REERGAIEZ 19/06/2018  19/06/2019 - 18/06/2028 25100 308,000 - - - 308000 24000 -

A =]

RigaRHER €28/01/2019  28/01/2020 - 27/01/2029 30.350 320,000 - - (320,000) - 30.000 -

21/06/2019  21/06/2020 - 20/06/2029 44810 260,000 - - (56,0000 204,000 42.550 -

22/06/2020  22/06/2021 - 21/06/2030 30200 471500 - - (2195000 252,000 29.550 -

#24/08/2021  18/06/2022 - 23/08/2031 19.500 982,000 - - (3755000 606,500 18920 -

04/07/2022  04/07/2023 - 03/07/2032 14140 1,467,000 - - (5440000 923000 13720 -

26/06/2023  26/06/2024 - 25/06/2033 12216 1,780,000 - - (6885000 1,091,500 10.160 -

26/06/2024  26/06/2025 - 25/06/2034 6.352 - 2816000 - (688,000) 228,000 6170 -

18850500 5,244,000 - (4,683500) 19,411,000

The options granted to each Director are registered under the names

of the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

ZEBEBR -

BYREECBRENRARESRBACES

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the dates on which the
options were granted or exercised, as applicable.

for the options granted on 28th January 2019, 50% of options will be
vested after the first anniversary from the date of grant and 50% of
options will be vested after the second anniversary from the date of
grant.

for the options granted on 24th August 2021, options are subject to
a vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum starting from 18th
June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025.

of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two are Directors
whose emoluments are disclosed separately.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

All options, except for options granted on 28th January 2019 and
24th August 2021, are exercisable progressively and the maximum
percentage of the options which may be exercised is determined in
stages as follows:

ie ZE e 10 e ()

RS S (|
AFAECHMEERESE (BR=-E—h&E
— B+ N NBR=ZZE-Z—-FN\AZ+HAKRHE
ZHERESN) B SN W& R TT R
BEILERET

Percentage of options granted

hEEBREZESL

On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant
R BB —BFHIHR
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant
R B mBERHER
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant
RE BB =BFHHE
On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant

REHBHETNBFERER

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and
the value per option is provided in note 1(q)(iii) and note 23(a) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

25%

another 5 25%

another 5 25%

another 5 25%

EERHBRECESTRERENEREESR
ZER D BIERERE B 75 8RR M5 1(q)Gii) B Kt
5 23(a) °
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share award scheme

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 22nd March 2021
(the “2021 Share Award Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, select any eligible participant (being either a Director,
executive or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) to
participate in the 2021 Share Award Scheme as an award holder,
and such award holder may be granted an award of restricted shares,
performance shares, restricted share units or performance share
units. The purpose of the 2021 Share Award Scheme is to attract and
retain management and key employees, to align eligible participants’
interests with the long-term success of the Company, to provide fair
and competitive compensation to management and key employees
and to drive the achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives.

The principal terms of the 2021 Share Award Scheme were as
follows:

- The 2021 Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for
a term of 10 years from 1st July 2021 unless terminated
earlier by the Board and is administered by the Board and the
trustee of the 2021 Share Award Scheme.

- The minimum period for which an award must be held before
vesting shall not be less than 12 months (or such other
period as may be prescribed by the Listing Rules from time
to time). The Board and/or the Company may at its absolute
discretion, determine that a shorter vesting period shall apply
than the prescribed minimum period.

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of all options under all share
option schemes, or vested and to be vested under all share
award schemes already granted or to be granted to such
eligible participant (excluding any options and/or awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Award
Scheme or other share award schemes) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant shall not in
aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of
grant.

During the year, 3,113,783 awards were granted under the 2021
Share Award Scheme which may be vested to the awardees,
representing approximately 0.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share award scheme (continued) B% 10 SE Bt &) (@)

Particulars of share awards outstanding during the year and at the  FRRRFELR EABEBE2EBROFBNT :
end of the year are as follows:

Number of
awards
forfeited on
Number termination of
ofawards  Numberof ~ Numberof employment  Numberof *Marketvalue Marketvalue
outstanding awards awards  of eligible awards pershare  pershare at
Vesting period atthe granted vested  participants outstanding at at date of date of
Date of grant (d/mam/yyyy - beginning  duringthe  during the during  theend of grantof  vesting of
(dd/mm/yyyy) dd/mm/yyyy)  of the year year year the year the year awards awards
REMES
FRE  FRHE BRSHE EFREHR CRURB
Participant BHAH (B/B/%- BEz&D EhRtz S8Rz BRARK SEZ%B 2Bz BEZEZA
a% (B/B/%) B/B/%) $B  RBHR  RRME 2REYA $R BRTE 28RTE
HKS HK$

Directors

g%

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO #01/02/2022  01/02/2022 - 18/06/2025 112,584 - (56,291) - 56,293 15200 6.520"
(1'50;5:‘;5*)3”“3' 04/07/2022  04/07/2022 - 04/07/2026 234832 - (1827) - 156555 13720 5750
shareholder

BRELE (FAIERER) 26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 429498 - (107,374) - 322124 10.160 6.170"

26/06/2024  26/06/2024 - 26/06/2028 - 785440 - - 785440 6.170 -

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 112,604 - (56,301) - 56,303 18920 6.520"

ERRAE 04/07/2022  04/07/2022 - 04/07/2026 251899 - (83966) - 167,933 13720 5.750%

26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 391,152 - (97,788) - 293,364 10.160 6.170"
26/06/2024  26/06/2024 - 26/06/2028 - 709,299 - - 709,299 6.170 -

Five highest paid eligible #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 29875 - (14937) - 14938 18920 6.520"
eﬂ’l'?yeesf ) 04/07/2022  04/07/2022 - 04/07/2026 60,547 - (018 - 40365 1370 5750%

IEERERERER"

26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 91015 - (22753) - 68,262 10160 6.170"
26/06/2024  26/06/2024 - 26/06/2028 - 368,319 - - 368,319 6.170 -

Other eligible employees #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 131,028 - (65,507) (26,982) 38,539 18920 6.520"
W°rtk'"gt”"de’em”'°y’"e“t 04/07/202 O07/2022- 40712006 365443 Csms) 0e7y) My B0 S0
contracts

BEEBAHTEZ LM 26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 683,748 - (153729)  (226,379) 303,640 10160 6.170"
AEkES 26/06/2024  26/06/2024 - 26/06/2028 - 1,250,725 - (305,262) 945,463 6.170 -

2894225 3113783 (872,200 (665334) 4470474
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share award scheme (continued)

The awards granted to each Director are registered under the names
of the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the dates on which the
awards were granted, as applicable.

# for the grant dated 24th August 2021 and 1st February 2022, awards
are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum
starting from 18th June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025.

of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two are Directors
whose emoluments are disclosed separately.

*k

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before 18th June 2024 on
which the vesting period for applicable tranche ended.

AN

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before 26th June 2024 on
which the vesting period for applicable tranche ended.

## being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before 4th July 2024 on
which the vesting period for applicable tranche ended.

All awards, except for awards granted on 24th August 2021 and
1st February 2022, are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25%
each per annum starting from the first anniversary from the date of
grant and will be fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of
grant.

Information on the accounting policy for share awards granted and
the value per award is provided in note 1(q)(iii) and note 23(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors of the Company or any of their spouses or
children under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Other than the Company’s Share Option Schemes and Share Award
Schemes as disclosed above and in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short FERRMRIRDRERRD 2
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares Ri#xR

As at 31st March 2025, the interest and short position of the RZZZEZHF=FA=+—H  REBEGEERPE
following person, other than the Directors of the Company, in the  {&HI) 55 336 KRR AFE 2 B BT -
shares and underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of RAQAFTESHZATEFEEEAATETRITR
the Company'’s issued share capital, as recorded in the register of ~ AN5%H U L2 AR AT RH R BBERHD < EE
interest required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of RXE®HHIWT :

the SFO are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares

LERYE
Trusts and Total * % of total
Personal Family Corporate similar number of issued
interests interests interests interests shares held shares
HEERT
Substantial Shareholders Note fER R
FERE B aE BB e DR EEES ARROEY 2B
Mr. Philip Chee Tat NG .
- 0] - - 83,164,000 (L) 56,896,000 (L) 140,060,000(L) 13.05
Mes. Kim Choo TAN .
Kim Choo TAN &+ (ii) - - 140,060,000 (L) - 140,060,000 (L) 13.05
Ms. Irene CHAN
s 23,514,700 (L - - 72,678,300 (L) 96,193,000 (L 8.96
BERELL (i) (L) (L) ()
Kuang Ming Investments Pte. Limited (iv) 86,104,000 (L) - - - 86,104,000 (L) 8.02
Mes. Joy Lo CHEUNG
EEE st (iif) 2,766,250 (L) - - 72,678,300 (L) 75,444,550 (L) 7.03
Dr. Keiko Aun FUKUDA
o Reo A i) 2400000 - - 72678300(1) 75078300 (1) 700
BEut
Mr. Christopher LYE
750,000 (L, - - 72,678,300 (L) 73,428,300 (L 6.84
REWLE i) © v )
Ms. Alexandra CHAN
BSR4 (iif) 610,000 (L) - - 72,678,300 (L) 73,288,300 (L) 6.83
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. v ) ) 64,313,539 (L) ) 64,313,539 (L) 5.99
ZZRKeREE 20,000(S) 20,000(S) 0.001
Mr. Chee Siong NG
s i - - - 54,678,000 (L) 54,678,000 (L 5.10
P (vi) (L) (L
Global Alpha Capital Management Ltd. (vii) - - 54140,985(L) - 54,140,985 (L) 5.05
(L denoted for long position (L) RERFE
(S) denoted for short position (S) REXKE
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares (continued)

This percentage has been compiled based on the total number of
shares of the Company in issue (i.e. 1,073,093,978 ordinary shares) as
at 31st March 2025.

(i) Mr. Philip Chee Tat NG is interested in 83,164,000 shares held by
corporations controlled by him and 56,896,000 shares as one of the
co-executors of the family trust.

(i) Ms. Kim Choo TAN is interested in 140,060,000 shares held by
corporations controlled by her.

(iii) Each of Ms. Irene CHAN, Ms. Joy Lo CHEUNG, Dr. Keiko Aun
FUKUDA, Mr. Christopher LYE and Ms. Alexandra CHAN is interested
in 72,678,300 shares held by The Bank of East Asia (Nominees)
Limited which holds such shares as a nominee for the Lo Kwee Seong
Foundation, a charitable trust. Each of them is a trustee of the Lo
Kwee Seong Foundation and is therefore deemed to be interested in
such shares.

(iv) Kuang Ming Investments Pte. Limited holds 86,104,000 shares as the
beneficial owner.

(v) These interests and short position are held by Mitsubishi UFJ Financial
Group, Inc. through its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

(vi) Mr. Chee Siong NG is interested in 54,678,000 shares as one of the
co-executors of the family trust.

(vii)  These interests are held by Global Alpha Capital Management Ltd. in
the capacity of investment manager.

Apart from the foregoing, no person, other than the Directors whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, has registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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TAZ—¥%E56896000 IR D HIRE -

(i) Kim Choo TANZ Tt REZEH ZEAMFEN
140,060,000 i R 15 P A 3% -
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(iv)  Kuang Ming Investments Pte. Limited fF 5 & %
B A5HE 86,104,000 B AR 17 °

(v) ZEEBRRARTHZ-ZZHKSREERBEBH
2EMBAREE -

(Vi) EEELEEBREEINERNTAZ—E
5 54,678,000 % B {2 HIFE RS o

(viii % E®#EJIHEGlobal Alpha Capital
Management Ltd. AR ERLB AN G MHEFHE ©
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Contract of Significance

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31st March 2025.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director of the Company or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Management Contracts

During the year ended 31st March 2025, no contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed.

Remuneration for Senior Management

The emoluments of the Senior Management, excluding Directors, by
bands are as follows:

BEXEH
BE—_E-_AF=A=1+—BHLFE &xQT
FEEMHBE AT EZERBRRIEEMHEE L
BB AEETIERELN -

EENEAXRS  BRHHSH 2=

ARARAREEANBLARABRERFERRFR
EAEE BAARAESREBAER (TWRE
BEYER)TVBEEAERZ RS  RERE
EEW-

EBAY
BE-ZE-RF=A=+—RLEE  #HE
YRITEERAIRAEEEZIREME RS
EBENEERTHEY -

REEEASZHME
RABES 2 BEEBAS (TREES) 25
ST :

Number of individuals

AB
Below HK$2,000,000 1
7B #£ 2,000,000 T AT
HK$2,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 >
78 % 2,000,001 T £ 78 ¥ 4,000,000 J©
HK$4,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 1
7B 4,000,001 7T = % # 6,000,000 7T
HK$6,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 )

7 6,000,001 7T £ & # 8,000,000 7T
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Employees and Human Resources Policy

Details of the number and remuneration of employees, human
resources policy, development and learning of the Group’s
employees are set out in the FY2024/2025 Sustainability Report to
be posted on the Company’s corporate website at www.vitasoy.com
together with this Annual Report.

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance was maintained during the
year.

Related Party Transactions

Details of material related party transactions entered into by the
Company in the normal course of business during the year ended
31st March 2025 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. In respect of each related party transaction disclosed
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
confirms that none of the transactions falls under the definition
of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and it has reviewed the
transactions which are in compliance with the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules (if applicable).

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Employee Retirement Benefits

Particulars of employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 259 and
260 of this Annual Report.

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year ended 31st March 2025, the Company, through
its subsidiary, bought back a total of 4,232,000 issued shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
(excluding expenses) of approximately HK$40,449,000. Details of
the shares bought back are set out below:

B SRKEF
ARASERESEAERNZHBERNEEUY
WRMEE22

LEMBERR
AEERBARENRFEZEE EERE
R ERARFRE 259 R 260K -

BE - HESNBEAQARz EmiEs

REBEZEZZE_HAF=A=1+—-HLEEE  &x2Q
FAEBAEMB L TARERATERS 4,232,000
BAQATCHTIRG  BREFEEHEIY
AB# 40,449,000 7T - BEIR MO FHBHIWOT :

Purchase price per share

Number i Aggregate
of shares BREER consideration
Month/Year bought back Highest Lowest (excluding expenses)
A& BEiEMEE e =B ERE(TEERX)
000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
i i B BT T

March 2025
—m—rE=f 4,232 10.00 9.08 40,449

No shares bought back were cancelled prior to the financial year. #MEBLEORONRVIBFERFZHE B82=2F

As at 31st March 2025, the total number of shares in issue was
1,073,093,978 shares and the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

The Board was of the view that the on-market share buy-backs were
conducted in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. The share buy-backs represent the Company’s confidence in
its business outlook and prospects, and may lead to an enhancement
of the earnings per share thereby creating value for shareholders of
the Company.

—THEHFE=ZRA=1+t-—-H BBITRHOBHSE
1,073,093,9781% » MA R B W EFEEMET
B3 °

EXZERA TS LBERRODAEQARRE

HEHEXEBISRREZEL LAIRSERE
Mo EMAARRBRRAEEE -
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Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities (continued)

During the year, the trustee of the Company’s 2021 Share Award
Scheme purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 1,300,000
shares of the Company at a total consideration of approximately
HK$7.6 million to satisfy the award of shares to selected participants
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the 2021 Share
Award Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 24th June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZBEMERE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 124 to 258, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March
2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31st March 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BUBBEEE
BamnEREERRATAKE
(REBAMAELHIBRL )

=R

AZEE (UTEBIERM) EEFNEARE
124 Z 258 EMEMEREEER AR (UT
BRIEQAA D REWNBAT (UTHBIEE
B NGREAUBERE  MPBRRERTR=-Z
“HEZRA=T-BMSRAUBRIREER
ZALFENGAEER HABEERHEME
AlRER GEEZEBRINGERESRER
UEKsE BEEASTHRRENRHMEE

EMRA 2SRV BBERCRBEES BT
MASEAN(ERBYBREENSHERNE
BEmPsttRkRT SEXEER-Z-HF=A
=T -BENREHBEHRRKR BEEEBEZA
HFEENGRMBRARGEESRE AT
BREB(QRAMM)ZAHE -

BRRHOER
EMERBEBTBEFMOASHEAN(EBES
ZRDETET - RAEZRSEATRENER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BRI IR

Key audit matters FARETSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FBIREFSEERBERMNELHE  THY
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~AHI4G M EHREANBHIBZAEENSE &
financial statements of the current period. These matters were EEEEERMEERERAHERRELEE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial ERBFETEREN RIS HELEEIEMR
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we EBNER -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition from sales to distributors and retailers

EAREIPHBNFEFHENWA

Refer to note 3 and the accounting policies in note 1(u) to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HAGREUBRRMEIRMFELNEEBER -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
FARETSE RPN FNAREZEE

The Group's revenue is principally generated from sales  Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
of food and beverages to a large number of distributors from sales to distributors and retailers included the

and retailers. following:
EEENBAZZERARRZOHERNZERHER BMARTREERIARBIHEENZERTHENEADN
mRME e B RRFEEUNTSE
Revenue from sales to distributors and retailers is o assessing the design, implementation and operating
recognised when the customer takes possession of and effectiveness of management’s key internal controls
accepts the Group’s food and beverage products, which over revenue recognition;
generally occurs when the products are delivered to the FHEEBERWAERWERAIBIZ B RS
location designated by the customers. BRETEMRM
RESPHENZERHENKAEEFEERE
T BEEENEREEREREER  E—MRETEM e inspecting sales contracts with distributors and
FREZTEFIEEMBERAE - retailers, on a sample basis, to understand the
trade terms agreed with individual customers and
There are a large number of individual sales transactions assessing the Group’s revenue recognition policies
each year which increase the risk of errors arising in the with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
recognition of revenue. accounting standards;
EXESFRERENEARNEERS  BEEMTIHMA REAEEREHSHANSERRITNHEESR
BREEERNER o Dt 7THEENEFAENRZGRR > XSEZRT

S ERNRETME BEERENWAERBCR

° comparing, on a sample basis, sales transactions
recorded during the financial reporting period with
the corresponding goods delivery notes, which
contained evidence of acknowledgement of the
customers’ receipt of the goods, and assessing if
the related revenue was properly recognised in
accordance with the trade terms set out in the
respective sales contracts;
BREREENRUBEBREHABACENEER S HE
HENREE #EBEEFEEFEIARIEYHN
FH FEERRARSEREBEEENEESEFP
&R B IRFRFERD
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Key audit matters (continued) FARETSZE @

Revenue recognition from sales to distributors and retailers

ERRASHENTEFHENRA

Refer to note 3 and the accounting policies in note 1(u) to the consolidated financial statements.

H2HRE B MRMEIRMEE L) EEER -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

FAREEIE RPN FNAEREZEE

We identified the recognition of revenue from sales e assessing, on a sample basis, whether specific
to distributors and retailers as a key audit matter revenue transactions recorded around the end of the
because the revenue generated therefrom accounts financial reporting period had been recognised in the
for the majority of the Group’s revenue and involves appropriate financial period by inspecting the trade
large number of individual sales contracts and because terms agreed with the individual customers and the
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of delivery status of the relevant products;

the Group which increases the risk of misstatement BREABREFARESHBENETEFMHEZRZHER
of the timing and amount of revenue recognised by URBBEERORMTRE S EEMBREPE
management to achieve specific performance targets or AETHNBEERARZEGEEBEENMKE™E
expectations AR

EMEEIREBIEENZEFHENRAT RERE
BIBE DAHEANWRAL SEBWRANELRI o  identifying credit notes issued and sales returns from

PESRREMEBBEESE  BRFEEARAZ &5 the sales ledger subsequent to the financial reporting
EREF—EEREREE SEMNTEERBRAER period which met specific risk-based criteria and
S EEE R R TEMERER A S S BRI RS o by making enquiries of management and inspecting

relevant underlying documentation to assess if
the related revenue had been accounted for in the
appropriate financial period in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
and

B BEREHENSR ERAREENHERAERC
HACECENEERE WEBHABNEEERR
EHEBAXBFEXGUTEEHBRARSCRBRTSE
SEANREREENMEABER R

° inspecting manual adjustments to revenue during
the reporting period which met specific risk-based
criteria, enquiring of management about the reasons
for such adjustments and comparing details of the
adjustments with relevant underlying documentation.
REMBREHRTSISERBRZEL WA FIEN
FHRAE NEEESHEBRAZRNEHRFAEME
BN EBFES -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BRI IR

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BRI IR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BRI IR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BRI IR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice (practising certificate number:
P05015).

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24th June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FAEER

&

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

2025 2024
Note —FZhHEF —EMF
ik $'000 Tt $000 Tt

I;;fnue 3 6,273,585 6,217,123

;:;; ;sz ZsFaIes (3,056,039) (3,105,686)

G%r;;s profit 3,217,546 3,111,437

gzg&rxome 4 76,034 84,243

;;agék?t;;%sgI/i];g%a%dﬂgistribution expenses (1,900,716) (1,976,349)

?A;imrzgsﬁgrative expenses (694,418) (700,989)

gggég% ng expenses 5(c) (334,871) (332,910)

I::E:ig;;m operations 363,575 185,432

%g}fzeyﬁm 5(a) (33,116) (30,028)

iyl e e

;;;;;ﬁ bg;;e taxation 5 316,990 131,668

Lr;;?; tax é(a) (76,422) (13,880)

;;;ﬁg}: ;Ee year 117,788

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBRER

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

2025 2024
Note —FZhHEF —EC-OEF
M & $'000 Tt $000 Tt
Attributable to:
THIALE:
Equity shareholders of the Company
n 234,674 116,367
TATREFEA
Non-controlling interests
g e 5,894 1,421
IR SR

Profit for the year
240,568 ,

Earnings per share

BREF

Basic

B=9N

Diluted
?éé%e 21.9 Centsll 10.8 Cents il

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial £ 133F 2588 2 Mz AR IEHRKR < — 201
statements.

10

21.9 Centsll 10.9 CentsAili

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company HABEAEEZANTENTIAATREZEAZ
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 25(b). B 2B E A M EE 25(b) ©
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&

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

FZeRskHEMEEEER

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2025
—ELF
$'000 ¥t

Note
Mt &
Profit for the year
AEERF
Other comprehensive income for the year (after tax) .

AEEHMBE IS (FRFEE)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

HETEWRENIBEHS2HA -

Remeasurement of employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERKNBANEEZEHNTE

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

HETRHEEM S EZRS2EAB

Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of

subsidiaries and joint venture outside Hong Kong
RBEFBUMEM B LRI REE AR Z WK ®RER M
EECELERE
Cash flow hedge: net movement in the hedging reserve
REREBHH  HHREBFEY
Total comprehensive income for the year

AEEEHRERE

Attributable to:
THALE:

Equity shareholders of the Company
AARRERFE A
Non-controlling interests

FERES

Total comprehensive income for the year

AFEEEHNERE

2024
—E-NE
$°000 F 7t

240,568

(15,953)

222,239

214,603

7,636

222,239

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial

statements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

117,788

5,086

(107,884)

(1,748)

13,242

18,205

(4,963)

13,242

551332 258 A2 EETI AN B B ¥Rk 2 — &R 7 o



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEAMBIAR

At 31st March 2025 R=ZE-HF=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

2025 2024
Note —¥-EF —F-RF

g3 EAR b LV b Al $'000 Tt $°000 F T

Non-current assets

FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment
£ 'FXJQE&BX 11(3)

- Investment properties
-REYR
- Right-of-use assets

-EHERE

- Other property, plant and equipment
-HuE - BERZE

2,872 2,998
420,266 432,285
2,354,881 2,668,137

2,778,019 3,103,420

Deposits for the acquisition of property,
plant and equlpment 11(f)
%E%% BERRZREZIT®

Intan bEIe assets 12

S

Interest in joint venture 14
ENA 2R

Deferred tax assets
EEDEEE 250
Other receivables 16
H i FE IR

PIedged deposit
RELEH e

1,112

119

226,078 269,555
18,178 15,419
819 -

3,023,166 3,389,625
Current assets

REBEE

!Tn;z\;ntones 15 533,268 554,546
%ﬁgeﬁ Eand Bgtﬁh%rﬂ r%?zlvables 16 823,619 873,312

%&%ﬁ’tﬁﬁ%}%%coverable 24(a) 172 A9

Cash and bank dep05|ts
Py Vet 17(a) 1,268,475 794,452

Assets held for sale

BELEZEE = 2
2,625,534 2,247,070

Current liabilities

mENBE

Trade and other payables 19

FEA BR R EL A BB 19 3K

Bank loans

BTEE 20

Lease liabilities 271

HEEE

Current tax payable
IR B BIR 24(a)

1,771,019 1,824,727
228,916 255,987
109,921 104,865

32,129 39,797

2,141,985 2,225,376

Net current assets
BRBEE Q)

Total assets less current liabilities 3,506,715 3,411,319

BEERTBEE
Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @

21,694




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R A B IR R &

At 31st March 2025 R=ZE-HF=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

2025 2024
Note —¥-EHF —E-NF
B 5 EXO G ST A X Sl $'000 Tt $'000 F T

Non-current liabilities
EREBHEaE

Bank loans

RITER

Lease liabilities

HE&E

Employee retirement benefit liabilities
EERAKEFAE

Deferred tax liabilities
EEHIEEE

Other payables
H it AR

20 36,482 -

21 188,239 198,000

22(b) 24,216 19,164

24(b) 66,414 72,563

19 9,182 8,955

324,533 298,682
NET ASSETS
FEE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BARRGHE
Share capital
fg A
Reserves

f#E

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 3,083,158 3,004,560
AR ESE AEIGRESAH

Non-controlling interests

3,182,182 3,112,637

25 1,047,526 1,044,398

2,035,632 1,960,162

99,024

JEtEpRRESS 108,077
TOTAL EQUITY

" 3,182,182

Py 3,112,637

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson24th RZZE_AF AT NAEEETSHELR

June 2025. FEE M o

Winston Yau-lai LO Roberto GUIDETTI
ERE £

Director Director

EE EZE

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial 585133 & 258 H ZMizE I AR HERFK =2 —Eh1D ©
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARRBER

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—ZE-—FF=A=1t—HLLEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ADAREHEARL
Shares held for
share award Share-based
scheme compensation Non-

Share  RA%E Capital Surplus Other General Hedgng ~ Exchange reserve Retained controlling Total
capital e reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve RAER Profits Total interests equity
k& Rt EARE O BRER  EMBE  -REE  HMBE  ERRR  RERRE  REMM At FEREE  EREE

(note 25(c)i)  (note 25(d))  (note 25(e)ii)  (note 25(e)fi)  (note 25(e)i) (note 25()(v)) ~ (note 25()(v)) ~ (note 25(e)vi))

Note  (WEDSION)  (W&E2sld)  (W&2S(E) (BWYSE2s(eli)  (HEE 2steli) (KEE25eliv)  (RYEE2s(el) (YR 2s(elv)

B $000Fx  $00Fm  $000Fm  $000Fx  S00Fx  $000Fxm  $000Fm  $000Fx  $00Fm  §000Fm  S000Fm  S000FR  $000FR

Balance at 1st April 2023
H-B-ZEMA-RER 1021453 (7.226) 30,304 126,602 (200555) 2261 1748 (113544 TN 2046551 2984715 15875 3100590

Changes in equity for the year:
REEVRRE:

Profit for the year
REREA

Qther comprehensive income

Ef2EYE

116367 116367 141 117,788

9 = = = = = = (1748 (101,500) = 5086 (98,162) (6384 (10454¢)

Total comprehensive income

EEYELE

Transfer from surplus reserve to
retained profits - - - (6,576) - - - - - 6,576
BERREEREREEA

Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 25(e)l) - - (1218 - - - - - - 1218
BERRHEERZREEA

Shares issued on exercise of share
options 25(c)i) 19791 - - - - - - - (3824) - 15967 - 15967
RTEBRERRIRG
Shares issued on vesting of share
awards 25(c)i) 3154 - - - - - - - (3,154)
HEBROZBMEGRG

Vesting shares pursuant to the share
award scheme 25() - 4516 - - - - - - (4773) 257
RERDER SRR

Share purchased for share award
scheme 25(d) - (6,171) - - - - - - - - (6,471) - (6,471)
RROKETHBERS

Transfer from share-based
compensation reserve to retained
profits

AR ERREREERZRZET

Equity settled share-based transactions

HRBANHER2RS

Final dividend approved in respect of
the previous year 25()ii - - - - - - - - - (15017) (15017) - (15,017)
HEBRL-FE2ABRE

Interim dividend declared in respect of
the current year 2500} s - - - - - - - > (15,004 (15,004 = (15004
ENAEE RS

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - - - - (2839) (2839)
nFERERRERS

Balance at 31t March 2024
HoB-MEZR=4-ALR 1044398 (8881) 29,086 120026 200,555) 2261 - (215,044) 85920 2147349 3004560 108077 3112637

(1748)  (101,500) o 121453 18205 (4963 13242

(1319) 1315

21865 e 21865 > 21865

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial 5133 ZF 258 H 2 MisE I AN IEHREK 2 — 301D °
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

Attributable to eﬁ\uity shareholders of the Company
NARERE AR

Shares held for
share award Share-hased
scheme compensation Non-
Share e ] Capital Surplus Other General Exchange reserve Retained controlling Total
aptldl  GHEEE reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve SH Profits Total interests etgity
R 3 ARE  BBRE  EREE  -REE Eifie  WERE  REE At FERES  ERER
(note 25(c)(l) ~ (note25(d)) (note 25(e)(l)  (note 25(e)fi) (note 25(elii) }noteZS(e)(w]) 5note25[eilv]) }noteZS(e)(w))
Note  (WaE2s(cli)  (Mvitosle)  (MR2sll) (WR2sieli) (ME2s(eli) mniZS(e)(lvl) W25 (WE25(vi)
LE: $000Fx  $000FE  $000Fm  $000Fm  S000FT  S000FT $000Fw  $000Fm  §000Fm  §000FE  $000FEm  S000FR
Balainci at ?%Btzallarch 2024and
st April
W-B-ME=RZ+-AR 1044398 (8,881) 29,086 120026 200,555) 2261 (215,044) 85920 2147349 3004560 108077 3112637
ZEZMERA-RER
Chanées ingguitg}for the year:
Profit for the year
g 234674 234674 5894 240,568
e e one 9 (17693 - e mom 1 (839
Sl i ol (176%9) - M M T 1y
Transfer from surp\us reserve to
retame Eo fits - - - (26,814) 26814
BERRAERERZEN
Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 2506l - - (1,218) 1218
BEARREREREET
Shares issued on vesting of share
_ awards ) 250 3128 (3.128)
FERROZBMETRL
Vesting shares pursuant to the share
award scheme 5331 (8073) 2736
REROERABRRS
Share purchased for share award
_ sheme 25(d) - (7553) (7553) (7,553
RRORBHHRERS
Transfer from share-based
compensation reserve to retained (10862 10862
profits ' '
BRAERREREERZRERT
Equity settled share-based transactions
1B é LisER R 2781 21781 21781
-] 1
%%eﬁb&nback 2510 (40,595) (40,595) (40,595)
Final dividend approved in respect of
the previous year 250 (67,520) (67,520) (67,520)
HEBRL-FE2 KBRS
Interim dividend declared in respect of
the current ear 25(b)f) (42870) (42870) (42,870
EfAEEZRERE
Dividends pa\d to non-controling
interest (1,710) (1,710)
H?FPMMME
Unclaimed dividend write back
aney 752 752 752
Retuhrn oL c‘aé)\tal toa ng)ndcontrollmg
shareholder of a subsidiary
H-BREAIZEERRRRE (14979) (14979)
ﬁZK
Balance at 31t March 2025
HoE-RECATi-Ras 1,047,526 (11,097) 27,868 93212 200,555) 2261 (232,739) 85638 2271104 3083158 99024 3182182
L During the year, the Company, through its subsidiary, bought FR AKLQNTEHRENBEATSULEREY

back 4,232,000 issued shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at a total consideration of
approximately $40,449,000. Together with the direct transaction
cost of approximately $146,000, a total amount of $40,595,000 was
accounted for as a deduction from retained profits. For details of the
share buy-back, please refer to note 25(c)(iii).

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial
statements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FALRERER

&

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE

o

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

2025
Note —¥-EF
FiaE $'000 Tt $'000 T

Operating activities

REEH
Cash generated from operations

p 17(b 889,929
EEEBHERS 2
Tax paid:
ERHIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

24,735

B#EERER Eazie

- Tax paid outside Hong Kong
-EHEBUIMERIE

Net cash generated from operating activities

RETEHBRALESE

Investing activities

REEH

Payment for the purchase of property, plant
and equipment (124,685)

BEWMX BERRKHB2ZX

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment

HEME - BE R REAEHE

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale

HERFESECEEMERE

Placement of time deposit maturing after three
months

FEGRHBEB=BA2EHER

Withdrawal of time deposit maturing after
three months 151,486

REOFRHAEB=EA 2EHFX

Placement of pledged deposits

FERFSER

Investment in joint venture

(6,177)

859,017

(853)

ims 13,469
RABATZER $RE
Interest received

36,531
2WRE
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing
activities

REFBBFRE(FMA)RLFHE

2024
—T-MmE

$'000 ¥t  $'000 F T

801,070

(1,168)

(9,359)

790,543

(146,298)

3,515

(151,000)

(23,736)

23,225

(294,294)

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2025 BZ—E A =A=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

Note
Ff 5
Financing activities
& EE
Proceeds from new bank loans 17(0)
LR ITERBRIR
Ee\[fynjc_ar:t S,t bank loans 17(0)
BERITER
Capital element of lease rentals paid 17(0)
EfHERS 2 EXRT MG
Interest element of lease rentals paid 17(0)
ENEEREZAEINH
Interest on bank loans paid 17(0)
ENRITERZFE
Payment for repurchase of shares
W15 2 308 231Xl
Proceeds from shares issued on exercise of
share options 25(c)(ii)

MITEBRERTROMERE
Purchase of shares held for share award
scheme 25(d)
RO RBTEBEERS
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
the Company
EAQTREFEARERE

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

3R ERIKERE

Return of capital to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary

[ —REHE AR ZFERRRBREER

Net cash used in financing activities

METHARRARERE

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
ReRFAEEEBIEMESE

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st April
REBR—BZzR&ERRELEEHIEE
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Exgyooe

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st March

R=A=+—HA2BReRBLSEEH Ve

The notes on pages 133 to 258 form part of these financial

statements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

2024
—E-nfF

$'000 Tt $000 Tt R0 0IE= A Ye0 0I5

309,665

(298,197)

(101,553)

(19,424)

(13,692)

(40,595)

(7,553)

(110,198)

(1,710)

(14,979)

(298,236)

626,674

642,954

(X))

1,268,475

61,334

(310,365)

(101,412)

(10,550)

(19,478)

15,967

(6,171)

(29,983)

(2,835)

(403,493)

92,756

554,785

(4,587)

642,954

55133 E 258 H 2 MR T AN B #R 3k .z — &R 17 o



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS SRR B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March
2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 1(t).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see note 1(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRS

Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial

statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 2.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
Non-current liabilities with covenants

- Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

- Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments Disclosure: Supplier finance
arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in these financial statements. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries (including structured entities) are entities controlled
by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power,
only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting
or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls
the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative
tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of
contractual arrangements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with notes
1(n) or 1(o) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture
(see note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)ii))
unless it is classified as held for sale (see note 1(y)).

(e) Joint venture

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified
as held for sale (see note 1(y))). Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group'’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The
cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct
investment into the joint venture that forms part of the Group’s
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see note
1(j)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Joint venture (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group'’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint control over a
joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

(f)  Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(i)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 1(j)ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(f)  Investment properties (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of investment
properties using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years.

The useful life of investment properties is reviewed annually.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 1(u)(iii).

(g) Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)):

- Freehold land and buildings;

- Interests in leasehold land and building where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(i));

- Right-of use assets arising from leases over freehold or
leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

- Other items of plant and equipment including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment
(see note 1(i)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note
1(w)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant
and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The proceeds from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(g) Other property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Freehold land is not depreciated.

- Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 25 years.

- Leasehold land and buildings are depreciated over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,

being no more than 50 years.

- Other plant and equipment:

Factory machinery and equipment 3 - 25 years
Fixtures, furniture and office equipment 3 - 12 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 10 years

No provision for depreciation is made for construction in progress
until such time when the assets are substantially completed and
ready for use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Brand name 20 years
- Customer list 7 years
- Pollution discharge right 5 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i)  Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(g) and
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The rental income from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 1(u)(iii).

()  Credit loss and impairment of assets
(i) Credit loss from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") on financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

Where the effect of discounting is material, the expected cash
shortfalls are discounted using the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation thereof for trade and other
receivables.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Credit loss from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
and investment properties;

- intangible assets;
- interest in joint venture; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 1(j)(i) and (ii)).

(k) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

()  Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(j)(i)).

(m) Software-as-a-service (SaaS) arrangement costs

A Saa$ arrangement is a service arrangement where the Group has a
right to access to the supplier’s application software running on the
supplier’s cloud infrastructure during the term of the arrangement,
but not control over the underlying software asset.

Costs to implement a SaaS arrangement, including those incurred in
configuring or customising the access to the supplier’s application
software, are evaluated to determine if they give rise to a separate
asset that the Group controls. Any resulting asset is recognised and
accounted for in accordance with the policy for intangible assets as
set out in note 1(h). Implementation costs that do not give rise to an
asset are recognised in profit or loss as incurred, which may be over
the period the configuration or customisation services are received
to the extent that such services are distinct from the SaaS, or over
the term of the SaaS arrangement to the extent the configuration or
customisation services are not distinct from the SaaS.

Payment made in advance of receiving the related services is
recognised as prepayment.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(o) Payables and contract liabilities
(i) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(i) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
note 1(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 1(l)).

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(j)(i).

() Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are charged as expense in the year as the related service are
provided by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group has the following two categories of defined benefit plans:

- defined benefit retirement plan registered under the Hong
Kong Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance, Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited Defined Benefit Scheme (the
“DB Plan”); and

- long service payments (“LSP”) under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods and discounting that amount. For the DB Plan, the net
obligation is after deducting the fair value of plan assets. For LSP
obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. For the
DB Plan, when the calculation results in a benefit to the Group,
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans, which comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets in the DB Plan
(excluding interest) and the effect of any asset ceiling (excluding
interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.
Net interest expense for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the reporting period to the then net defined benefit
liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability during the period. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss and

» o«

allocated by function as part of “cost of sales”, “marketing, selling and

distribution expenses”, “administrative expenses” or “other operating
expenses”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company.
These plans comprise share option schemes and a share award
scheme.

The fair value of share options or share awards granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in
the share-based compensation reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options or the awarded shares were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options or the awarded shares, the
total estimated fair value of the options or the awarded shares is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options or the awarded shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options or the
awarded shares that are expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options or
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is only
due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company'’s shares.

For the share option schemes, the equity amount is recognised in the
share-based compensation reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the
shares issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

For the share award scheme, the Group may acquire its own shares
through the trustee of the share award scheme on the Stock
Exchange for the shares to be vested under the share award scheme.
The shares acquired by the Group that are not yet vested for this
share award scheme were recorded as treasury shares and recorded
as “Shares held for share award scheme” as a deduction under
equity. Upon vesting of the awarded shares, the related costs of the
acquired shares are reduced from the “Shares held for share award
scheme”, and the related fair value of the awarded shares are debited
to share-based compensation reserve with the difference charged/
credited to equity.

The Group may also issue new shares for the vested share awards.
The amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share capital upon the issuance of new
shares.

(iv)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

(r)  Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals
of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(t) Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge
of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability or a
highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of
a committed future transaction, the effective portion of any gains
or losses on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument
to fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve. The
ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument is a non-derivative monetary item, which
is permitted only for foreign currency risk, then the effective portion
of the foreign currency gains or losses on the hedging instrument
also are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion
of any foreign currency gains or losses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the
associated gain or loss reclassified from equity is to be included in
the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Cash flow hedges (continued)

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated
gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss (such as when interest income or expense is
recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding
two policy statements, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which
the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship
but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity until the
transaction occurs and it is recognised in accordance with the above
policy. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place,
the cumulative unrealised gain or loss is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss immediately.

(u) Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing
is 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. If the products are a partial fulfilment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then the amount
of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated between all the goods
and services promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(i)  Service fees

Service fees are recognised when the related services are provided.
Service fees exclude value added tax or other sales taxes.

(iii)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note

().
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)
(v)  Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(v)  Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss,
except those non-derivative monetary items used to hedge foreign
currency risk which are recognised in other comprehensive income
(see note 1(t)).

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(v)  Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a subsidiary outside Hong Kong, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that subsidiary
outside Hong Kong is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that
in substance form part of the net investment in an operation outside
Hong Kong, together with any related tax, are reclassified to equity
on consolidation.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(x)  Repair and maintenance expenditure

Repair and maintenance expenditure, including cost of overhaul, is
expensed as incurred.

(y)  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather
than through continuing use.

Such assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, property, plant and equipment are no
longer depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer
equity accounted.

(z) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

2  Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 14, 22 and 23 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to interest in joint venture impairment
assessment, defined benefit retirement liabilities and the fair value
of share options and share awards granted. Other key sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment may not be recoverable, the assets may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. Under HKAS 36,
these assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated
by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sales volume, selling
prices and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount. However, actual sales
volumes, selling prices and operating costs may be different from
assumptions which may require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the assets affected. Details of the nature and carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 11.

(b) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets
can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax benefits
can be utilised, management judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment
is constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. Details of the nature
and carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are disclosed in note
24(b).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(@) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
food and beverages.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net of
returns, rebates and discounts.

No disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is
presented as the entire revenue of the Group is derived from the
manufacture and sale of food and beverages, and is recognised at
point in time.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by entities, which are organised
geographically. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following four
reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

- The Mainland China business mainly represents the
manufacture and sale of soya milk, tea, juice, etc. in Mainland
China;

- The Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR
and Exports) mainly represents the manufacture and sale
of soya milk, tea, water, juice, tofu, etc. in Hong Kong SAR,
sale of beverages in Macau SAR, export of beverages from
Hong Kong SAR and the operating of tuck shops and catering
businesses in Hong Kong SAR;

- The Australia and New Zealand business mainly represents
the manufacture and sale of soya milk and other plant milk
products in Australia and sale of beverages in New Zealand;
and

- The Singapore business mainly represents the manufacture
and sale of soya related products in Singapore, sale of
beverages in Singapore and the export of soya related
products.

All of the Group’s revenue is generated from the manufacture and
sale of food and beverages.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s most senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of interest in joint venture,
deferred tax assets, current tax recoverable and unallocated head
office and corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade creditors
and bills payable attributable to the manufacture and sales activities
of the individual segments, bank loans, lease liabilities and other
liabilities managed directly by the segments with the exception of
employee retirement benefit liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, current
tax payable and unallocated head office and corporate liabilities.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “profit from
operations”. To arrive at “profit from operations”, the Group's profit
is further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as finance costs, share of losses of joint venture,
integration expenses in relation to the assumption of full ownership
of Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd (“VAP”) and unallocated
head office and corporate expenses. Income tax is not allocated to
reporting segments. Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a
profit margin.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

3 WARSER R (@
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued) 3 WARDERERE (m)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) I E (@)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (i) DEB¥E ZEERBE(H)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided BE-_Z-_HFR-_ZE-_NE=A=+—-HL
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes FE @ BEERAEEGSETHREEASRM
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for ZEREBEERSBRBTE2BAREDHER

the years ended 31st March 2025 and 2024 is set out below: HymT
Mainland China Hong Kong Operation Australia and New Zealand Singapore Total
FE R BRER MR EE 3R a5t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

ZECRE —EomE ZBE-RE —EopmE ZECRE —E-mE ZBCEE —E-mE ZESRE —EoME
$000FT  $000Fx  $000FT  $000F;w  $000FET  $o00F;k  $000FET  $000Fiw  $000FT  $000F T

Revenue from external customers 3363197 3359080 2260649 2224359 543608 526676 106131 107008 6273585  6217.123

REMEREEZHA

gtggée@ff”t revenue 173179 148870 100,203 34232 2,826 3,253 3,282 3650 279490 190005
Reportable segment revenue

BHESBIUA 3536376 3507950 2360852 2258591 546434 529929 109413 110658 6553075 6,407,128

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
from operations 311,359 220,535 278,969 224,746 (77,013) (80,890) (7,729) (12,855) 505,586 351,536
AREI B2 EEET /(B8

Interest income

FEWA

Finance costs

A&

Depreciation and amortisation for
the year (292,028) (306,955) (190,306) (190,244) (22,281) (20,080) (5,578) (5,695) (510,193) (522,974)

AEEZNEREHE

(Recognition)/reversal of

impairment losses on property,

plant and equipment (14,513 (14,009) 33 1,843 = - = - (14,480) (12,166)
(BR) /RENE  BERRE

ZHERE
Impairment losses on assets held

for sale - (3,593) - - - - - - - (3,593)
BFELEZEEZRERR

Reportable segment assets
ARESDSRE 2372148 2641289 4374207 4164017 444,929 431,439 89,068 117809 7,280,352 7,354,554

2,270 1,756 34,928 20,835 1,000 634 8 - 38,206 23225

(12,339) (13,181) (16,561) (10,434) (3,736) (5,969) (480) (444) (33,116) (30,028)

Reportable segment liabilities
1,617,612 1,191,251 261,893 31,883 3,102,639
ERESBY A 1,922,598 1,148,531 338,454 32,812 3,442,395

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year 50,583 50,678 137,836 312,256 34,259 43,165 5,011 879 227,689 406,978
AEEHEZERBIDEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities

3 WARZBHEE @

(b) ZEFHE (@)

Revenue

9N

Reportable segment revenue
AREDEZWA
Elimination of inter-segment revenue

72 EBE WA Z 8

Consolidated revenue

malA

Profit or loss

bi=b

Reportable segment profit from operations
ARED 2 L& HEH

Finance costs (note 5(a))

Al & B AN (BT EE 5(a))

Share of losses of joint venture

FriE &% A A&

Integration expenses in relation to assumption of full ownership of VAP

BEEEVAPZ I EEEEENESHX
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses

ROz B LR REXE

Consolidated profit before taxation

RERRBLATER

(i) HAFEEDDBKA - Bz BEREE
2R
2025 2024
—EERF —ZE-ME
$'000 ¥t $000 F T
6,553,075 6,407,128
(279,490) (190,005)
6,273,585 6,217,123
2024
—EomE
$'000 F it
505,586 351,536
(33,116) (30,028)
(13,469) (23,736)
(9,704)
(142,011) (156,400)
131,668

316,990
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

(b)
(ii)

AR5 B8R & (|

2 EBERE (80

RAEED KA - 182 - BERERE
2 HRR (4&)

2025 2024
ot Sk - —E-E
$’'000 Tt $'000 F 7t

Assets

BE

Reportable segment assets
AREDH2EE

Elimination of inter-segment receivables

20 R ) FE WK Sz 8

Deferred tax assets

ERERIBEE

Current tax recoverable

FE WA HA B TR

Unallocated head office and corporate assets

APBMZBRBREEEE

Consolidated total assets

mEREE

7,280,352 7,354,554

(1,898,057) (2,006,347)

5,382,295 5,348,207

226,078 269,555
172 18,136

40,155 797

5,648,700 5,636,695
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

3 WARZBHEE @

(b) 2 EBIFE (@)
(i) BIREDEBWA - Bz
ZE R ()

EERERE

2025
—EZhREF
$'000 T

2024
—E-MmE
$'000 F 7t

Liabilities

=i

Reportable segment liabilities
AREDIHZ2EE

Elimination of inter-segment payables

70 B 8 FE A K2 88

Employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERABENER

Deferred tax liabilities

ELEBIEEE

Current tax payable

FEA IR BB E

Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities

ROBzBRAREXER

Consolidated total liabilities
meERaRs

3,102,639

(759,267)

2,343,372

24,216
66,414
32,129

387

2,466,518

3,442,395

(1,050,176)

2,392,219

19,164

72,563

39,797

315

2,524,058
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(iii)  Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographic
location of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, deposits for
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and interest in joint venture (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographic location of the specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment and deposits for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and the location of
operations, in the case of interest in joint venture.

3 WARSER R (@

(b) I E (@)
(i)  HEZHF
TREINEBRFAEEYE BERRE2HIE
NE BEVE RERLREZITS 8FE
ERREELTAZER (BEERBEE] 2
ER -MYWE BERREBERBEEWE BE
REZIEME BEEARBDEE 2 HEN
ENREZEECERHEEE REFEE
MEEEERBECERXFIEN  RREEQ
BZERMES NIEERTER o

Specified non-current assets

Mainland China

HRE it

Hong Kong Operation
BBER

Australia and New Zealand
UM B2 % 75 B

Singapore

#103K

BEFRRBEE
2025 2024
—ELF —E-NE
$'000 F it $'000 F 7T
1,752,631 2,024,787
730,304 784,991
251,944 251,062
43,212 43,811
2,778,091 3,104,651

The revenue from external customers and specified non-current
assets of the Group attributed to Hong Kong, the Group’s place of
domicile, amounted to $2,025,316,000 (2024: $1,962,229,000) and
$722,235,000 (2024: $775,554,000) respectively.

BB (FNEBEFEM) HAEEREIEHE
BZRARAEBBEXARDEES A A
2,025,316,000 7t (ZZ =94 : 1,962,229,0005)
722,235,000 5t (Z& =4 : 775,554,000 7¢T) ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

4  Otherincome 4 HpA
2025 2024
—E-hRF —E-MEF
$’000 F It $'000 F 7t
Government grants (Note)
. 30,818
B Bh (BEE)
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 17(c)) 787
2019 BAR RS HEEIFE € BiR (EE 17(c))
Interest income
23,225
F B U A
Rental income
4,278
HEWA
Scrap sales
5,287
EREE
Rebate from a vendor on acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3.675
MEBBEVE BRERXEBERESMESZE ’
Maintenance recharge income
\ 11,007 8,058
e B E IR A
Sundry income
> 8,251 8,115
HEIEU A
Note: FTEE -

During the previous year, government grants of $24,137,000 were received REEAFE —EBHEE-_ZFZ-_ZFRPERBNE
from the government of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) in relation to EMESHEARENE (HE]) BN —£#EH
an investment in Mainland China in 2020. No such grant was received in the 24,137,000 7 ° #iE RN E RN EBZMHE -

current year.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

5 BRWRANEd

BRBADERE KR (GEA) ¢

Finance costs:

RLE R

Interest on bank loans (note 17(c))
IRITERZHE (M 17(c)

Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c))
HEEBE2HME (i 17(c)

Staff costs:

BIAA:

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
REMFRKG B 2 HK

Net expenses recognised in respect of:
UTEBZ2CHRRAERFE

- Retirement gratuities (note 22(c)(v))

- RARE (MR 22(c)(v))

- Long service payments (note 22(d)(i))
-RERHE S (M 22(d)i)

Total retirement costs
#IR PR 2N

Equity settled share-based payment expenses (note 23)

LR B RER 2 &M (MfEE23)

Severance payments

EHER

Salaries, wages and other benefits

¥e  TERHEMBER

2025 2024
—E-HF —E-MEF
$'000 F 3t $000 T 7t

19,478

10,550

30,028

2024

—EMF

$'000 F 7t

102,924 106,547
2,049

1,075

107,895 109,671
21,781 21,865
46,401 14,657
1,486,717 1,524,766
1,662,794 1,670,959
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R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5 Profit before taxation (continued)

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(continued)

5 BR#WBHER @

BRBATDEME MR (GHA) - (8)

2025
—EZLEF
$’'000 Tt

(c)  Other operating expenses:
HihKE& A !
Staff costs
=N
Sundry tax in Mainland China
FR B A 3t Y LAt B I8

Withholding tax on royalty and interest income

BHEERERANSWARDS

Quality assurance and sampling expenses

BEREBERELTER
Depreciation and amortisation
EREH

Professional fees

EXE

Repair and maintenance expenses
HERREER

Exchange loss

EHEE

Donations

B

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 17(b))
HEYE  BERREZ (W) HEFHE (M 170)

=T

Recognition of write down of inventories

BRMREE

Recognition/(reversal) of impairment losses on trade and other receivables|

(note 17(b))

MR, () FEWBR TR I H A FE U 3R 2 R ELE 18 (KT EE 17(b))

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (note 17(b))

W2~ BB N REZBERRE (M 17(b)

Impairment losses on assets held for sale (note 17(b))

BEHECEEZRERE (M 17(0)
Others
Hib

2024
—E-NE
$000 F 7t

174,029

41,063

16,694

13,950

14,460

13,656

6,599

11,115

3,027

(588)

1,936

334,871

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

173,981

37,910

17,810

16,665

14,081

12,852

6,264

4,458

3,497

2,126

2,889

(4,706)

12,166

3,593

29,324

332,910
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Profit before taxation (continued)

(continued)

5 MR#HBEER @

BRBATDEME MR (GHA) - (8)

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

Other items:

Hih1E g :

COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 11(b))
2019 AR = R R € BiRl (5T 11(b)
Amortisation of intangible assets
BEEE2HE

Depreciation

i

- Investment properties

-REYHE

- Right-of-use assets

-EAEEE

- Other assets

-HthEE

Auditors’ remuneration

ZEETM £

- Audit services

- BERRE

- Other audit-related services

- H b E AR AR S

- Tax services

- B R A

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of
lease liabilities (note 11(b))
Rt AHEEGEFE 2 A ESR (ME 11(0b))

Exchange loss
INEEE
Cost of inventories (note 15(b))

FE M A (MiEE 15(b)

(828)

279

126 126
113,525 105,509
396,432 417,060
6,838

318

343

16,659 17,609
11,115 4,458
3,069,101 3,124,175
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 6 HREBERRZFEH
profit or loss
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profitor (a) #“ZEBBERZHEMT :
loss represents:
2025 2024
—E-EHF —E-MEF
$’000 F It $'000 7t
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
REARE-FBFEHR
Provision for the year
22,144
FREHE ’
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years (6.905)
UEFEZBERR(SEEE) ’
15,239
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
REAHIE - FEBUIMEE
Provision for the year
30,799 ,
FRBE 24,150
Over-provision in respect of prior years
N 17,549 2,341
S 2 BB S P
21,809
Deferred tax
IEREFRIE (23,168)
13,880
Notes: B EE -

(i) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2025 is calculated at
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

(i) In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, the statutory income
tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Foshan,
Shanghai, Wuhan, Dongguan and Nansha is 25%.

In addition, the Group is subject to withholding tax at the applicable
rate of 5% on distribution of profits generated after 31st December
2007 from the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in Mainland
China. Deferred tax liabilities have been provided for in this regard
based on the expected dividends to be distributed from the foreign-
invested enterprises in Mainland China in the foreseeable future in
respect of the profits generated after 31st December 2007.

(iii) Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong SAR and Mainland China

is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant tax jurisdictions.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

(ii)

(iii)

SECREFIESFGREERREN (M4
FESR BRI L 16.5% (=B = U4 © 16.5%) 2
BEHE o

REBETEEEREEER ERRERE
SR BARAQFZRI - FL - £E-
RZE REREIHNBRARZEEMESHES
25% °

LEoh  AEBAEMAEB P E A NG DL
RZZBZBLF+ZA=t-RERELEZERNE
H2 D IRIES% B AR RGRENH - AEH
ERUREPERINE RN TERRRHE
SURZEREF+ AT -HRELEZE
MokzREFTRBELERIAEE -

ERBRTRERRERBMEE S HEA
A HE AR E AR B RTEA
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

6 HKREHE@mRZAB/H @

(b) BIEXHEGFHRERNABEABRER
ATEZHER:

Profit before taxation

R AT R

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates applicable to

profit in the tax jurisdictions concerned
REBRTEALAEEREANGEN 2B R ERBIANER
ZARMIE
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
FAMEEEHZHBEE
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue
ERBMMA 2 BB E
Withholding tax of Mainland China subsidiaries
FEIRH B AR 2 TBRBIE

Tax effect of unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences not

recognised

AERZABARBEBERARJBRNEREE BB E

Tax effect of recognition of tax loss and deductible temporary differences not

previously recognised

BRLAARBRZRBEEERJENERERE2BBLE

Net over-provision in respect of prior years

EFEzSEREFE

Tax credit on PRC Corporate Income Tax paid

EHPBETEMESH 2HERR

Tax effect of written-off and reversal of previously recognised tax losses

WHERBEENCHEIAREBEZHREZE
Others
Hity

Actual tax expense

BRBIEX

2025 2024
—FZhHEF —EEF
$'000 3t $000 T 7t

316,990 131,668
(2,312)

9,274 17,870
(9,988) (9,360)
2,962 1,543
39,947 10,338
(21,509) (8,372)
(17,531) (9,246)
(9,136) (9,405)
35,691 23,285
(965) (461)

76,422 13,880

(c) Pillar Two income tax

The Group has applied the temporary exception issued by the
HKICPA in July 2023 from the accounting requirements for deferred
taxes in HKAS 12. Accordingly, the Group neither recognises nor
discloses information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related
to Pillar Two income taxes.

(€ XHEZMEH
AEBCERAEBEMMAER -2 =5+t
AEMZ(EBEFERFE 125ELERIRES
ERNEREHINMER - Al AEEFEER
FWERIHE_EHERANEESEEER
BENES -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (continued)

(c) Pillar Two income tax (continued)

The Group is expected to be within the scope of the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) Pillar Two model
rules. Of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, Australia
and Canada enacted Pillar Two legislation which is effective and is
applicable to the Group for the fiscal year starting on 1st January
2024. The governments of the Hong Kong SAR and Singapore
anticipate implementation of Pillar Two legislation starting from 1st
January 2025. Under such legislation, the Group is liable to pay a
top-up tax for the difference between its Global AntiBase Erosion
(“GloBE") effective tax rate (“ETR") per jurisdiction and the 15%
minimum rate if the GloBE ETR of Canada (and the United States)
and Australia are less than 15% for the year ended 31st March
2025. Given the complexities involved in calculating GIoBE ETR, the
Group has undertaken a preliminary assessment of the Pillar Two
tax implications for the jurisdictions in which the Group operates
and have enacted Pillar Two legislation. Based on the preliminary
assessment, the Group expects that Canada (with its subsidiary in
United States) and Australia, where Pillar Two legislation has been
enacted will likely satisfy the Transitional Country-by-Country
Reporting (“CbCR”) Safe Harbour criteria and at this time it is unlikely
there will be any top-up tax impact for the year ended 31st March
2025. The Group will continue to monitor Pillar Two developments
and reassess the potential impact on its tax position.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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2 H) EEMNNWEZRREABEERHEERN
15% BIAEEEREN GBI LERENS
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B ER BN ER RGN EERE
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REEWNHBLAR) REMNSTETSEBEMS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors 7 EBEEZEE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the  RIBEE B (D AEH) 5 383(1) 1K (A T (HE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ESRFEER) RA)FE2WBRBEZEEM S W
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation T

are as follows:

2025
- S 2
Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits Retirement Share-based
Directors' inkind  Discretionary scheme payments
fees Fa  RMR bonuses  contributions Sub-total MR A Total
EZhe HUEWEN BERR2EL  RKGEAER Mt BRZAH st
(Note)
(Mzt)
$000F 7t $'000F 7t $'000F 7t $000F $'000F 7t $000F 7t $'000F ¢
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
BB 426 6,596 4,775 423 12,220 4,359 16,579
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
EEELL 256 8,280 5,274 557 14,367 7,863 22,230
Mr. Eugene LYE _
Rl kA 256 2,382 799 67 3,504 3,504
Non-executive Directors
FHTEE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO _ _ _ _
BEE L+ 306 306 306
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO _ _ _ _
BEREL 306 306 306
Ms. May LO _ . _ .
BHEAT 422 422 422
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Dr. The Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
(retired on 19th August 2024) _ _ _ _
SEEEt 234 234 234
(R=Z-MENATAAERME)
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND
(retired on 19th August 2024) _ _ _ _
JanP.S. ERLUND &4 2 z e
(R=Z=MENA+HAER)
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE _ _ _ _
REEEL 672 672 672
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH _ _ _ _
Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4 & o e
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG _ _ _ _
BTt 525 525 525
Ms. Wendy Wen-yee YUNG
(appointed on 19th August 2024) _ _ _ -
REGELL 274 274 274
(RZBZMENATHBEZM)
4,856 17,258 10,848 1,047 34,009 12,222 46,231
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors (continued) 7 EBEEZEM2@®W

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the  RIBEE B (D AMEMH) 5 383(1) 1R (A T (HE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ESRFEER) RA)FE2WRBEZEEM S W
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation T : (4&)

are as follows: (continued)

2024
“EomE
Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits Retirement Share-based
Directors' inkind  Discretionary scheme payments
fees Ed o RHR bonuses  contributions Sub-total R A Total
E2He  HBWEN BERRCEL  RAGHEER Mt BBZAR L
(Note)
(HzE)
$000F 1t $000F 1t $000F 7t $000F T $000F 7t $000F 1T $000F ¢
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
BREEAE 414 6,309 4,635 408 11,766 3814 15,580
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
EEELL 248 7,688 5073 538 13,547 8,201 21,748
Mr. Eugene LYE _
Bl ks 248 2374 403 69 3094 3,094
Non-executive Directors
FHOEE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO
BEE L+ 299 - - - 299 - 299
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO B B } .
BEREE 299 299 299
Ms. May LO
BHZL 367 - - - 367 - 367
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHHTEE
Dr. The Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
SERE+ 593 - - - 593 - 593
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND 563 . } ) 563 ) 563

JanP.S. ERLUND £ %

Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE ) ) ] )
eilvh 643 643 643

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH

Paul Jeremy BROUGH £ % o ) ) ) o ) e

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG . . } )

=T+ 434 434 434
5,010 16,371 10,111 1,015 32,507 12,015 44522
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors (continued)

Note: These represent the estimated value of share options and share
awards granted to the Directors under the Company’s share option
scheme and share award scheme. The value of these share options
and share awards is measured according to the Group’s accounting
policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1(q)(iii)
and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse
amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments
are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms
and number of options and awards granted, are disclosed under the
paragraph “Share option scheme” and “Share award scheme” in the
directors’ report and note 23.

8 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2024:
two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2024:
three) individuals are as follows:

7 ESBEZEe @

MiE - MR BER ZATIEREA QT 2 BRES
BRRORBAERTESCBRERROR
BtitEE WEBRERRORBZEE
To AR 45 Y 3 L(a)(iil) AT B AN SR B R BARR 2 B X
ERzXBRAZEFERMmTE  MRRZ
X BREUBEFERFMARBARET
BERERBAMC RNz BRESEE2HE -

BEBENEN 2HE (BRCRHEZBRER
BRORBEEHRARBE) RESSHREB
MRAEET SR [ IR0 AT 8| — R KM 23

5 -
8 EmiMEAL
EREBREMEALH WE(CB-MF W

R)BES BECHNESRMT7HRE - Hek
ZH(ZEIMF =) A2 ENT -

2024
—E-E
$'000 F T

Salaries and other emoluments

FEkEMME

Retirement scheme contributions
EIRETEIHR

Discretionary bonuses
BB B Mz fEAL
Share-based payments

LARRAD R B 1 2 95K

11,174

419

4,407

3,167

19,167
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

8 Individuals with highest emoluments (continued) 8 EEEME AL #®)

The emoluments of the three (2024: three) individuals with the =& (ZZEZN&:=R)BsHEATZi#ME
highest emoluments are within the following bands: NFUUTHER
2025 2024
—EZRF —ENE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A8
$5,500,001 to $6,000,000 1
5,500,001 Jt £ 6,000,000 JT
$6,000,001 to $6,500,000 1
6,000,001 Jt £ 6,500,000 JT
$6,500,001 to $7,000,000 ~
6,500,001 Jt 2 7,000,000 JT
$7,000,001 to $7,500,000 1
7,000,001 Jt 2 7,500,000 JT
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

9  Other comprehensive income

(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other

comprehensive income:

Before-tax

amount
BEAIEHE
$000 F 7t

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of subsidiaries and joint venture
outside Hong Kong

RAREBUNMERBLARARAEARZ
BBRRMELEZELZE

Cash flow hedge: net movement in the hedging
reserve

}Hél)lhiﬁ/ql ﬂ/tpﬁﬁ WZ#EJJ
Remeasurement of employee retirement benefit
liabilities

EERHKEHNE

(15,953)

(2,620)
R BT E

(18,573)

Tax credit

BIERKSR MBRHESE
$'000F ¢

244

244

(b) Components of other comprehensive income:

9 HitZmEUE

() FARAEMZERZZIM2BE
B4

e —

Cash flow hedges:
REREE

Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments recognised

during the year
FRERZEHFTAAAERD 2 EUBH

Amounts transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items

BREWHEERYRAEZEHE

Net deferred tax credited to other comprehensive income

REMZE W a5t A Z BRI F R

Net movement in the hedging reserve during the year recognised in other

comprehensive income

FARHMEEAKRSERIZEHRBEED

2024
—EIME
Tax credit/
Net-of-tax Before-tax (expenses) Net-of-tax
amount amount  HIEESR amount
BRERI S5 (BA) NRBESE
O  $000FT  $000Fxm  $000F 7T
(15,953) (107,884) - (107,884)
(2,092) 344 (1,748)
(2,376) 6,089 (1,003) 5,086
(18,329) (103,887) (659) (104,546)
(b) HttZHEUWKzEZIH :
2025 2024
ot Sk - —E-E
$’000 F It $'000 F 7t
(2,919)
827
344
(1,748)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

10 Earnings per share 10 BREF

(a) Basic earnings per share () SREXREF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit SRERBIANDRBRERAAAREFTE A
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $234,674,000  FE & 3% 234,674,000 T (=& = [0 £ :
(2024: $116,367,000) and the weighted average number of  116,367,0007T) R F AT & T EZERKR = N4
1,071,477,000 ordinary shares (2024: 1,071,969,000 ordinary  F¥33%1,071,477,000 8 Z B (Z T =W F :

shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows: 1,071,969,000 R Z @A) 5T & > HFFEWMT -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ZERZ -9

2025 2024
—E-hEF —E-NE
Number of Number of
shares shares
132 E KRHER
'000 T A& '000 T i&

Issued ordinary shares at 1st April
ROBA—BzEBTEBR

Effect of share options exercised
EITEERECEE
Effect of share awards vested

ERBREBRN2EE

Effect of shares purchased under share award scheme

RERDRBAEBERD 2HE

Effect of share buy back programme

ROBEGE &

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31st March (note 10(b))
o N 1,071,477 1,071,969
MR=B=1+—BzEZBR2MEFTE (M 10(0b))

1,072,815 1,070,899

1,487

155

(572)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

10 Earnings per share (continued) 10 BREF @
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)) SRESZER

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit SREBEREADREARLTREZE AELER
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $234,674,000 F 234,674,000 Tt (ZEZ Y : 116,367,000
(2024: $116,367,000) and the weighted average number of TT)RMFAEEEZABBEEAN 2 EZER2SEM
1,072,336,000 ordinary shares (2024: 1,072,895,000 ordinary  {EH FA%% 2 & @ I M F19201,072,336, ooo
shares) after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary REER (Z == F : 1,072,895,000 & Z

shares, calculated as follows: B FE HFEWNT :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) BBERZINEFIGE (#E)

2025 2024
—E-HE —ENE
Number of Number of
shares shares
:2vg 4= RO A
'000 T A& '000 T i&

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31st March (note 10(a))
MRZB=T—H2Z2EBR 2 MEFHE (HFE10())

Effect of deemed issue of ordinary shares under the Company’s share option

1,071,477 1,071,969

scheme for nil consideration 7
BEERBARAARZERENEUEEFIXBTEBRRZEE
Effect of shares awarded under share award scheme 919

RERDRBAERERO 2E

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31st March
N - 1,072,336 1,072,895
MR=B=1+—BzZBRZINEFTE (EE)

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had potential dilutive sharesin RZZE-_HEF=ZA=+—H AEEEHEHE
connection with its share option scheme and share award scheme. BRENZIRBRHEETEEEZELTHER
Certain share options could potentially dilute basic earnings per 3 & THEBRERKRUTHBESRELREF -
share in the future, but were not included in the calculation of diluted Rt AERBBER Z:TES RERBARE
earnings per shares because they are antidilutive for the period. REE o
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAI - LUBREEE)

11 Property, plant and equipment

11 Y%E -BERRE

(a) (a)
Other property, plant andxequipment
2t BREREE
Factory Fixtures,
Land and machinery furniture
buildings held and and office
forownuse  equipment  equipment Motor  Construction Right-of-use  Investment
RAEFEAZ IRHER %EB AR vehicles in progress Sub-total assefs  properties Total
THRET R BLERE AE HEIR Nt FREEE REWE @t
$000F7%  $000F7%  $000FE  $000FL  $000FT  $000FT  $000FH  $000FT  $000F%
Cost:
A
sonl L6705 4136152 66878 1648 6129 GUAS  S6B19  268 7187342
%‘%‘%‘gadi““me”“ (69602 (149876)  (12742) (2295) @994 (239509  (13583) - (253092)
%fjg“m - 26275 12539 19,031 7550 133375 272491 - 405866
[iBieS 431 91088 11430 804 (107273) . . - -
Hgeslh (335 (48121) 8349 (13764) - (0569 (38071) - (108640)
Classified as assets held for sale
ﬁ;%]g%ﬁ)m%zé@ - (29,118) - . - 918) - - )
(Fr&E18)
ggﬁé’”?foﬁz“: . 1550352 4006400 669456 160274 2450 6432004  TAT656 22698 7202358
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
ZRERAESR:
oy GBI 2410142 AT 101967 ST 9095 WS4 379520
fé‘%‘%‘éﬁad"““me”“ (22524)  (77,544) (6,420) (1,660) - (108,148) (3.267) - (111419)
Gl o 57008 280,179 67127 12746 - H7060 105509 126 52695
I =)
Impairment losses/(reversal of
) impairment Ios§es) ) - 12,529 (363) - - 12,166 - - 12,166
REFE/ (BEFHESE)
Wgtinﬁkond's‘)()wk (02 (43255 (7858  (13511) - (e4926)  (35.966) - (100892)
Classified as assets held for sale
L - (1883¢) - . C 188y - S es%)
(HizF18)
%ﬁg:““g‘i‘ﬁi +oq 673152 2563215 4279 99542 376387 315371 19700 4098938
Net book value:
IRERE:
(E st March 2029 878200 1463185 241498 60732 24520 2668137 432085 299 3103420

RIE-mE=A=+-H
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 YE - - BERSE @
(@) (continued) (E) G

Other property, plant and equipment
Hith¥  BERRE

Factory Fixtures,
landand  machinery furniture
buildings held and and office
forownuse  equipment  equipment Motor  Construction Right-of-use  Investment
BEFERAZ IRBSER 2B HER vehicles  inprogress  Sub-total assets  properties Total
THREF #fE  BAERE RE  EEIE Mt EREEE  RENE &gt
$000Fx  $000F;m  $000Fx  $000F;  $000F;m  $000F;x  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fi

Cost:
WA

At Ist April 2024

W-B-mEMNR-A 1,551,352 4,026,400 669,456 160,274 24522 6,432,004 747,656 22698 7,202,358

B e astnents 11281 (8278)  (197)) (61) (2208 (44003 (2221) - 420
%ﬁgﬁm 464 28,039 25,221 9,334 61316 124374 104364 - 28738
%%gsfef 2009 4553 14963 - (62895) - - - -
féiigposa's - (108793 (8488 (11,766) - (19047)  (719977) - (209024
g‘@g:'\"%rghé‘ﬁ; +oq 1500940 3962891 699475 ISTSBL 20737 6383328 769816 22698 775842

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
ARERAESSE:

At 1st April 2024
H-B-MERE—§ 673152 2,563,215 427958 99,542

3,763,867 3153711 19,700 4,098,938

%%‘%fgadi”“me”“ @525 (2069  (1617) (17)

Charge for the year
KEEE 56,286 262,353 64,530 13,263

(27,058) (560) = (27,618)

396,432 113,525 126 510,083

Impairment losses
e - 14,325 146 9
HERE

Written back on disposals )
PR (100,002) (7.926) (11,346)

14,480 = = 14,480

(119,274) (78,786) = (198,060)

At 31st March 2025
HN-g-REZA=+-f 724913 2,719,192 483,091 101,251

4,028,447 349,550 19826 4,397,823

Net book value:

RERE:

At 31st March 2025
HN-®-HEZ A=+ 818,031 1,243,699 216,084 56,330 20737 2,354,881 420,266 2872 2778019
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(@) (continued)

During the year, the carrying amounts of certain items of property,
plant and equipment were written down by $14,480,000 (2024:
$12,166,000) to their recoverable amounts as follows (the
recoverable amounts were estimated using the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use):

0] An impairment loss of $14,636,000 (2024: $13,827,000) was
recognised on various items of property, plant and equipment
utilised in the Mainland China and Hong Kong SAR operations
reflecting the cessation of usage, where the recoverable
amounts of these items were minimal.

(i) Following the relaxation of pandemic prevention measures
announced by the Hong Kong SAR Government in February
2023, in anticipation of a recovery, management performed an
assessment of the future performance of the Group'’s Vitaland
tuckshop business. Consequently, a reversal of impairment
loss was recognised in respect of other property, plant and
equipment of $1,661,000 during the previous year.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

11 YE - - BERSE @

(@) &
RER BTNE BERZFEEEZREE
1R 14,480,000 7t (=& Z 9 4F : 12,166,000
T ETHZzHEETREESEE (JRESIERD
REREHERARFERAEEMEFTZESSE
i &) :

i) PEAHEEBEINTHEEXFERN
ZENE - BRERREBEERFLER
MR EE 18 14,636,000 Jt (ZE =Y
% :13,827,000)  ZZEEE NI WE
SHENWTRE -

(i) HEEBFERFAR-Z-=5"AEf
R RERER  AEERERESNM
HAEEHEMREDRIEEBHRRK
RBETHAML-FU REBEFEHH
M MERRBEIABCBESE
1,661,000 7T °



Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 Y% - BERRE @

(b) Right-of-use assets b) FEHEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of (RIEBEEEDE2FEAREEZREFEDN
underlying asset is as follows: mT

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EF
$000 ¥t $000 Tt

Interests in leasehold land held for own use, carried at depreciated cost, with
remaining lease term of:

FFERZEE T R RITERARIIER) 2 THEB

- 50 years or more

7,229 6,471
- 50 FH L
- between 10\and 50 years 140,556 144,996
-10 ZE50F 2

147,785 151,467

Other properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost
HEEBE R 2 H MY RITERATIER)
Factory machinery and equipment, carried at depreciated cost

TRses Ks s GRITE R ASIR)

Fixtures, furniture and office equipment, carried at depreciated cost

RKE  BKARPAERE RITERAETER)

270,385 279,970

2,069 783

27 65

420,266 432,285
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R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 Y% - BERRE @
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FHEEE @

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in HEREFERAZHERBZHXEREIMUOT :
profit or loss is as follows:

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EF
$'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset:
REBEES BT AREEZITEER .
- Ownership interests in leasehold land held for own use

-BAEFERCEEL SRS

- Other properties leased for own use

3,770 3,780

R ” 107,070 101,056
-HHEFERAzHEHMYE
- Factory machinery and equipment

N 2,645 580
- IRMERRE

- Fixtures, furniture and office equipment

40
DB RARBAZRE 73

113,525 105,509

Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a))

. 10,550

HEEBE2FE (MFE5@)
Expen_se relaing to short-term leases 21,538
FRHEHEEsHAX
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short-term leases of

low-value assets 2,488
FREEESEEHECHT (KEBEEEZEHEERN)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities

(note 5(d)) 17,609
FEFAHES B2 2 UEBEE S (M 5(d)
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 5(d)) (828)

2019 54K 5% 5 75 18 B #H = B R (B =E 5(d))
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group leases various warehouses, offices and factory and office
equipment for use in its operations. The leases included in right-
of-use assets typically run for an initial period of between one year
and five years. For leases which include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the contract term,
where practicable, the Group seeks to include such extension
option exercisable by the Group to provide operational flexibility.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is
not reasonably certain that it will exercise the extension option, the
future lease payments during the extension periods are not included
in the measurement of lease liabilities. There is no potential exposure
to these future lease payments as at 31st March 2025 and 2024.

In addition, the Group is the registered owner of several plots of
leasehold land, in respect of which upfront lump sum payments were
made to acquire them.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $104,364,000
(2024: $272,491,000). This amount primarily related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 21, respectively.

11 YE - - BERSE @

(b) FEREEE @
AEBERZERE PLE IHRHBRIAE
REHEEERR -SFACAEEEZHE -
ROTEP-—FERAF -BRAREGHNFRTE
RREEHEFNMENNEE EOEATT 2B
RT AEEAORBEREETTE2EHL
HEE UEHEBELEERE AREREER
MEMMEEEES ETREHEE - 4
EERESESESTHELEREER  RIEHH
Bz RREESRFEFAHELBZFTE -
ZERAKBENRR-B-AFER-FT-NF
ZA=t-BEMEEERR -

i AEELABHEEL B 2ERETEA
ERRATEL — RN RRBEZE L -

FR HFEZFHAEEEA104,364,0007T (=
FBZHE :272,491,0007T) c Z A E T BB
HEMBRETENMBESRER -

FEHEZRERHAEREEEGZEHD
o BB RHE17(d) K 21
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R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment leased out under
operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under an operating

lease. The lease runs for an initial period of two years, with an option

to be early terminated by either participating party. None of the

leases includes contingent rentals.

The Group’s undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating lease are receivable as follows:

11 YE - - BERSE @

() RELEHEHERLZME  KE
Kt
AEENCERERLRENE REHED
SREME AASEFERRIAL -5
HELHBERRES -

REBRBTUHRBREERERBZRITR
HEMRWT :

Within one year

—FR

2025 2024
—EARF —EME

$'000 3t $'000 Tt

1,812 3,262

(d) The fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties at 31st March 2025 is
$48,700,000 (2024: $59,700,000) which has been estimated at
their open market value by reference to recent market transactions
in comparable properties (2024: same basis of valuation adopted).
The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
Roma Appraisals Limited, who have among their staff members of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of the properties being valued.
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(d BREWMFRZARE
REVER-_ZB-RAF=ZA=Z+-HZARE
# 48,700,000 7T (ZFE =4 : 59,700,000 7T) °
LR SEALBYE AR TERZERER
MhiSEEETHT (ZE20EF  KIE -
BERE) - (A{ETI BB R 8 E01T & 5 B KT
HERABET HBNBELATBAEME
BZEE  EMMEENEZHERERAEER
BT A o



Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(d) The fair value of investment properties (continued)

The fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3 valuation
under the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available; and

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using the
direct comparison approach with reference to the market price of
comparable properties and adjusted for building quality and timing
of the reference transaction. The significant unobservable input
in the fair value measurement is the property-specific adjusting
rate, which ranged from 0.95 to 1.05 (2024: 0.94 to 1.05). The fair
value measurement is positively correlated to the property-specific
adjusting rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment pledged against
bank loans

At the end of the reporting period, no items of property, plant and

equipment of the Group are pledged to secure bank loans or bank

facilities granted to the Group.

(f)  Deposits for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

As at 31st March 2025, a deposit of $63,000 (2024: $1,112,000)

was paid to acquire property, plant and equipment. The remaining

amount of the consideration for the acquisition is included in capital

commitments (note 27(a)).

11 YE - - BERSE @

d BREWEZQAE@E
AREHERB(BBUBREEDNE 1354
AEHEIMBREZ-RARBEESELE
SHREE BEARABEHESEZERNES
ENMTHEESEMARB > TERMEREES
BHEE

- BoMfhE EEAE-REARE (B
RIABHEEEESNRBERNERMTE 2
RERABBE)FEZARE

-  FIRMHE:ERAE-REARE (BX
REINF-RzABRHARE) BXER
EREATHEEHARBHEZAR

BE- TUBEGAHBRETSEIEZ
BWARBE S &

- EEREE EAEATTRRRAY
THE PINTE

REMECZAREDNSZEALRBRYEZTERE
AEELEBLEE UMSEXRZ2ETFES
REBELEAZ PABHEZEAFTTEE
MABBDENYERAER HTF095F1.05
(ZEBEZMHF :094F1.05) - A R{EFTELHEE
BRI EFARE R 2 B IE B BR o

() MBITERERZYE BEK
B

REHRA  AEEREERETANE  BER

RBEE UERASEER ZBRTENIR

TEE -

() BEYX BERREZTZ

RZBE-_RE=ZA=1+—-H HESUE K
ERREE XN £63000T (ZS=MF :
1,112,0007t) - BEREBEZH TS BT AER
ANE (MHEE27(a)) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

12 Intangible assets

12 EBEE

Pollution
Brand name Customer list discharge right Total
M B EFHE BE5 R wat
$'000 F 7t $°000 F 7t $°000 F 7t $°000 F 7T
Cost:
A
At 1st April 2023
7,737 10,958 1,465 20,160
R-TE-_=FMA—H
Exchange adjustments
138 - 82 220
E 3 s (138) (82) (220)
At 31st March 2024
7,599 10,958 1,383 19,940
R-ZE-_ME=A=+—H
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses:
Rty RO EEE -
At 1st April 2023
7,737 10,958 1,046 19,741
R-ZE-=FMA—H
Exchange adjustments
V 138 - 61 199
O 55 SR (138) (61) (199)
Charge for the year
o = = 279 279
REE
At 31st March 2024
7,599 10,958 1,264 19,821
R-ZE-WFE=A=+—H
Net book value:
IREEME -
At 31st March 2024 _ _ 119 119

R-B-NE=A=+—H
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

12 Intangible assets (continued) 12 BREE @)
Pollution
Brand name Customer list discharge right Total
o b8 2 18 EFRBE eSS HE HEt
$'000 F T $'000 F T $'000F 7T $'000 F T
Cost:
A

At 1st April 2024
R-ZBE-WNFEMB—H

Exchange adjustments

BE X %

At 31st March 2025
R-Z2-RE=RA=+—H

7,599 10,958 1,383 19,940

1 - (8) (7)

7,600 10,958 1,375 19,933

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses:

Rt RO EEE -

At 1st April 2024

R-ZE-MFMA—H

Exchange adjustments

[E 5 8

Charge for the year

REEEH

At 31st March 2025
RZE-_HEF=H=+—8H

7,599 10,958 1,264 19,821

1 - 8) (7)

= = 110 110

7,600 10,958 1,366 19,924

Net book value:

REEE

At 31st March 2025
RZE_RAF=A=+—H

The amortisation charges of pollution discharge right are included in BT BB RO AGSBEEZRZI1THR
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or BRIRA -
loss.

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ E# & @



Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries 13 MIE AT

TRHEEAEBFTENB AR ZHBE KRB E
SN BEZRMERNEAEEER - LEH
BARMAMFINFMREZZESHE LR

The following list contains the particulars of the principal subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated. All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under

note 1(d) and have been consolidated into the Group’s financial Y HEAEBEZHBHRERANGSTE -
statements.
 Placeof Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BEREALE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the held by a
Name of company HMREL issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
RREHE BUREEMYE ERTRAEE XRERE  WELARE TEER
% %
Vitasoy USA Inc. United States of 100 shares - 100 Sale of beverages
America 100 B B 43 HEHRR
ENBERE
Vitasoy North America Inc. Canada 1,000 shares 100 - Sale of beverages
ngx 1,000 & B 17 HERm
Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and The PRC RMB1,000,000 85 - Manufacture and
Beverage Company Limited (note (i)) 3 N sale of beverages
Rt (CE ) RREBERA R () 1,000,000 7T (ceased operation since
15th December 2021)
EE&%’E@\W
(B=E=-%1ZAH
-i—ﬂ EI ii&(ﬂ:ﬁ(«*“
Vitasoy (Dongguan) Company Limited (note (ii)) The PRC  RMB335,000,000 - 85 Manufacture and
#fn (R%) BRAF (FEE (i) H AR sale of beverages
335,000,000 7% EERHEERD
Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited (note (iii)) The PRC RMB200,000,000 - 85 Manufacture and
HeA R (BRIL) BB A A (SR (i) H ARE sale of beverages
200,000,000 7T EERHERD
Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited (note (iv)) The PRC  HK$219,461,176 - 100 Manufacture and
S0 (EF) BIR AT (HEE(v) FE B sale of beverages
219,461,176 T EERHENRD
Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited (note (v)) The PRC  RMB170,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
HM (RE) BRAR (FEEWV) FE ARH# sale of beverages
170,000,000 7t YERHENR
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKEEHH)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

13 MBS @

_ Placeof Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BEREALE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the held by a
Name of company AL issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
DEEHE BUREEMYE ERTRAHEE XRERE MWELARE TEER
% %
Vitasoy Company Limited (note (vi)) The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100 Sales/distribution
HRMERD A (HEE (V) H N of beverages/food
100,000,000 7t and headquarter
management service
(Mainland China)
HE/DHERR/
EmREAHERE
B3 (Rl )
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. Australia V class shares: 100 Manufacture and
BN A$46,925,000 sale of food and
N class shares: beverages
A$8,575,000 LERBERAR
VER B
46,925,000 2%
NER
8,575,000;2%
Vitasoja (Macau) Limitada Macau SAR MOP100,000 100 - Distribution of
#Agn ORF) BRAF BFISHITHE 2P 100,000 T beverages
PR E
Produtos De Soja Hong Kong (Macau) Limitada Macau SAR MOP10,000 - 100 Dormant
EREmRM)BRAR BABHITHE RPI% 10,0007 TEex
Vitaland Services Limited Hong Kong SAR 300,000 shares 100 - Operation of
HRXBRBEERLE ERBHTHE 300,000 KR 5 tuck shops and
concessions
TEERDRIR
aN-%: i)
Hong Kong Gourmet Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares - 100 Provision of catering
EBERERLT BEEAITHE 2R %5 services
REEHRER
The Hong Kong Soya Bean Products Company, Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Property investment
Limited BERATHE 2 R4 NERE
ERERARAF
Vitasoy (China) Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
Ethh (RE) ERERAR ERERTHE 1 R M REER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAI - LUBREEE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

13 MBS @

) PIac'e of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BEREALE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the held by a
Name of company AL issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
DEEHE BUREEMYE ERTRAHEE XRERE MWELARE TEER
% %
Vitasoy Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
EHNREERERAR BBRBRTHE 1 RBRH RERR
Vita International Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Investment holding
EHERERERAR EBRAITHE 2RKRH REER
Vitasoy International Investment Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
EtMEREEERAA EBRAITHE 1 Rk® REER
Vitasoy (China) Investments Company Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Investment holding
Ethfh (RE) REFRAT ERBRTHE 2RKRH RELRR
Vitasoy Holdings (Malta) Limited Malta  Ordinary shares: - 100 Sales of beverages
ERfh HK$20,257 (ceased operation
Deferred share: since 31st January
HK$7 2024 and is currently
LER . BE under liquidation)
20,257 7% HEHm(B-Z-NF
EERS —B=+-RHit
BE®T T HRIERETHEFE)
Vitasoy Investment (Singapore) Pte. Limited Singapore 5$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
i 10,0004 ¥ REZR
Vitasoy International Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore $$79,800,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale
FE 79,800,000 % of soya related and
beverage products
EERHETEER
Reim
Vitasoy Distributors (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore 5$$2,500,000 100 - Dormant
Fos 2,500,000 % EREX
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(i) Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Vitasoy”) is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in
Mainland China and is to be operated up to 2049.

(i) Vitasoy (Dongguan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Dongguan”) is a sino-
foreign equity joint venture established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2067.

(iii) Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Foshan”) is a sino-foreign
equity joint venture established in Mainland China and is to be operated up
to 2049.

(iv) Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Shanghai”) is a wholly
foreign owned subsidiary established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2045.

(v) Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Wuhan”) is a wholly foreign
owned subsidiary established in Mainland China and is to be operated up
to 2064.

(vi) Vitasoy Company Limited is a wholly foreign owned subsidiary established
in Mainland China and is to be operated up to 2070.

13

MyEE -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Bt B D ) (|)

RYN AR CEBR) BRI AR L8 (DRI
o3 ) BRFBRBRL 2HIEESE QT
KREHE_BMOAFL -

M (RE) ARAR (REEMEDHD BR
TEAEY 2HIEERENT  KEHE
“EREFIE

MG L) BARQE (HLEME]D BN
TEREY 2HIEERE QT REHE
ZEOAFLE -

B (L8 BRAE (LEgtm) AR
FERERIZENERELAR  KEREZ
BNEEL -

Hapgn (ROR) BRAF (FEEMLPD BR
REARBEY 22N ERBLE  KREREZ
FAROEFL -

AR IR A T A0 R B R A 2 2 SN
BAR  SEME-FLEFL-
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued) 13 MIB 28 @)

The following table lists out the information relating to Shenzhen  TXRZH 5B EEAR = A FFIEREDR 2 NE B M
Vitasoy, Vitasoy Dongguan and Vitasoy Foshan, the subsidiaries of B2 BRI 4E b 7 + 38 5 4 4th 473 K 36 (L 4 4tb 45
the Group which have material non-controlling interests (‘NCI”). The 2Z&H¥ - TX 2320 BERBERIEHEM
summarised financial information presented below represents the A T REMSEAT 2 £ 58 o

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Shenzhen Vitasoy Vitasoy Dongguan Vitasoy Foshan
S F ) RE&MD AT
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

—7—£$ —v—lﬂi :§:£$ —7—.E —?—£$ —v—lﬂi
$000 F7¢ $000 ¥t $'000 ¥t $000 F ¢ $000 ¥ $000 ¥t

NCI percentage 15% 0 15% 0 15% 0
ERRERE S b 15% b 15% b 15%
Current assets
; 6,115 96,897 ] 230,430 |

FHEE 93,583 99,511 161,008
Non-current assets

s 11,802 88,345 255,848 i
ERH AR 80! 26,314 8 984,806 288,872
Cturrent liabilities (1,759) (3,302) (661,635) (439,225) (107,604) (95,522)
)}u;ibﬁ@
Non-current liabilities

. - - = 45,663 ; 23,974 ;
FEHAE ( ) (391,398) ( ) (16,297)
Net assets 16,158 116,595 277,944 253,694 354,700 338,061
FEE
Carrying amount of NCI 3225 40,944 54855
EERER S AR ) 18,291 5 37,546 y 52,240
’J;j\e““e - - 594,450 554,164 744,882 706,373
(Loss)/profit for the year 15,847 25969 29.983
REE (58) /%A (15,847) (3.768) , (25,360) , 34,554
Total comprehensive income 29983
2EhEEE (15,847) (3,768) 25,969 (25,360) , 34,554
(Loss)/proflt allocated to NCI 9377 3655 4616

AREERREL Y (K1) /5 (2,377) (565) ] (3,288) ! 5274
Dividend paid to NCI . B . B 1710
BFERERRKERR ; 2,835
Cash flows generated from/(used in)

operating activities 84,381 (6,114) 182,237 113,692 27,440 40,315

ﬁ«(éﬁ/ﬁgﬁﬁﬁ/ R EERE

Cash flows generated from/(used in)
investing activities 1,886 2944 (7,949) (17,029) (12,338) (13,499)
RETBME/ (A RERE

Cash flows used in financing
activities (84,641) = (170,019) (94,640) (15,468) (23,065)
RETBARERE
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKEEHH)

14 Interest in joint venture

Details of the Group’s interest in the joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

14 &

SRR ZES

KEBREERRAzRZ (HRARBZEREG
B BHERAAR) FEOT ¢

Proportion of ownership interest

MERERILE

Place of Group's

Form of incorporation effective
business and business Particular of interest  Held by the Held by a Principal
Name of joint venture structure MR issued capital y: -k Company subsidiary activity
RENRER ERRBES EEpE  CERTRAES ERiEE A0RKE MWEBLAERE TEER

% % %

Vitasoy - URC, Inc. Incorporated The Republic of Registered 50 - 50 Sale of
Bt the Philippines capital of PHP beverages
(“Philippines”) 2,454,000,000 (note)
FEBANE R HERR
(T3EEE]) 2454000000t % (W)

Note: Vitasoy-URC, Inc. (“VUR”) was established by the Company in
partnership with a major branded consumer food and beverage
company in the Philippines, the other investor to this joint venture, for
the manufacture and sale of the Group’s plant-based beverages in the

Philippines. VUR is mainly engaged in the sale of beverages.

VUR, the only joint venture in which the Group participates, is an
unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not available.

Summarised financial information of VUR is disclosed below:

&k : Vitasoy—URC, Inc. ((VUR]) BA 2 7 8 — R
FEETERBREESRERAT (AEAY
DRRAIZB—BBRER)GERYL  UNFEESE
SEREEAEEUEYR I BEZERE
VURFEREMREE -

VIR(A&EEE-SHESERF) A —BF L
WEXER BYENSRE -

VURZ I BERMERENT :

Gross amounts of VUR'’s

VURZ &%
Loss from continuing operations
Total comprehensive income

EHWEAEE

2025 2024
—EhEF —EBEZME
$'000 F T $'000 F 7t

(34,422) (35,975)

(34,238) (36,018)
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Bt R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

14 Interest in joint venture (continued)

(@) Impairment
The carrying amount of interest in joint venture was fully impaired by
recognising an impairment charge of $42,800,000 after considering

the adverse impact of COVID-19 on future sales projections in the
year ended 31st March 2021.

Considering the current accumulated losses and uncertainty in
evaluating market factors in the calculation of the recoverable
amount, management concluded that no reversal of impairment was
to be made during the year ended 31st March 2025.

(b)  Unrecognised share of losses

During the year, the Group injected further capital of $13,469,000
(2024: $23,736,000) into the joint venture. With an unrecognised
loss of $17,715,000 (2024: $24,296,000) brought forward from prior
years, the Group has recognised a share of loss of $13,469,000 (2024:
$23,736,000) after the capital injection.

As at 31st March 2025, the Group has discontinued recognising its
share of losses of joint venture because its cumulative share of losses
in the joint venture has exceeded the aggregate of the investment
cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The Group will
not resume recognition of its share of any future profits in the joint
venture until its share of such profits equals the cumulative share of
losses not recognised in past years.

The amounts of unrecognised share of losses of joint venture for the
year and cumulatively are $20,943,000 (2024: $17,715,000).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

14 SEPaIZE2E @

(a) WIE
BEZZE-Z-FZA=Z1+—HLEFE Rtk
2019 BARASHE R REETRAN 2 FFI 2%
BREARMESE H42,8000007T ' 8% T2
BEZREABECEZERE -

ZEINEA R EB U R E TG & 5T
EHEEENTREN SEERABERE
ECE_HEF=ZA=+—HALEFEREHRBE
BEE o

(b) RERFEEE

REAEE AEBOEGEQRAE—FITE
13,469,000 7t (=& Z M 4 : 23,736,0007¢) °
HRUAEFEAEREREE 17,715,000 7T (=
TP :24,296,0007T)  MAEBRETE R
C R F{LE 18 13,469,000 T (ZE =& :
23,736,0007T) °

RZEZRF=A=1+—H0 FEEZKILE
REFEEEQATEE RAHAHAHEE
AREECEBRERANBREZETRERS
BHEE EAXAKEMGEE QREAARE
FERBEEERERZETMEEER &
SEEBTEMERIAZEEN -

FARRSFZRBREEERTABREESR
20,943,000 T (ZZ =M% : 17,715,000 7T) °



Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

15 Inventories

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

15 FE

(@) HREMBRRRFZEFERE:

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

Raw materials

R A1 %

Finished goods
LR

287,053 323,998

246,215 230,548

533,268 554,546

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

recognised as an expense and included in profit or

loss is as follows:

b) EREZARIAR/AIZFES
BoMWME :

2025 2024
—E-RE —E_EFE
$'000 Tt $'000 F 7t

Carrying amounts of inventories sold
EEFEZREE

Write down of inventories

HiR 7 &

3,040,675 3,099,752

28,426 24,423

3,069,101 3,124,175

16 Trade and other receivables

16 FEURBRFR B2 ELfth FE UL =X

2025 2024
—ERF —EE
$'000 3t $'000 Tt

Current assets:
HEEE -
Trade debtors and bills receivable, net of loss allowance

EWERSR R EWRE - NERERERE

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments

HEWR - e RENHE

Non-current assets:
FREEE -

Rental deposits

HEZS

709,847 715,301

113,772 158,011

823,619 873,312

15,419
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Apart from the rental deposits under non-current assets, the Group’s
other debtors, deposits and prepayments amounting to $15,440,000
(2024: $21,820,000) are expected to be recovered or charged as
expense after more than one year. All of the other trade and other
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as an
expense within one year.

(@) Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is
as follows:

16 FEUR AR R B2 EL fth FE UK ()

RIERBEEBT2HERSH  AEETESH
RBBE—-FE2KWESHNRER S 2 EtbEURR -
BERFEAMNTIES 15,440,000 T (=2 =94 :

21,820,000 7T) ° Fr A H fih FE Uk BR 7k &% H At FE LK
REHR—FEAKRESERE—ERAX -

(a) HRERDHT

RE®RA - BUERAKREWRRE (E8ERER
BRARHEMERRA) ZBRREAHARSNRE
BREZRESTOT

Within three months
=@AR

Three to six months
=ZX@EA

Over six months

~NER K E

2025 2024
—EARF —ZE-ME
$'000 3t $'000 Tt
699,253 703,131
10,542 10,289

52 1,881

709,847 715,301

Trade debtors and bills receivable are generally due within one to
three months from the date of billing. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade debtors and bills receivable
are set out in note 26(a).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

17 Cash and bank deposits

(@) Cash and bank deposits comprise:

17 BERBITER

(@) BRERBITEFREHE:

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

Current assets:
MEEE -

Cash at bank and in hand
RITEFRERRS

Bank deposits maturing within three months when placed
FREPER=EA RN ZRITHFR

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statement
FERERERAZRERESEEER

Bank deposits maturing after three months

ERHBIA=EA 2 RITEHR

Non-current assets:
FRBEE -
Pledged deposit
RFBEEEFER

396,372 156,948
872,103 486,006
1,268,475 642,954

151,498

1,268,475 794,452

At 31st March 2025, the Group has pledged a bank deposit of
$819,000 (2024: nil) as security for bank guarantee for a lease
arrangement.

At 31st March 2025, cash and cash equivalents situated in Mainland
China amounted to $124,711,000 (2024: $81,348,000). Remittance
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control.

RIEBEZRF=A=+—H  XEECEKHR
THEMB19000 T (ZE-_F . |)EFAHRE
ZHEZIRITIER -

RZE-RF=A=+—H '  AURPERHEz
BeRBESLEEERA124,711,000T (==
Z Y% :81,348,000T) c EEEHAFEAE
BrHBENMNEEH 2RI BRG] -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

17 Cash and bank deposits (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

generated from operations:

17 BERBITER@

(b) ERBIANERELELEXRBHRERS
ZH R

Profit before taxation

FREL AR

Adjustments for:

HE

- Share of losses of joint venture
-FrihEE A AR

- Depreciation of right-of-use assets
-FREEEZTE

- Depreciation of investment properties
-REVMEZIRE

- Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment
-HithE  BERRE2ZFE

- Amortisation of intangible assets

-BEAEZHE

- Recognition/(reversal) of impairment losses on trade and other

receivables
- (BE) BUEER R E MR 2 HEEE
- Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
- - BERREZRERSE
- Impairment losses on assets held for sale
-FEHEZEEZRERE
- Write down of inventories
R kat
- Interest on bank loans

-RITERZFE

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

2024

Notes —ENE
Fit 7E $'000 T 7t
316,990 131,668

13,469 23,736

5(d) 113,525 105,509

5(d) 126 126

5(d) 396,432 417,060

5(d) 110 279

5(c) (4,706)

5(c) 12,166

5(c) 3,593

15(b) 24,423
5(a) 19,478




Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 RERBITER@
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBMANGFELEEKABRE
generated from operations: (continued) ZEER ()
2025 2024
Notes —FThHEF —ENE
M &E $'000 Tt $'000 F 7t
- Interest on lease liabilities
5 10,550
EREEZFE @
- Interest income
4 23,225
_FBIA PR,
- Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 500) 2126
-HEYE BEREREZ (WBR) BEFE ’
- Equity settled share-based payment expenses
5(b 21,865
DU B R 2 B &
- COVID-19-related rent concessions 4 (787)
- 2019 Bt SHEEE SRR
- Foreign exchange loss
e 7,290
- EREE
Changes in working capital:
G EETLE
- (Increase)/decrease in inventories
o 35,491
-BFEOEmMm RS
- Decrease in trade and other receivables 79 625
- FEUR BR TR 2 Lt FE WU RROR '
_ Decreaif in trade andthher payables (65.615)
- FEAT BR SR I EL At BE 43 TR 2>
- Increase in employee retirement benefit liabilities 418

-EERRBEFEEL M

Cash generated from operations
— 889,929 |
RERRERS - .
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

17 BERBITER@
c0 MEIHELEZAGYE

TRHAJNAEERETHELE 2AEEEH &
FEERSRFELEH BMETHAELES
EEREREREGNRARRREREZRA
EEZHERERERANIERBETH 2R
ERE o

Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
RITEM HEAE HEt
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(Ff¥ 5% 20) (BfF3E21)
$'000 F it $'000 F T $'000 F it
At 1st April 2024
R—E—mEmA—Q 255,987 302,865 558,852
Changes from financing cash flows:
MERSREEE .
Proceeds from new bank loans
pid — 309,665 - 309,665
IRITERMENRE
Repayment of bank loans 298197 _ 298197
EERTER (298,197) (298,197)
Capital element of lease rentals paid _ 101.553 101.553
BAEERS 2 AAEH (101,353} (104,353)
Interest element of lease rentals paid
as - 19,424 19,424
BHEERS > FSHE SR S
Interest paid
13,692 - 13,692
BAFE ( ) ( )
Total changes from financing cash flows 29294 120.977 123.201
MERSHRBL DAL (2,224) (120,977) (123,201)
Exchange adjustments
BE 35 s (2,057) (227) (2,284)
Other changes:
Hihg& s :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases
during the period = 98,376 98,376
HARBEILHEEZHESEEM
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease modification
- . - 1,301 1,301
R BT 2 R A D tEoot) S,
Finance costs (note 5(a))
yiian 13,692 19,424 33,116
A& A (MiEE50))
At 31st March 2025 265,398 298,160 563,558

R-2-_AF=A=+—H
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 RERBITER@

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) METHELEZBBYER @
activities (continued)

Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
RITER HEas F
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(Mt &E 20) (M5 21)
$'000 F 7t $°000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
'?,ff;‘g’r;' g?ésﬁ _g 524,686 136,186 660,872
Changes from financing cash flows:
MERSTEEE
Proceeds from new bank loans
#7148 4R 17 B BB 208 61,334 - 61,334
SRR s (310,365) - (310,365)
Capital element of lease rentals paid
BNARALAREH - 101412 101412
Interest element of lease rentals paid
BHAERS 2 FSHH - (10,550) (10,550)
Lol (19,478) - (19,478)
%;’22;22%%5@%%”0”‘% ERULET (268,509) (111,962) (380,471)
Exch j
é‘;%‘g adjustments (19,668) (1,506) (21,174)
Other changes:
H{th& g :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases
during the period - 272,491 272,491
HARBEILHEEZHESEEM
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 4) ~ (787) (787)
2019 Bk m S HAEEE € B (it 4)
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease modification
R It =Y LD - (2:107) (2,107)
;fﬂg;;ezg‘zsﬁg‘g;f(a” 19,478 10,550 30,028
gggygg‘é(gi + g 255,987 302,865 558,852
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 RERBITER@

(d) Total cash outflow for leases d HERSRHLHEEE

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for leases T EFTAGEBRERER ZHEBFE LT E
comprise the following: B:

2025 2024
—E-ERF —ENE
$'000 F 7t $'000 T 7t
Within operating cash flows
e - 38,270 41,635
KEHRESRENRN
Within financing cash flows
. - 120,977 111,962
MERERER
159,247 153,597
These amounts relate to the following: ZEREELTIEE R
2025 2024
—E-ERF —ENE
$'000 F 7t $'000 T 7t
Lease rentals paid
159,247 153,597
18 Assets held for sale 18 BHIEHEZEE

During the year ended 31st March 2024, the Group commenced REBEZZE-_NFE=ZA=+—HILFE X&E
negotiations with a third party to dispose of certain property, plant ERRESE=A2HE KMEEXEEET
and equipment of the Group (“Disposal Assets”). The negotiation #% -HBERZE(HEEE] - HERER
process began before the year end and management considered RIfE MEEBR AR S BEUREETR o
the transaction is highly probable to be completed. The Disposal HEEZECR=F —IE B=+—-HzZ&H&
Assets have been classified as assets held for sale in the consolidated BB RRRIP EABFEHEZEE - HEBE
statement of financial position as at 31st March 2024. An impairment RE—FENFS o BEAFFHEMBEIDRERE
loss of $3,593,000 was recognised for the Disposal Assets on initial 183,593,000 7t °

classification as held for sale during the previous year.

On 3rd April 2024, the Group has entered into an agreement —E_NEENA=H FAEEREEHESE
with the third party for the sales of Disposal Assets at a total Eiﬁi E=FEILtHE BRER6,624,0007T °
consideration of $6,624,000. The disposal was completed during the  HEEBEECRAAREERTHK °

current year.
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19 Trade and other payables

19 BNRMAREMEMSK

2025 2024
—E2-hEF —EE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

Current liabilities:
HEEE:

Trade creditors and bills payable
EAERREMRE

Accrued expenses and other payables

FE=H B A & H A FE S 5K

Receipts in advance from customers
FlEFRIE

Non-current liabilities:

FRBEE -

Other payables
H AT

837,077 881,697
895,682 895,111

38,260 47,919

1,771,019 1,824,727

9,182 8,955

All of the trade and other payables included in current liabilities are
expected to be settled within one year, except for customer deposits
amounting to $23,039,000 (2024: $23,341,000) which are expected
to be settled after more than one year.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AEEBRBFARDEEZAERNERARE
fill AT R — F R {E3R - H23,039,000 7T (=
T TIME 1 23,341,0007T) 2B FRERFEHR
BR-FREER-

RE®RB BNRIRENERBERZERTAHZ
SREQ DT -

2024
—EomE
$'000 F T

Within three months
=@AR

Three to six months

=EXEAR

Over six months

NEA £

836,098 875,120

757 3,152

3,425

837,077 881,697

The Group’s general payment terms are one to two months from the
invoice date.

AEE-REYKBRBEBRAHET -2
WEA -
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19 Trade and other payables (continued) 19 EARIFREMEMSR @
Movements in receipts in advance from customers FEWEEREZ2EE

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

Balance at 1st April

63,830
RIMA— B z48%
Exchange adjustments
2,832
fE 5 A ( )
Decrease in receipts in advance from customers as a result of recognising
revenue during the year that was included in the receipts in advance from (47,644) (60,692)

customers at the beginning of the period
EEREZBA (BT AR 2BREFRIBR) EFFEWRE P FRIBRD
Increase in receipts in advance from customers as a result of receiving forward

sales deposits during the year 3,169,803 3,114,787
EFEAWEGR SRS EHFRRE F FIEE M

Decrease in receipts in advance from customers as a result of recognising
revenue during the year that was included in the forward sales deposits
received during the year

HFEABRWA (BFAFARBMZERHEEREN) EHFAREFHERD

;ialjn);e _atJ:,lstEI I\Sgé% 38,260 47,919
N = - - ~a BR

(3,131,656) (3,067,174)
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20 Bankloans

At 31st March 2025, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

20 RITEM

Within one year or on demand
—FRARIZER
After one year but within two years

—FREMFA

NRZZE-AF=ZA=+—0 HKITEZERT
SIHAREE -

2025 2024

—E2-hEF —ENE

$'000 F T $000 F T

228,916 255,987

36,482 -

265,398 255,987

As of the end of the reporting period, no bank loans were secured by
charges over property, plant and equipment (note 11(e)).

As at 31st March 2024, certain of the Group’s banking facilities
were subject to compliance with certain financial covenants, as
were commonly found in borrowing arrangements with financial
institutions. The Group did not comply with certain financial
covenants as required in the banking facilities agreement with a
bank for outstanding loan amounts of approximately $100,661,000,
which are presented as current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March 2024. On 21st
September 2023, the Group obtained waiver from the bank in
relation to its covenant requirements for the outstanding bank loan
of approximately $100,661,000, which was subsequently repaid
during the current year.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set
out in note 26(b).

RERAB - BEBRITERUNE  BMERRE
ERERER (HEE11e) °

RZZE_ME=A=+—H0 F~EBE TR
SEEBETE TUHEE I AT
VEERHERZERAE AEEMRETH
—BERITITLNRTEERZMRENSE T
BRFE REZEREEEHN100,661,0007T
HRAREBR -—SE-_NE=ZA=+—B2&#8H
BMRRERPIARBEE - R-_ZE-_=FNA
—+—HB AEEESZRTHREEREKRER
$RITE 4 100,661,000 TR RHEER - LR
TEFHERTFEREE -

FEAEEEERDESARCE—SHER
M EE 26(b) °
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21 Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group's lease liabilities:

2025
—EZLEF
Present
value of the
minimum lease
payments
=EHESE
AR2RE
$'000 F 7t
Within one year 109,921
—FR
After one year but within two years
—FRERER
After two years but within five years
MERBERFR
After five years
hE®

298,160

Less: Total future interest expenses

o RRF S B AR

Present value of lease liabilities
298,160

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

21 HEAE

TREINFREBEZHESBZHRTEHOHIR

Total

lease
payments
HEMA
L]
$’'000 Tt

112,865

116,693

20,060

228,198

341,063

(42,903)

2024
—EomE

Present
value of the Total
minimum lease lease
payments payments
REREE HENRK
R2RE BEE
$'000 T 7t $'000 F 7t
104,865 107,749
70,226 77,140
120,400 151,689
7,374 18,813
198,000 247,642
302,865 355,391
(52,526)
302,865
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22 Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates and participates in a number of defined
contribution and defined benefit retirement plans in and outside
Hong Kong.

(a) Defined contribution retirement plans

(i) The Group operates a defined contribution retirement plan,
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited Staff Provident Fund
(the “DC Plan”), which is available for all eligible staff employed
by the Group in Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR before 1st
August 2000. The DC Plan is funded by contributions from
employees and the Group, both of which contribute sums
representing 5.0% - 7.5% of their basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are credited to members’ accounts in accordance
with the rules of the DC Plan. The DC Plan is administered
by trustees with the assets held separately from those of the
Group. The employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
contributions after ten completed membership years, or at an
increasing scale of between 50% to 90% after completion of
five to nine membership years.

Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong SAR not joining
the defined contribution retirement plan are required to
join the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by an independent
corporate trustee. Under the MPF scheme, the Group and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to the
MPF scheme vest immediately.

(i) Employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are members
of the central pension scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of employees’ remuneration to the central pension
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation for the Group
with respect to the central pension scheme is the associated
required contribution under the central pension scheme.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

22 EERIKEF

AEBEEBREBUIMNMEBERIR S MSIE
REHRFRAERBARMKEE -

(a) REMKEMNKEE

i) AEEEFER-ZZZTENA—-HZ
AEEBEINTHRERBRMEITHE
SEIAEEEGEKREIRI—ERE
MR KRG B ([FREMRRETED) (41
EREEERATRERES) - REM
MBI zEeRBEERTEB ZHMK -
EHHREEARSF Z50%E7.5% &
WK REREERE 2R
FERECRE REMRTERASRE
AAEE FIBEENEAEBMEE
PHERE - ESHEHERTFE EET
EEEMEFER MBSEFEERE
hWETZEEZ2EEMFAE S L BIH50%
ZEHIBE 90% o

AN & B W 3 200 R E HFGR IR
FECEBERNTHEET  4ARE
EBCRFMEABETERI S MAE
Bzt et (EEHEIES
FFED - BHEMHLAEETEA—HERE
HEERE BB EEETEABTE -
BERFELABESHE  AEERES
ZEEAREEERARA (FBVWAZEA
EBRA30,0007T) 2 5% @&t &R o [
BEHME AT EX T2 HARAEES -

(i) HEAEHELRZEESDRDEBF
RUZPREBEAEAEZHE - AEH
AREEMECETHI LA P RENK
EHEER REANRHES - FKH
BARBRAETHEIFABIT2HE—TEE
BEPREARETEMEHAE 2 EEMH
o BE XN 2 HRAGER -
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(a) Defined contribution retirement plans (continued)

(iii) For employees in Australia, contributions made by the
Group to a registered superannuation fund for its employees
increased from 11.0% to 11.5% of the employees’ salaries
from 1st July 2024 (2024: from 10.5% to 11.0% of the
employees’ salaries from 1st July 2023). The assets of the
scheme are held separately by an independently administered
fund. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b) Defined benefit retirement plans

At 31st March 2025, the Group recognised employee retirement
benefit liabilities in respect of the following employee retirement
benefits:

22 EEERAKER @

(a) REMKEMNKTE @)

iy BMNEEFB A£EE[HD-BEHE
EMBzaMERKESc#Hamg ==
“HMEtA-HEBREEHFE211.0%
WE115% (ZE-_ME .- B=ZE==
F+tA-—BEERESEFHF S Z2105%EE
11.0%) TBIEERBIYEE ESD
BIEE - BB 2 EREESHEE -

T

) REBAEBAEE
R-ZZE-_RAF=A=+t—H0 A5EHRTIE
BRABEFNEDEERAEBENEE

Employee retirement benefit liabilities
EERKEFEE

- retirement gratuities (note 22(c)(i))

- R E (B EE 22(c)(0)

- long service payments (note 22(d))

- REBRK £ (EE 22(d)

2025 2024
—E2-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

3,000
16,164

(c) Retirement gratuities

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR, who
have completed a prescribed minimum period of service and joined
the Group before a specific date, are entitled to retirement gratuities
upon retirement age. The gratuity is based on the employee’s last
month’s salary and the number of years of service.

A funded defined benefit retirement plan, Vitasoy International
Holdings Limited Defined Benefit Scheme (the “DB Plan”), was
established for the retirement gratuities. The DB Plan is administered
by an independent corporate trustee, with assets held separately
from those of the Group. The DB Plan is funded by contributions
from the Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

The latest actuarial valuation of the DB Plan was at 31st March 2025
and was prepared by independent professionally qualified actuaries
at Willis Towers Watson, using the projected unit credit method.
The valuation indicates that over 93% (2024: 93%) of the Group'’s
obligation under this defined benefit retirement plan is covered by
the plan assets held by the trustee.

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() EBAKE @

RERAH B BEBEHANR-_E-HF
CHCZ+-—EHERER B IEESERE
BRSNS SRR T ARG ERR
AEBRBEZREENRKSEFABIT S
EHPBIBII% (B =ME : 93%) S5 A
BEZHBEERE -

() RESHBRRRBRZERWT :

Present value of wholly funded obligations
THEDEEZRE
Fair value of plan assets

SEEEZAR

Employee retirement benefit liabilities
EERKEFEES

2025 2024
—EARF —EME
$'000 3t $000 Tt

45,871 46,017
(42,626) (43,017)
3,245 3,000

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after
more than one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate
this amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve months,
as the retirement benefit entitled by scheme members and future
contributions to the plan will also depend on staff turnover and
future changes in actuarial assumptions. The Group expects to pay
$606,000 in contributions to defined benefit retirement plan during
the year ending 31st March 2026.

FEH LB ES O NER —FEEE - Am
HREREERZE2ERBANRBE 2
ERRIBETFEIRBRRBERRBEZ
BEME  WSRKEERRTZEARNFTE
SN2 ETHBELRTT AEEEHAE
EEARF=ZA=+—HLEFERREERN
ERET B S X 606,000 7T ©
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @
(i) Plan assets consist of the following: (i) FEAEEERETISHE:

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $'000 F T

Plan assets with quoted price in active market
RiEEMIGZHREZGEEE
Equities

BRE

- Financial

- B

- Consumer discretionary
-EABHES

- Industrials

_ I¥

- Consumer staples
-REHEHER

- Other

-Hith

7,414
5,082
3,495
1,460

13,020

30,045 30471

3,319
8,468
11,787 12,247

Cash, current assets and current liabilities 794 299
e RBEERRBEE
Total quoted plan assets

e 42,626 43,017
BHEHAERE -

Bonds

- Corporate bonds

- REES

- Government-related bonds

-BFHEEES

3,505

8,742
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @

(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit (iii)
obligations are as follows:

RERNEEZREZHOT :

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EF
$000 ¥t $000 Tt

At 1st April

HMA—H

Remeasurement:

B8

- Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from changes in demographic assumptions

-HAOSTRENE B BEEER (k)

- Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from changes in financial and experience
assumptions

-HREREHRBRNEMBBERE, (KFH)

Benefits paid by the DB Plan

REBAFESHEF

Current service cost

BAEBRBEA

Interest cost

R B RA

At 31st March
MR=B=+—H

57,508

(1,265)
(1,256)

(12,453)
1,861

1,622

45,871 46,017

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligationis 4 REBMNEFT 2 NEFHHREA4FE (ZEZWN
years (2024: 5 years). FI58F) o
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @
(iv)  Movements in fair value of plan assets are as follows: (iv) FTEIEEZAARBEZHWT :

2025 2024
—ET-HF —EMF
$'000 F 7T $'000 F 7t
At 1st April
43,017 53,725
REA—H

Contributions paid to the DB Plan

[ R E R AEEMEE 2 K

Benefits paid by the DB Plan
AEBAFESHEF

Administrative expenses paid from plan assets
HAEEEINZITHER

Return on plan assets, excluding interest income

HEAERE  TRERSEA

Interest income

R E WA

At 31st March
o 42,626 43,017

960 1,313

(4,513) (12,453)

(96) (99)

1,830 (1,002)

1,428 1,533
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

(v) Net expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() R’BAE @
v RESEZERHME2ERSERERZH

Current service cost

BB R B A

Administrative expenses paid from plan assets
HABEEINZTHRER

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

RERMNEBEFEZFENE

Total amounts recognised in profit or loss

RIS 2 B

Actuarial losses/(gains)

BEER (KH)

Return on plan assets, excluding interest income

SEEERR  TEEBEMNSWA

Total amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

REMEEE SRR 2 BEE

Total defined benefit expense

REBMAMX

TOREENT

2025 2024

ot S 2 —E-ME
$’000 F it $'000 F 7t
1,861

99

89

2,049
1,265 (2,521)
(1,830) 1,002
(565) (1,519)

1,205 530

The current service cost and the net interest on net defined benefit
liability are recognised in the following line items in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss:

REBANEEFFAZRARBAARFNED
E(‘%ré?;ami‘%*hz"l’ﬁﬂ%lﬁﬁﬁw :

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses
HE - - HERSHER

Administrative expenses

THER

Other operating expenses

HtEE &M

2025 2024
—E-hEF —E-NE
$'000 Tt $°000 F 7t
763 882

716 833

291 334

1,770 2,049
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are
as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() R’BAE @
(vi) BABEBRRRHBMUEIFTOT

2024
—E-MEF

Discount rate

e

Future salary increases

KRR E T IBIE

3.0% 3.4%

KRV LSENLTIOE  4.0% per annum

BF3.5% F4.0%

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit obligations
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the
significant actuarial assumptions:

UTAMBERRAERBINEETERERBERRO0.5%
gEgmLEA (T :

2025 2024
— S —E-mEF
Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in
EH# T EFH T Bk
0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
$’000 F it $'000 F 7T $000 F 7t $'000 Tt
Discount rate
1,045 1,087
ok (1043
Future salary increases
. = 1,156 1,120
R €L E ( )

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that
changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore
it does not take into account the correlations between the actuarial
assumptions.
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for
at least five years are entitled to long service payments (“LSP”) in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or
redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal.
The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at $22,500) and the years of service,
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s contribution to the MPF scheme (see note 22(a)(i)), or the
DC Plan (see note 22(a)(i)) or the DB Plan (see note 22(c)), with an
overall cap of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligation.

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government”)
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Scheme
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”), which come into effect from 1st May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). The Amendment Ordinance abolish
the statutory right of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a
Hong Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to
the MPF scheme. Separately, the Government introduced a subsidy
scheme to assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued
benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective
of the contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date)
to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment
commenced before the Transition Date, the employer can continue
to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of
the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of the service up to that date. The Group has
accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as disclosed
in note 1(q)(ii).

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to Hong Kong
employees that do not participate in the DB Plan. The Amendment
Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s LSP liability with
respect to employees that participate in the DB Plan.

22 EEERAKER @

(d RER®Bz

REEFB(RB®R)  -EETERT » BEBE
ERERBELLIFTEARMBES (RY
BEE]) ZEBERNERRERBREFETS
FREUNCERREBIREE BENR6SHEN
ULERAKFEREVBEERREBRERT
BH - BERPBRBESESREDSZRER
#BH < (ERAH225007T) kKRB FH - IWHIR
AREERB S8 (R MEE22()) 257 E #K
=t &) (R M aE 22(a)(i)) SR E & A8 (R M e
22(c)) BERN A KB E R 2 B AR
BHES 24 LR A390,0007T « A< 5 B 17 B
WEE B ESZHUBTERBBRBEER -

N—BZZFXA BEBERTRERS (K
¥ 1) T 27 2022 5 {8 18 & 3R ¢ 5 &% 6 (K 88
Z ) UBET) R B ([ZEFTIRGD - HBE=F
“TEHFRA-BRERTEELHD - ZEFT
RPIEREEAFAHE O RE ST EFEL 28
FMERBLERNEEZRMBRBE 2EE
R %—FHH  BARERKEHBRE

Hep —HEOHE TR LN BEBBEA
HEMASERR A ERES HX (BHR
BERHZA - EHHZREH ZHF) FEE
ZERARG DR EREERBFHZRY
RIS A - EENEE B BAICHAEZE -
REXI#HECER LM RTRESRDBEZA
WA EERBFHZRERBE 555
BEAMARBFH2RIRBSEREER
BEBERHAZAFREEBEA N ZRBEF
HEtE UM E QM AN E  AREEH
EHEES R HEBUE R ETETER

AEECHEE  ZEBIRIEZELELIEEY
VESERERAFEZEBRE 2 RMRK
SEME - ZBITRARAEEHCSERER
MetBlzBE2RMBBEEARBEEATE -
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments (continued)

An actuarial valuation of LSP was also carried out at 31st March
2025, by independent professionally qualified actuaries at Willis
Towers Watson, using the projected unit credit method.

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of unfunded obligations
and its movement are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

d RHER%ES @
EYBRBEINR-_BE-_RE=HA=+—HHE
RER B U EEAERBEMRAETEN
EEEETREME -

() REESHBRRREIZSHLEED
BEE2RE HEHWT :

2025 2024
_?_£$ —7—@515
$'000 F 7t $'000 F T

At 1st April

KREUA—H

Remeasurement:

EHHE

- Actuarial losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

-AAOGRSBRRAZ AR ZEEEE

- Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial and experience assumptions

-HARBRERBRRIEMAZBEE RS

Benefits paid by the Group
REBC BRI

Expenses recognised in profit or loss:

BEEREX

Current service cost

RB R A
Past service cost - scheme amendments
WIERKEAA - 5HEIES

Interest cost

R B R A

At 31st March
MK=B=+—H

21,052

5,238

(9,808)

(1,393)

3,111

(2,609)

573

1,075

16,164
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments (continued)

(i) (continued)

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after
more than one year. However, it is not practical to segregate this
amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve months, as the
retirement benefit payable will also depend on staff turnover and
future changes in actuarial assumptions.

The weighted average duration of the LSP obligation is 11 years
(2024: 10 years).

(ii) The above expenses are recognised in the following line items
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

22 EEERAKER @

(d) REBR®E @
0 (&)

EH BB EO S RNER — FRBME - AT
HRENRAEANTISEFEIRBREEER
BRAKRZZEME  HWELREERRTZ
BRAESR N 2 SEFMBEL AT ©

REBRESET2MEFLIHRALLIFE (=
ZHEFE D 105F) o

(i) EARBACRGESBERTETIEE

Cost of sales

SHE A

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

THER

Other operating expenses

HitiEE &R

(iii) Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are
as follows:

Discount rate

S

Future salary increases

KRR T IBIE

e

2025 2024
—E-HF —E-MF
$'000 F 5 $'000 F 7
26
8)
740
317

(i) BEABEBRERBBEINNOT :
2024
—E-ME
3.6% 3.9%

3.5% per annum

H£3.5%

4.0% per annum

BF4.0%
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(d) Long service payments (continued) d) RER¥XS @
(i)  (continued) (iiiy (&)

The below analysis shows how the long service payment obligations WU T OB REHBRELEEREABERR
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the  0.5% % &)W £ H (T ¥) :
significant actuarial assumptions:

2025 2024
—ERF —ENF
Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in
E# T ¥ EFH T Bk
0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
$’'000 Tt $’000 F It $'000 F 7t $°000 F 7t
Discount rate
779 842
e RS 79
Future salary increases
. _ 183 (183)
KRR & ILIE

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that LSRRI MIIUBREBERE 2B 228
changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore WEBHEEEAELE AUHITEZERBERRK
it does not take into account the correlations between the actuarial ~ Z B Z HIZEE ©

assumptions.
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions

(@) Share option scheme

The Company adopted share option schemes on 28th August 2012
(the “2012 Share Option Scheme”) and 30th August 2022 (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”) whereby the Directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including Directors of any company in the Group, to take up options
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. The 2012 Share
Option Scheme were terminated on 27th August 2022. Subject
to their respective exercisable periods, all outstanding options
granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme will still be valid and
exercisable after the expiration of the 2012 Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options is determined by the Directors of
the Company and is the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; and (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

The options are exercisable for a period not to exceed 10 years from
the date of grant. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe
for one share in the Company.

23 LURBANRERZXS

(a) BEESTE
AATRZBE—ZFNAZ+ N \BRMBRE
FE(ZE—Z—ZFEREFEDRRZ=ZE=_C
FNB=+HEMNERESE(ZEZF1B
REFE]D Bl AQAFAESERENE
BEAEECEE BEAEEETEMAR
REB)EMBEREURBALATEER - —F
——FEREFEER=-ZEZFEFNA=-+t
BRILE-RBEESBTHESR AERE=-F
——EBRENEARLECRITEERER=-ZF
——EBREGEBREREENABMRT
FATE o

BREZTHEEHAQAESEE AUATZ
BeE (IRONREAB (EALAREXRH)
EBRTEEEG 2 WHE  RINVRONBEERE
AR R EE XA EBR ARG 2 FHIRHE -

BREZTEHISEBREABET Z+F -
BEBREZFEAYEERE -RADARND -
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 UIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) HERRBESHE (@)

(i)  The terms and conditions of the unexpired and unexercised (i) RERBz2RERRRITEBERE 2K
share options at the end of the reporting period are as follows, RRGEHNT EBEREHDURG 2
whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares: BEYMRWESE

2025 2024
—EBCERE —ECmE

Date of grant Exercise period Contractual life Remaining Remaining
(dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) of options Exercise contractual Number of contractual Number of
R B fTEH BREZ price life options life options
(R/B/%)  (B/B/%) ANEY el EUCLES IR U PGl s5ah8 BREZZE

$TT '000 F i '000 &%
10/09/2014 10/09/2015 to 2 09/09/2024 10 years 10.080 = 5 months A 1,792
26/06/2015 26/06/2016 to 2 25/06/2025 10 years 13.600 [N 1 year 18
14/09/2015 14/09/2016 to & 13/09/2025 10 years (KXYl 5 months A 1year 1,588
24/06/2016 24/06/2017 to & 23/06/2026 10 years 14.792 1 year 2 years 198
06/09/2016 06/09/2017 to £ 05/09/2026 10 years 14792 1 year 2 years 1,420
26/06/2017 26/06/2018 to & 25/06/2027 10 years F 16.296 2years Jyears 1,532
19/06/2018 19/06/2019 to & 18/06/2028 10 years F 25.100 3years & 4years 1,596
28/01/2019 28/01/2020 to & 27/01/2029 10 years F 30.350 = 5 years 320
21/06/2019 21/06/2020 to & 20/06/2029 10 years 44.810 4years £ 5 years 1,126
22/06/2020 22/06/2021 to & 21/06/2030 10 years 30.200 5 years 6 years 1,504
24/08/2021 18/06/2022 to 2 23/08/2031 10 years 19.500 6 years 7 years 2012
04/07/2022 04/07/2023 to £ 03/07/2032 10 years 14.140 7 years 8 years 2,705

26/06/2023 26/06/2024 to & 25/06/2033 10 years 12.216 8 years 9 years 3,040
26/06/2024 26/06/2025 to & 25/06/2034 10 years & 6.352 9 years - -

19,411 18,851
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 UIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) HERRBESHE (@)

(i) (continued) (i) (&)

Except for the options granted on 28th January 2019 which willbe BRZZE—AF—AZ+NBEHZBEREE
50% vested after the first anniversary from the date of grantand B E BB EERFEESRFERARE
50% vested after the second anniversary from the date of grantand H BB F - BFEES%EBURABAZ
the options granted on 24th August 2021 which are subjecttoa ZBEZ—FNAZ+ HNEHBH-BREBHR=-Z
vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum starting from 18th Z=Z=F XA+ N\BifsHUEF25% 2tk =5t
June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025, all the options SEEB WHR=ZFE-AFEAT+N\BEIEEN
are exercisable progressively and the maximum percentage of the FIBAIFITHE2BREHE DELSEN MK
options which may be exercised is determined in stages as follows: RERATHEEREZED L LRAT ¢

Percentage of
options granted

LEEBRREZAESL

On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant

R BB —BFHIHR
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant
R BB mEFHHR
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant

REBHEF=ZBEFRHEE

On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant

RHBABETNBFHAER

25%

another 3 25%

another 3 25%

another 3 25%

During the year, no options (2024: 1,704,000 options) were  F i - #IEE R E (ZZ =Y F : 1,704,000 {3

exercised under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, and no options ER#E) BE = ——FEREFTECSETE

(2024: nil) were exercised under the 2022 Share Option Scheme. URHEERE(CE_NFE . 8)RE_-F
T FBRESTECERT
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 UIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) HERRBESHE (@)

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share (i) BRECHBERMNEEHITEENT :
options are as follows:

2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NE
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
MEEHTEE BiREZHE LRS- BRE S B
$ T ’000 F & $ T '000 F &%
Outstanding at 1st April
7 2o e 18.711 18,502
AMA— B RITE
Exercised during the year
L 9.370 1,704
R PO B
Granted during the year
, 12.216 3,164
RERTEH
Forfeited on termination of
employment of eligible participants
or lapsed during the year 17.825 (1,2111)
H & &2 5L B T A 4 0 0R UR
B
Outstanding at 31st March
R W = 18.517 18,851
R=EA=+—HERITE
Exercisable at 31st March 11,673 12.438

R=ZB=t—RBH{Tf&

No share options were exercised during the year. The weighted SFREBETFEFERE STE2BRENLE
average share price at the date of exercise for share options FEZTFERH 2 MEFHREE 134337 °
exercised during the previous year was $13.433.

The number of options granted during the year divided by the FRBHBEREHERUFEFRNCRITROZ

weighted average number of issued shares for the year was 0.49%  MEFITEAE0.49% (ZZE M4 : 0.30%) °
(2024: 0.30%).
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

23 Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)

(@)  Share option scheme (continued)

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options granted
is measured based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual life of
the share option is used as an input into this model. Expectations of
early exercise are incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

Fair values of share options and assumptions:

23 LURBANRERZX S @

(a) BREFTE @

(i) BREZAABERES
AEBUBEEERERESREZAAME
NBEEREHERESAABHE - CEHE
BMEZ G AABENSERGEERTE B
REZSHNEPAEZER —EHASH -
BERSTEZAPRHASERSEER 2K o

BREZDXABERRR:

Date of grant (dd/mm/yyyy)
BEAB(R/B/E)
062015 WOS/05 24062016 06/0S/20M6 261062017 19/06/2018 2B/0UV19 2062019 20/ 4ONNA OHOHL 2606028 261062024

Faivieat bt . ) _ ) ) ) ) _ _ _ i i )
TRCTSITEE  gmer peR R BT NIBE GIUE UOWE MAUE OMIE SOBE MIOE  SI0E SSMR
REREZANE
Hﬂfpr“ SBA0%  SULBOR  SLTE SISINE  SI600%  SSINE SNN0T  SRT0E SON0T  S9M00% SRR SI0K0%  $60407
8
Exercise price - - - - - - - - - - - - -
i SOK07 SI360F ST SMTNE MAM6T  SBANE  S0N0E  SMBOT  SOINE SUSIT SMMOR ST S630R
8
Expected vt

pected Vil O . R R R Y Y . . R
RRE
Enectadoton i
gg;;%g;g:&; 0yearsE  0years®  0yearsE  0yearsF  0yeasE  0yeasE  10yeas®  0years®  WyearsE  yearsFE  0yearsE  10yearsE  W0years
Expeced ikdend
ﬁxgqe;; e W % 2% 2% 2% % 20% % 2% 2% 1% 0% 0%
Rt
ﬂ;}wie%itemmte 0% U706 100 095 LM% 2% LB0%  L0% 050N L0N% 270 0% 240N

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There was no market
conditions associated with the share option grants.

AHRERELRBEE TREAHASE
BBLARROR IR 2B AR T AR - B
RERELREEE -TBBARK2EHA
HRAREZETELEERTE -

BRERRBRBEREMRE - LIEERAES
EfERZEZAAERREEB) KTEER
25 o $% W BB IR X SR B AR TS IR AT o
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)
(b) Share award scheme

On 22nd March 2021, the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “2021 Share Award Scheme”) under which the Company may,
at its discretion, select any eligible participant to participate in the
2021 Share Award Scheme as an award holder, and such award
holder may be granted an award of restricted shares, performance
shares, restricted share units or performance share units. The 2021
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years from 1st July 2021 unless terminated earlier by the Board of
Directors.

The terms and conditions of the share awards granted during the
period are as follows, whereby all awards are settled by physical
delivery of shares:

23 LURBANRERZX S @

(b) ROERBE
RIBE-—F=A=Z+=H AQFACEMN—

ERD RS (2= —F RO EZEE)
Bt AAFUERARERE BEENSER
SHREURBEREANSONSEH_Z_-FR
MRETE MARRBSEATERTER
BB RERD  ZRVROEBAIRER
MENZER —E--FRORBTHH=
B -FLA-HBEX BRHATF (ER
EESRAKLERRI) -

RABAR L 2 RBRMD 2 FRRRARFDT -
FIERESIURD 2 ENRKEE :

Number of shares awarded

RERH2EA
Fair As at As at
Date of grant ~ Vesting period value per 1st April Granted Vested Lapsed  31st March
(dd/mm/yyyy)  (dd/mm/yyyy) award 2023 during during during 2024
REAH B Note BBz R-E-=F the year the year theyear R-ZE-IF
(R/B/%®) (B/R/%) i ARE MA-A REARE REREE RERXM ZA=+-AH
$7T '000 F &% '000 F & '000 F & ‘000 F Bt '000 F &%
24/08/2021  24/08/2021to & 18/06/2025 (i) 18.220 468 = (143) (51) 274
20/12/2021  20/12/2021 to & 20/12/2023 (ii) 16.010 94 = = (94) =
01/02/2022  01/02/2022 to & 18/06/2025 (i) 14.460 169 = (56) = 113
04/07/2022  04/07/2022 to & 04/07/2026 (i) 13.003 1,420 - (337) (170) 913
26/06/2023  26/06/2023 to & 26/06/2027 (i) 10415 - 1,643 - (48) 1,595
2,151 1,643 (536) (363) 2,895
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 UIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(b) Share award scheme (continued) (b) M BEIEE (@)

Number of shares awarded

RERA2HA

Fair Asat Asat
Date of grant ~ Vesting period value per 1st April Granted Vested [ETYGE  31st March
(dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) award 2024 during during during 2025
REBH FEH Note BRikHz R-B-NE the year the year the year [ et Jmkig:2
(B/B/%) (B/B/#) Mt &t ARE MA—-B REARY REREE REAXY BiEEm:

$7 '000 FB% '000 FB% '000 T B% '000 FB% '000 FB%
24/08/2021  24/08/2021 to £ 18/06/2025 (] 18.220 274 - (137) (27)
01/02/2022  01/02/2022 to £ 18/06/2025 (i) 14.460 113 - (57) -
04/07/2022  04/07/2022 to £ 04/07/2026 (iii) 13.003 913 - (298) (107)
26/06/2023  26/06/2023 to & 26/06/2027 (iii) 10415 1,595 - (382) (226)
26/06/2024  26/06/2024 to & 26/06/2028 (iii) 5.935 - 3114 - (305)

2,895 3,114 (874) (665) 4,470

The fair value of the awarded shares was based on the closing price =~ #ERHOZAARENERBEEBEH2ERKS
per share at the date of grant and adjusted by the fair value of the ERZEBEHAZREQNAEERAR  BEFE
dividends during the vesting periods as the grantees are not entited AESRBHANERZZERE -

to dividends during the vesting period.

The number of awards granted during the year divided by the HFRBEHZEBEHERUEACEITRME 20
weighted average number of issued shares for the year was 0.29%  #EFHIEHE029% (ZF U : 0.15%) °
(2024: 0.15%).

Notes: B &E -

(i) The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% (i) HEROBE TS F A+ N \NABEREE
each per annum starting from 18th June 2022 and are fully vested on 5% 2tk ZAMBEBE IR -_E_HFAA
18th June 2025. +NBEEEE -

(i) The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 50% (i) HERABE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A-t+HRBEREHF
each per annum starting from 20th December 2022 and are fully 50% 2t EZSMEB YR -_TE_=F+=_A4
vested on 20th December 2023. Z+RAEIMRB -

(i)  The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% (i) HERVHREBEP - BFRIZREF25%2

each per annum starting from the first anniversary of the date of grant LERAMEBE > AR E BBUBEEIE
and will be fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant. B -
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24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 24 FEMBRARZEAEH
financial position

(@) Current tax recoverable/(payable) in the () HEPBEMRRRZEW (BN
consolidated statement of financial position WEABEM T ¢
represents:

2025 2024
—EFE-RF —E-F
$000 ¥t $000 Tt
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
- (27,984) 22,144
AEEEBBHEE PEEEY
Provisional Profits Tax paid
N P 16,638 14,076
BT 2 AT G
(8,068)
Balance of Profits Tax relating to prior years (11)
EBAFEEB 2RSSR RIE
Taxation outside Hong Kong
. - 13,582
58 LUMEERLE e
(31,957) (21,661)
Summary BE
2025 2024
—E-EHF —EMF
$'000 Tt $'000 7t
Current tax recoverable
172 18,136
FE WIR HA i 18
Current tax payable
32,129 39,797
R BRI BUE §2r et S,

(31,957) (21,661)
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(RBEHBN - LUBHHE)

24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

24 HEMBRARZAEH @

(b) ERBELBEEE (EE)
RESBBRRRBRAZELEHEEE (BE)
ZEAKBORERZZEUNT -

Depreciation

allowances

in excess of
the related Future
depreciation benefit of
BHEEH Right-of-use Lease  taxlosses

TEZITE assets liabilities B EHE2

Employee Withholding
retirement taxon  Cash flow
benefits ~ Provisions  dividends hedges Total

SHE EAERE HERE  RRAZ ERRAEN Bt REEAHR REREHH E

$000Fm  $000Fx $000FT  $000FT

$000Fx $000Fx $000Frw $000FT  $000F 7%

Deferred tax arising from:
REUTEEZEXRE -
At 1st April 2023
R-BZ=£mA-A
Exchange adjustments
EiRZ
Credited/(charged) to

profit or loss 11,752 (588) 547 7228
REBHA/ (1K)

Credited/(charged) to
reserves - - -

R/ (HIER)

At 31st March 2024
R=E-ME=A=t-A

(86,292) (8,127) 8,337 164,663

2329 402 (413) (6,785)

(72,211) (8,313) 8471 165,106

3,903 106,482 (4,044) (344) 184578

= (5,628) = = (10,095)

12 4957 (740) = 23,168

(1,003) = = 344 (659)

2912 105,811 (4,784) = 196,992

Deferred tax arising from:
KEUTEEZELHE:
At 1st April 2024
R=B-MEMA—A
Exchange adjustments

EXRZ

Credited/(charged) to
profit or loss 18,944 (2,698) 3,561 (61,206)
REREA/ (108)

Credited to reserves
A

At 31st March 2025
R-ZE-RE=f=+-H

(72,211) (8,313) 8471 165,106

489 201 (220) (1,792)

(52,778) (10,810 11,812 102,108

2912 105,811 (4,784) = 196,992

- (1,080) = - (2,402)

475 8,232 (2,478) = (35,170)

244 - - - 244

3,631 112,963 (7,262) = 159,664
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24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 24 FZEMBRRRZAEH @
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised: (b)) ERIBELEHBEELEE (BE)
(continued) (&)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial A E B AR SR

position

2025 2024
—EERF —EME
$'000 3t $'000 Tt

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position 226,078 269,555
REEMBERNERERZELERIBEEFHE

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position (66,414) (72,563)

RiFEMBRRRERZELEHEREFE
159,664 196,992

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () KBRZEZEBEEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the HRIEMFINFHEZSHEE ~EBLERE
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax REBHEEE K Eth T = £ 706,410,000
losses and other temporary differences of $706,410,000 (2024: T (ZZ& =94 : 524,036,000 7t) = iE %t % 18
$524,036,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against EE > REEREERERIEEEREER
which the losses and other temporary differences can be utilised will KT EEA R RERFER LUIRETB A 2E
be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities. AEEREMERER -

Included in unrecognised tax losses is an amount of $106,619,000 KRERFH K EEFH 106,619,000 (ZE =Y
(2024: $46,078,000) which can be carried forward up to twenty £ : 46,078,000 7)) i A BBIEELE 2 EERLE
years from the year in which the loss originated, and an amount of &%=+ » } 285,213,000 7T (Z =P :
$285,213,000 (2024: $259,086,000) which can be carried forward ~ 259,086,0007T) A HEEELA 2 FEBEE
up to five years from the year in which the loss originated. The B ZHF - H8:314,578,000t (ZE =9 :
remaining balance of $314,578,000 (2024: $218,872,000) does not 218,872,000 7t) &t R ERBRITRUEE W o
expire under current tax legislation.
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends 25 BFX - -#HEREKRE
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) HERAEANTHZEE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AEBEGESERREARIN 2 ENHEEREER
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the ZHERFNGESEZEHR - AQTREZEER
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes ARBHORENRERZESEFHBEHINNT ¢
in the Company’s individual components of equity between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company b AT
Shares held
for share Share-based
award compensation
Share scheme Capital General reserve Hedging Retained Total
capital ROEEEE  reserve reseve  BHOER reserve profits _ equity
ot BE  #EZBH  WAGE  -BEE  BEGAE  UREE  RERY RabE
s $000Fw  $000Fx  $000Fm  $000Frm  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fk  $000FT
Balance at 1st April 2023
WoB- MR- AR 1,021,453 (7,226) 30,304 2261 77121 1748 1713647 2,839,308
Changes iq_qquity for the year:
REECERED:
Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits y 25(e)fi) - - (1,218) - - - 1,218 -
BEAREERZREREA
Shares issued on exercise of
. share optigns ) 25(c)(i) 19,791 - - - (3,824) - - 15,967
ROEBEREMR TR
Shares issued on vesting of
share awards 25(c)(i) 3154 - - - (3,154) - - -

AEBRORAARTRE

Vesting shares pursuant to the
share awarg scheme 25(d) - 4516 - - (4,773) - 257 -
RERDRE AFERHD

Shares purchased for share award

) scheme R .
RRORBHEBE 2RHG
Equity settled share-based

transactions N - - - - 21,865 - - 21,865
DRBBARER RS

Transfer from share-based
compensation reserve to
retained profits - - -

ARNERREREERERE

'

25(d) = (6,171) = = = = = (6,171)

(1,315) - 1,315 =

Final dividend approved in respect
of the previous year 25(bii = = = = > = (15,017) (15,017)
HEBRL-EERHBRE

Interim dividend declared in
respect of the current year 25(b)(i) - - - - - - (15,004) (15,004)
ERAEEZPERE

Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - - (1,748) 150,334 148,586
REE2ANEAR

o 1 1044398 (8881) 29086 2261 85920 - 1836750 2989534
N—=— —_— —_— =Ry
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BX - #HERKE @
(@) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) ARG 2EE @)
The Company (continued) AL E] ()
Shares held
for share Share-hased
award compensation
Share scheme Capital General reserve Hedging Retained Total
capital  FR{R IRt 2l reserve reserve  [RIAER reserve profits equity
Note kx BEZRGE  BRRE 0 -REE  BERE  HMEE 0 REER  ER4E
i $000Fx  $000Fx  $000Fm  $000Fx  $000Fm  $000Frw  $000Fk  $000F 7
Balance at 1st April 2024 )
N=@-mERA— AL 1,044,398 (8,881) 29,086 2,261 85,920 1,836,750 2,989,534
Changes in equity for the year:
REEZREEE:
Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 25(e)(i) - - (1,218) - - - 1,218 -
BEAREERERERA
Shares issued on vesting of
share awards 25(c)() 3,128 - - - (3,128) - - -
REBRARBMETRA
Vesting shares pursuant to the
share award scheme 25(d) = 5,337 - - (8,073) - 2,736 -
RERARBTAFTBRG
Shares purchased for share award
scheme 25(d) - (7,553) - - - - - (7,553)

AROEBTARE 2R
Equity settled share-based

transactions = = = - 21,781 - - 21,781
NRABNHER RS

Transfer from share-based
compensation reserve to
retained profits - - - - (10,862) - 10,862 -

BROERRERFERERE

A

Share buy-back

) : ; - - . 40,595 40,595
ke 25(c)(ii (40,595) (40,595)
Final dividend approved in respect

of the previous year 25(b)(i) = = = - - - (67,520) (67,520)
HEBRE-FEZRHBRE
Interim dividend declared in

respect of the current year 25(b)(i) = = - - - - (42,870) (42,870)
ERAEEZHERE
Unclaimed dividend write back

N - - - - - - 752 752

FERREZEH
Total comprehensive income for

the year = = = = = - 270,271 270,271
TEERANRER
EEREI L AR 1047526 (11097) 27868 2261 85,638 - 1971604 3123800

RZBZRF=A=+-B&H
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

25 &X - FEREKRE @

b) KR
(i) BNFERAAREZFEAZXFE
K2

2025 2024
—E-RF —E-E
$’'000 Tt $'000 F 7t

Interim dividend declared and paid of 4.0 cents per ordinary share
(2024' 1.4 cents per ordinary share)
EERREXFZ2HHRE -SSR BER 4.0
(ZZ2-mF - REBER 144

Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period

of 10.2 cents per ordinary share (2024: 6.3 cents per ordinary share)

(note 25(f))
RERBAZRRRZRERE -SREBEMR 10.210
(ZEZNEFE - SREERO6.31) (Mf&E25(f)

15,004

109,456 67,520

152,326 82,524

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
is based on 1,073,093,978 (2024: 1,072,814,812) ordinary shares,
being the total number of issued shares at the date of approval of
the financial statements.

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
was not recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

(i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year

FEiﬁH?ﬁ%ﬁﬂEZﬂiﬁﬁﬂ" m&;tt;’&ﬁﬂ%iﬁ
:lﬂl$ : 1,072,814,8125&)% %Hﬁ?r
REBRBEBER2AHRENERB L AER
AAE-

(i) BRE—HBEFE LRFAHER
SN TFERARBEFEAZENEE

2024
—EME
$'000 F T

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved
and paid during the year of 6.3 cents per ordinary share
(2024: 1.4 cents per ordinary share)
BRE-UBREEIRFAMERINZ
REREABREBROIW(ZZE-NF : SREBER 1.410)

15,017
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BFX - - #HEREKRE @
(c) Share capital () B=K
(i)  Issued share capital (i) EBEBITRX
2025 2024
—E-ERF —E-ME
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
K28 B ot | BRHEE Ex-l
'000 F A& $'000 F 7t '000 F i& $'000F T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
ERTREHEEZHEIR -
At 1st April
1,072,815 1,044,398 1,070,899 1,021,453
KROEA—H
Shares issued on exercise of share options
= = n 1,704 19,791
BATEBREmERITIRG
Shares issued on vesting of share awards 212 3154

MEBR M RBm TR
Shares issued and held as treasury shares

BROREREEREERS

At 31st March
1,073,094 1,047,526 1,072,815 1,044,398

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as EEBERZIFEATWEAEER 2KRE » 17
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEAQATZAELMERBRHEE—ZREHRE -
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with FAATZRGBEEMS MEZEREZAR
regard to the Company’s residual assets. LR o

(i) Shares issued under share option schemes (i) REBRETERTZKG

During the current year, no options were exercised to subscribe for ~ ANEEMERNT ZER 2 BREBEITE -
ordinary shares in the Company.

During the previous year, options were exercised to subscribe  E{EASEE » 1,704,000 R4 A T @K 2 B IR E
1,704,000 ordinary shares in the Company. The net consideration  EE{T{F « (R {BE 58 % 15,967,000 T I 2 18 A IR
of $15,967,000 was credited to share capital. $3,824,000 was 7 ° 3,824,000 7t B 1R #& Fff 5% 1(q)(iii) FT 8 = B3R
transferred from the share-based compensation reserve to the share ~ B RDERHEHBERARARE -

capital account in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(q)(iii).
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BFX - - #HEREKRE @
(c)  Share capital (continued) () B @)
(iii)  Share buy-back (iii) AR Af7EEE]

During the current year, 4,232,000 shares were repurchased on the — ZN5F R B SS FrE8 @ 4,232,000 B% JR 17 AR E
Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration (excluding expenses) (RN B1EBI %) £ 440,449,000 7t B I 3 4 1R
of approximately $40,449,000 and no shares were cancelled, 0 ' hEWNESBHITELER 20.39% - BEEH#E
representing 0.39% of the ordinary shares in issue at the beginning of & 5 A 24X #J 146,000 7t * 4 £840,595,000 5t &
the year. Together with the direct transaction cost of approximately R {REHEFI P HIR o

$146,000, a total amount of $40,595,000 was accounted for as a

deduction from retained profits.

Below table shows the details of the share repurchased during the THRETEANBLOROWFAER -
year:

Aggregate
consideration
(excluding
Number of  Highest price  Lowest price Average price expenses)
shares per share per share per share HBIE
B3 8 E ERBESE BERREE SRTHE (FEEFEEX)
'000 F A% $7T $T $T $°000 F 7T
Share repurchased:
EEEKEG -
On-market share buy-back
5 LB (7
- March 2025
-ZE-HF=A
- Settled
-BgHE 4,226 40,389
- Not yet settled at year end 6 60
-RERERER
4,232 10.00 9.08 9.56 40,449

Share cancelled

BEE#HK 7
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Shares held for share award scheme

Movement of the Company’s shares held for share award scheme is
set out as below:

25 BX - #HERKE @
d BRoOEBEFEZRA

LI

2025 2024
—E_-RE —E-ME
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
::2vig (4= &8 RPER S5
'000 F A& $'000 Tt '000 F i& $'000 F 7t
At 1st April
361 7,226
RMA—H
Shares purchased for share award scheme
*\ N wm n 600 6,171
BB RBTEEE 2RH
Vesting shares pursuant to the share award
scheme (324) (4,516)
RIE AR 10 R B 5t 815 B IR 17
Share issued and held as treasury shares _ _
BITREBEERAEFRSG
At 31st March
1,344 11,097 637 8,881

Shares held for share award scheme includes shares issued by the
Company and the Company'’s shares purchased through the trustee
of the share award scheme from the open market. The total amount
paid to acquire the shares during the current year was approximately
$7,553,000 (2024: $6,171,000), which has been deducted from
shareholders’ equity as at 31st March 2025. The shares purchased
by the Company that are not yet vested for this share award scheme
were recorded as treasury shares of the Company.

As at 31st March 2025, there were 1,344,000 (2024: 637,000)
treasury shares held through the trustee of the share award scheme.

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Capital reserve

As part of the restructuring of the Group in February 1994, the
Company disposed of a property to a former subsidiary and
consideration was received in the form of cash and another property.
A total gain, representing the difference between the historical
carrying value of the property disposed of and the fair value of the
consideration received, resulted from such transaction.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

BHORBFESEEZRABELRADIIBETZR
BRAQNTEBRMDEBHTEZIEARIED
BEBAZARATRG - FABARMAXSE
88/ #7,553,000 T (ZE =M F : 6,171,000
) HERZEZHEF=A=+-—-HEEX
PR AARMARMDERFTEBEE
HARBEBZBROIEARRATDNEETRH AR -

R-B-HF=A=+—H BRERHIH
B A 576 1,344,000 (Z B UL © 637,000
) BERE -

() MEZMERMARE

(i) BEXHE
EATEER-NWNOF-AETERZ—
B ARFE—EAMBARHE-BYE
REURERSE —EYXWD BEZRXZE
RN BFHENECELRAERED K
RERAREZERE-
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Capital reserve (continued)

The gain arising from this transaction was divided into realised and
unrealised portions in the ratio of the amount of cash and the fair
value of the property received (“the property”). The unrealised gain
was taken to capital reserve and is realised on depreciation of the
property. During the year, $1,218,000 (2024: $1,218,000) was
transferred from capital reserve to retained profits.

(i) Surplus reserve

The surplus reserve has been set up by Shenzhen Vitasoy, Vitasoy
Foshan, Vitasoy Wuhan, Vitasoy Shanghai and Vitasoja (Macau)
Limitada, in accordance with regulations in Mainland China and
Macau SAR respectively.

(iii)  Other reserve

The other reserve arose from the equity transactions with the non-
controlling interests of Shenzhen Vitasoy and Vitasoy Foshan in
2011, Vitasoy Dongguan in 2019 and VAP in 2023.

(iv)  Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the hedged
cash flow in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for cash
flow hedges in note 1(t).

(v)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
and the joint venture established outside Hong Kong and the foreign
exchange differences arising from translation of monetary items that
in substance form part of the net investment in subsidiaries and the
joint venture established outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(v).

(vi)  Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options and share
awards granted to eligible participants recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note
1(q)iii).

25 BX - #HERKE @

() REZMERMBR @

() EBEX#E &)
ZEXGzWEZEWRERME (WED
DRAEZEHD B SRR KREREH - K2
BRHBCTABERRHE LR EWERE

1,218,0007t) BEA R BERZREEA -

(i) BEAFE

BerEEERYIEMD - LMD RS
byl ~ LMl R4 CRFY) BR AR D
BIARE P B At KR PIASRI TR 2 AR R -

(i) R
Hitf@BEER -2 ——FERIIEBDRE
WAEMTD R-ZZB-NAFERTEMBPURR
TECC-HFHREVAPHEIERES CEERS

(iv) 31
HWrhREEERERSHARREBME U AME
FRREREBEHFRR ST HRERE RS
REBEZREREHP 2HHPTAND AEBERE
FEEB 2 BUEM

v) EZ#FE
ERRERSRETBUMER L ZHE R
ARGERRAZMBRRELEZMBNEER
EERBERBUNMNMERL 2HBARARS
ENTNBEERRREFE DO ZEREBE
EZ INERE R EE o AR BASREME LA
HoETHEERE -

vi) ROEEHERE
BROERBERBEESRTAERSHEECE
BREMETEE 2 M RTEBRER KO R
D7 - THRAR Y EE Ua)il) BB B R
B2ARERZSABRMERT -
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(f)  Distributability of reserves

At 31st March 2025, the aggregate amounts of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was $1,973,865,000 (2024: $1,839,011,000).

After the end of the reporting period, the Board of Directors
proposed a final dividend of 10.2 cents per ordinary share (2024:
6.3 cents per ordinary share), amounting to $109,456,000 (2024:
$67,520,000) (note 25(b)(i)). The dividend proposed after the end of
31st March 2025 reporting period was not recognised as liabilities at
31st March 2025.

(g) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practices, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this
purpose, the Group defines debt as the total of bills payable, bank
loans and lease liabilities, and adjusted capital as all components of
equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

The Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from the year ended
31st March 2024, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio
below 30%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

25 BX - #HERKE @

() wHDIRFE
R-B-RF=A=1+-0 RESE(AT
1RBIFE 6B EZ AR IRFADAR
EEEAZHEEHEE51,973,8650007T (=&
— P94 : 1,839,011,0007T) °

REFRBE#R ESFEBREARABREERE
BR102M (ZBE-WF : SREZBER6.31L) -
£ 109,456,000 7T (ZZE =M 4 : 67,520,000 7T)
(HEE25(M)0) - R=ZZE-_HF=A=+—HE
HABKKREIBRENR-_E-_HEFE=A=+—8H
WhERABEE -

(g) EBEXREH

FEEEEREAKR ZEZEERRARELER
RESECENEL EBRERKRBNER
AREREREBIKERESERNEERE
EHEEBESRRREHLEHRE A E R EHEE
ALTRMRE -

FEEEBRERHERRBETRIRER
UERSRRERAIERFTRS G EKFEE
EEXRRRTRZEZREEBNSFE I
HEEERE 2 SCHERRBFELHARE -

REXENED  AEEUEEHERABRERL
REREERAEARBEE FILBEH K
SEKEERERAENRERE RTERREES
BEZRE CHRELXADER ZPBAKDS
RIE R BRI B ©

AEERKEBEZE_Z-_NF=A=+—H
HEERERE  BEBEHLEAREARLZS
BFR30%UT - BRIFUAEBELLE  KE
EReABRARRKFT2RESE BITHR
B BERREOER EEFEEREIHE
BELUBKERS -
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(g) Capital management (continued)

The Group’s debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31st March 2025 and
2024 was as follows:

25 BX - #HERKE @

(g) EBEAEEG@|
REBR-B-RER-_BE-_NE=A=1+—
AzEBEHERABRERLENT

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EWF
$'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t

Current liabilities:

HEEE -

Bills payable
EBNEE

Bank loans (note 20)
RITE R (MIFE20)

Lease liabilities (note 21)

HESE (EE21)

Non-current liabilities:

FREBEE

Bank loans (note 20)
RITE R (&£ 20)
Lease liabilities (note 21)

HE&E (EE21)

Total debt
aEBE

Total equity
FERMAEE

Less: Proposed dividends (note 25(b)(i))
A BOR AR B (B 5E 25(b)(i))

Adjusted capital
RRABEX

47,469 124,552
228,916 255,987

109,921 104,865

386,306 485,404

36,482 -

188,239 198,000

611,027 683,404

3,182,182 3,112,637

(109,456) (67,520)

3,072,726 3,045,117

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio
BEHEREERLLE

As at 31st March 2025, none of the Group’s banking facilities (2024:
certain of the Group’s banking facilities) were subject to fulfilment of
covenants which include maintaining the Group’s debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio below a certain amount and maintaining the Group’s net
worth ratio above a certain amount. Except for the above, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

REZZF-ZHEF=ZA=1+—H BELKEEZR
TRE(CE-NF  FAEEETRITIFER A
HaRwm EEREAKEZEBHERARES
EEREFRETHEATRERAEE ZFEL
EEFRETEENL - BRUERHS A2
AREEANBARAMBABTINREMNZE
BRIE °
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposures to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s cash and bank deposits are placed with financial
institutions with sound credit ratings, and the management consider
the Group's exposure to credit risk is low.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments, when due, and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade debtors and bills receivables are
generally due within one to three months from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate. Significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 21.2% (2024: 18.0%) and 49.5% (2024: 44.6%)
of the total trade and other receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@)  Credit risk (continued)

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables) (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors and bills
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills receivable:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(@) EERRE @

FEW BR7 R FE W Z 1% (B G 1% R E W AR 7
REMEKA) (&)
AEBERERREREZE S HREE —BRIEZ
MERAERESHAN AR EEE RAR
BIEEIE) > SEHE HRAEEBASY
FRERTEBERTRAES B2 BBEERST
EEAZR  MREBEOHRRTEFEEBER
G EHAEMARAECHEEE—SBED o

TEREHAEASERBY R R ERRE M
HiFzFERRRABEEBFREZEN

2025 2024
—E-hRF —E-MEF
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount allowance
IRE#EE EERE IREAE EiaaE
$'000F 7T $'000 F T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7T
Current (not past due)
N 636,114 642,298 =
BNER (RiBHR)
Less than one month past due
. 67,707 (412) 62,465 592
BHLR—@EA 872
One to three months past due
A _ 6,149 (37) 9,655 803
B8 == (39 (803)
More than three months but less than
twelve months past due 1,565 (1,260) 2,663 (403)
BHEB=EAELIHRT+=@EA
More than twelve months past due
. \ 2,477 (2,456) 2,099 2,081
WA+ =169 (2081)
714,012 719,180 (3,879)
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables) (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and bills receivable during the year is as follows:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(@) EERRE @
FEW BR7 R FE W Z 1% (B G 1% R E W AR 7
REMERTA) (&)

BUERFRERRE ZBERERNFRN2E
BT

2024
—E-MmE
$'000 F 7t

Balance at 1st April

AU A—B4&eR

Exchange adjustments

(& AR

Impairment losses recognised
R EEE

Uncollectible amounts written off

AR E S 582 s

Balance at 31st March
R=B=+—H#&&

4,505

(150)

80

(556)

3,879

4,165

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management for daily operation, including placing
short term cash deposits and raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board
of directors when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. Cash surplus over operating needs are closely
monitored and managed by the Group’s central cash and treasury
management system. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and long term. The Group’s
exposures to the liquidity risk and its policies for managing such risk
were unchanged from the year ended 31st March 2024.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(b) REE SRR (@)
TEZNAEBEZSBEBEAERAZH TS
HERR > WIRBANRTRESRE (B8R
BHFR . RNETEIRER B BT FIRE
BRENR) URAEEAGEEHRES
B2 A EED

2025
ot Sk 2
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHNRTRASRE

More than More than

Within one year but two years but

one year or less than less than
on demand two years five years After Carrying
—£Rg SR—F8 SHMER five years Total Amount
REX DRME PREF L% Ly REE

$000F 7t $000F 7T

$000F 7t $000F 7t $000F 7t $/000F 7t

Trade and other payables (excluding receipts
in advance and customer deposits)

1,560,843 -
BRI R AMEAR
(TEERRFEREFPES)
Bank loans
s 231,943 37,406
RTER
Lease liabilities
112,865 91,445
RE&RE
1,905,651 128,851

9,182 = 1,570,025 1,570,025

= = 269,349 265,398
116,693 20,060 341,063 298,160
125,875 20,060 2,180,437 2,133,583
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 REMEEREMIAZD

financial instruments (continued) RE@®
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) AREBESRERE @
2024
S 113
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

EHRTBRER

More than More than

Within one year but two years but

one year or less than less than
on demand two years five years After Carrying
—ERg £ e} SAMER five years Total Amount
REX Nk PREE TE% L REE

$000F 7t $000F 7t $000F 7t $000F $000F $000F T

Trade and other payables (excluding receipts
in advance and customer deposits)

N § 1591749 - - 8955 1,600,704 1,600,704
EAEZREMERT
(TEfRAKGEREFRS)
Bank loans
nicloa 258877 ; - - 258,877 255,987
RITER
Lease liablties 107.749 77440 151,689 18813 355,391 302,865
HESE : ' ; : : ]
1958375 77140 151,689 27768 2214972 2,159,556
(c) Interest rate risk () FIEEK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows FIZEEBRIELHIAEZARERARREERE
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market [ FETT 5 R R & B MK B =2 BB o
interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing AEBEZFZREBRTIEREHEEE - BTHE
borrowings, bank deposits and cash at bank. The Group monitors HEBTEF AEEBEREEERTFEIAR
the level of its fixed rate and variable rate instruments. The Group’s KF - REBHEEBEZE 2N RENERNT
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) NEE()IE o

below.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 REMEEREMIAZD

financial instruments (continued) B ()
(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c) FIZRE R #E)
(i) Interest rate risk profile (i) FIERBREF
The following table details the interest rate risk profile of the Group’s T RFJIAEBENHETERERB 2 FIXRGE
interest-bearing instruments at the end of the reporting period: R

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-ME
Interest Interest
rate range Amount rate range Amount
FE&ER *8 MEEE Gkt
% $'000F T % $'000 F 7T
Fixed rate instruments:
ZEEIA:
Bank deposits maturing after three months
o NI 0.10 - 4.85 151,498
FROABB=EAZRITER
Bank deposits maturing within three months
o _ e 0.50 - 3.90 872,103 0.10 - 5.08 486,006
FREAR=ZEARZBITER
Pledged deposit
4.25 819 - -
REESHER
Lease liabilities 1.70 - 7.23 (298,160) [EEW/RPAeL:! (302,865)
HEAE ' ' ’ ' ’ ’
574,762 334,639
Variable rate instruments:
EETA:
Cash at bank
- 0.00 - 4.13 391,465 0.00 - 4.20 152,815
IRITHETF
Bank '°fh“5 2.60 - 3.00 (265,398) KR PXT (255,987)
IRITER
126,067 (103,172)
Total net instruments
700,829 231,467
TEFHH
(i) Sensitivity analysis (/’/) BT
At 31st March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease TE_RE=ZA=1+—H  {ERREE L

of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held H/Tﬁﬁ AEREE EREEMUEERERE
constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s profit after RERESIERT  RXEBBRHKEZI LIRS
taxation and retained profits by approximately $1,184,000 (2024: EAAEE R A 891,184,000 T (= F
decreased/increased by approximately $645,000). ZOE R N4 645000 TT) ©
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group's profit after taxation and retained profits in respect of
the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting period.
The impact on the Group’s profit after taxation and retained profits
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense of such a
change in interest rates. Management assumed that certain interest-
bearing borrowings maturing during the next reporting period will be
rolled over upon the maturing for daily operation purposes.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate borrowings at fair
value through profit or loss, and the Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its debt obligation. The fixed rate
instruments of the Group are insensitive to any change in market
interest rate. A change in interest rate at the end of the reporting
period would not affect profit or loss.

The analysis has been performed on the same basis for the year
ended 31st March 2024.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales,
purchases and borrowings which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e.
a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Australian dollars (“AUD”"),
Singapore dollars (“SGD”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and Euros (“EUR”).

For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD"), all sales and purchases are denominated in either HKD
or USD, except for certain transactions with group entities and
purchases that are denominated in AUD, SGD, RMB and EUR. Given
the HKD is pegged to the USD, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with such USD
denominated transactions.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)

For group entities whose functional currency is a currency other than
HKD, except for certain sales and transactions with group entities
and certain borrowings from group entities that are denominated
in HKD, most of the other transactions are denominated in their
functional currencies.

The Group’s policies for managing such risk were unchanged from
the year ended 31st March 2024. During the previous year, the
Group used bank balances to hedge its currency risk arising from the
purchase of raw materials that are denominated in foreign currency.

In respect of other trade receivables and payables denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s significant exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in
HKD, translated using the spot rates at the year end. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries and joint venture outside Hong Kong into the Group’s
presentation currency and the exposure arising from the borrowings
from group entities that in substance form part of the net investment
in subsidiaries.

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(d) E¥EKE@

REEEE R BB S EEEENS
BREFHEREEEEERETIRNS URESE
EEE ST ESHREBETEN Hib AR
RS VIRE IR E M {E o

BEEZE-_E-_NF=A=+—BLEE®L &
SEEEAHERARCBRLBEETS N E—F
B AEEANARTEFEYNEBBEUNEST
BEzREMRBREE 2 EMER -

BMUSNETE 2 HMEBRIRRRENRRAS
AEEEEFERRNPEREEINE  UE
BEBAEER  BEFEREDERSR T ER
IKFE o

) EEZEEELRE
TRAJNAEERERAUEHEER 2R
WL BB EZERAEERAEMEL
ZERERRER FHEABEAE2SBEDIESF
BeAHERRELBEEZI R -BES
BUMBERBLARREE DA ZHBHRERS
rEEzZ2INERMELEZEZERKREEEE
BrEE (BEBARMBLARZREFEZ
—E342) Z kR o
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 REMEEREMIAZD

financial instruments (continued) SfE @
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥RERE @)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) AIFZEHEE &)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)

HERRAR (RBHE)

2025 2024
- S 2 —E-mE

UsD EUR S0  HKD  RMB  AUD UsD EUR 56D HO  RMB AUD
&n b % BE  ARE an zn & 5% B%  AR® aE
$000  $000  $o00  $oo0  $000  $0O0 000 000 000 $000  $000  $000
x tn T tn i i i tn tn T tr tn

Cash and bank deposits
RERBAER

Amount due from/(to)
group companies
El/ (Eff) £@RE

AFFE
Trade and other
receivables 4 = 136 13 - - S - - - . _
GV e

Trade and other payables
ERRRREBENR

17421 16 24 158 50435 125 11,508 1 115 64 14230 136

8,803 = 3662 (166963 377422 19,582 9,627 (2037) 3308 (433746) 439620 23480

(21,739) (747) (29) (44 (3,630) (7 (27882 (722) (41) = (1,350) (22)

Net exposure arising

from recognised

assets and liabilities 4495 (731) 3793 (l66,736) 424227 20831 (6,747) (2,748 3382 (433682) 452,500 23594
ERIEERAREL

ZERRERE
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 BEAKMEEREMIAZA

financial instruments (continued) SfE @
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) EBE¥E k@
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRMTH

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the TXRIITHREBRBAEEZEEEAYEXRR
Group's profit after taxation and retained profits that would arise if ZEZRZAHRESOJeERAEBBRIE
foreign exchange rates to which the Group entities have significant  ZRI R R B EF Z N2 E (BRRAEEMER

exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,

MU SBRZERFTE) - WS DRR)
WREXTCHEERTEREITAAMER 2

it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD {F{IEEBEZEHMIINEATE -

would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.

2025
—EZLEF
Increase/

usb

SGD
B

HKD
B

RMB
AR#

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rates

5 by
(F &)

(decrease)

in profit after
taxation and
retained profits
PR &R
RREEF
EH(TE)
$'000 Tt

168
(168)

(7,015)
7,015

21,040
(21,040)

1,035
(1,035)

2024
—E-IF
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit after
in foreign taxation and
exchange retained profits
rates BREIEEF
ExEFH RREEF
(F®)  E#/(FE)
$°000 F 7T
5% (275)
(5)% 275
5% (115)
(5)% 115
5% 150
(5)% (150)
5% (20,646)
(5)% 20,646
5% 22,371
(5)% (22,371)
5% 1,115
(5)% (1,115)
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after taxation measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries and joint
venture outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency
and the exposure arising from the borrowings from group entities
that in substance form part of the net investment in subsidiaries. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis for the year ended
31st March 2024.
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27 Commitments

(@) capital commitments outstanding at 31st March 2025 not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

27 EiE

() W=Z=-m&F=H=+-B FEHH
WP E 2 RN EARRENT

Contracted for
[EHEY

Authorised but not contracted for

EREERITN

2025 2024
—E-hHE —E_NFE
$'000 F3¢ $000 F 7t
47,685 23,306
240,363 254,505
288,048 277,811

As at 31st March 2025, the Group is committed to certain contracts
for the purchase of factory machinery and equipment.

(b)  The Group's share of capital commitments of the joint venture
not included above are as follows:

RIEBE-RFE=A=+—H ' AEEERFERET
ETHBEIMMEERREBEZEY -

(b) FEHALXAEBEEREEEATAZE

Contracted for

EHEY)

Authorised but not contracted for

EREERTN

REWEWT :
2025 2024
—E-HF —EMF
$'000 F T $'000 Tt
5,763
5,763
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28 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions.

(@) Transactions with related parties

The Group has entered into a distribution agreement with a joint
venture in the Philippines pursuant to which the Group agreed to
supply soya related beverages and raw materials to the joint venture.
Total sales to the joint venture for the year amounted to $17,757,000
(2024: $19,843,000). The amount due from the joint venture as at
31st March 2025 amounted to $3,734,000 (2024: $4,840,000).

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed in
note 7 and certain of the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note
8, is as follows:

28 EXRAEALRS

REEUBBRREZBERBEZRZRERIN K
EECANUTERBEALRS -

() BEHBEEALTZXRS
AEECHE-BFFEESE QAL —ESH
W& Bt AEEERERNZEEQAHEKX
CHBESREEME - FR a8 A7ME
HZ s E#EEA$17,757,000 T (ZE M4 -
19,843,000T) - R-ZZE-_HF=A=+—HE
WZEERNTZHIEE3,734000T (ZE= M
£ 1 4,840,0007T) °

]

(b) BREEBEAEZHME
FEEEREEASZHE (BENE7RRE
BARREEN ZRBUK KM E 8T T [
ETHESHFALINZHRB) AT :

Short-term employee benefits
EHESRET
Post-employment benefits
BRI R E R

Equity compensation benefits

N R EER

2025 2024
—E-hEF —ENE
$'000 F T $000 F 7t

41,321
1,694
13,328
65,514 56,843

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

29 Company-level statement of financial position 29 2 TEBEZEERRE

Non-current assets

FEREBEE
%Qigr%{%%’%%i equipment

- Investment properties
-REY=

- Right-of-use assets
-EREEE

- Other properté %;ant and equipment
B

- B A - M

Interest in subsidiaries

R ELQ Rz s

Deposits for the acquisition of property,

plant and equipment

BEWE BEERREBZITZ

Other recgivables

H B UK

Current assets
P
Inventories
A
=7E

r recei\iables
FEWLFR

Trade agd oth
FEUR BR X
s

\
]
=0

DE
o
-
=
o

m S
[%,]
c
o
0,
o
QO
.
o
w

;I\éqt current assets
Ve

Total assets less current liabilities
HEENRBAR

2,872
200,465
409,980
613,317

1,545,324

2,172,700

140,680

490,093
543,731
1,046,006

2,220,510

716,207
270,057
10,976
71,495

1,068,735

1,151,775

3,324,475

2024
—ENEF
$'000 $000
T T

2,998
213,171
440,751
656,920

1,707,204

1,055

15,419

2,380,598

166,367
472,022
570,292
670,375

1,879,056

688,181
290,326
7,770
67,126

1,053,403

825,653

3,206,251
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

29 Company-level statement of financial position 29 2QATIEHEZEBARNE &

(continued)

Non-current liabilities

EREAE

Lease liabilities

HEEE

Employee retirement benefit liabilities
EEERNEANERE

Deferred tax liabilities

EEBEAE

143,260 157,057

17,947 12,847

39,468 46,813

200,675 216,717
NET ASSETS
BEE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BRRHE
Share capital
[N
Reserves

f#h

TOTAL EQUITY
SR

3,123,800 2,989,534

1,047,526 1,044,398

2,076,274 1,945,136

3,123,800 2,989,534

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24th A_E_RAFAAZTNABRESSHELR

June 2025. REEX A o

Winston Yau-lai LO Roberto GUIDETTI
ErRE [EEE

Director Director

= EFE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

30 Non-adjusting events after the reporting 30 BEFHABRZEHRARSIE
period

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board of ZEESHNEHRAEZEZREARAIRE E—F
Directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in  E1BE R MsE 25(b)(i) R E -
note 25(b)(i).

31 Comparative figures 31 LEBEF

Certain reclassifications were made to the carrying amounts of  Z1MizE15(b)FIiE  MESEFEZREER
inventories sold and write down of inventories as disclosed in note  WEFECEHETEH /B FEBFELRE
15(b) to conform with the current year’s presentation in orderto EZ2% > UEFEFRMEETEHANAEZ - E
better reflect the nature of underlying expenses. As a result, the It ©&7FE 2 BRE &R 2 1,280,000, 7T - il
carrying amounts of inventories sold decreased by $1,280,000, write ~ $577 & 1% 51 12,607,000 Jt LA } 17 & #8 5k 2N 12 0
down of inventories increased by $12,607,000 and total costs of 11,327,000 7T °

inventories increased by $11,327,000 respectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R R
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

32 BHEMEERREBE—ZT A
F=ZA=+—HLFEEHZ

32 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not

yet effective for the year ended 31st March &5T - T ERRBRETER
2025 Rz E

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HZEZEFERRTIZ 2B BB LAE
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not CEEGEE-_SE-_HAF=ZA=+—BLFEH
yet effective for the year ended 31st March 2025 and which have KA FEEZESMERREAZHEHRT
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments  TAZIEFTEE]  ERBF T HI ATREEAREEE
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. BEZ1&E] ©

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

A T3 HE
HZEREZ
EiTHAIR A
Amendments to HKAS' ?1, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rate: 1st January 2025
Lack of exchangeability —®-FE_F—fQ
(BERESTTEANFE 21K EXEEH FE  HhZ I XH M| 2183 T
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures - Amendments to the classification and
. L. 1st January 2026
measurement of financial instruments —m—xF—HF—AQ
N 3 50D =7 N A 5 =0 —=—/\ - -
(BARMBREEANFIR 2T A IR(BEBUBREERDE 75
[2HTA: HE-—2HBTASBERITEZIETIZIER
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 1st January 2026
(BARMBRELEAGSHEANCFERE-F115 —E-XRE—HF—H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1st January 2027
(BBMERELEREI18E[HBHEZIRHKE —E-+tF¥—HF—H
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability disclosures 1st January 2027
(BB BREEANE 19K ELREEMN B L T E ] —E-+tF¥—HF—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the ~ ANEBEEFFAZSET R E X E BB 275

impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of =4

HEBA AL - R LR ER A

initial application. So far the Group concluded that the adoption T EHAREBEACUMBRRELETATE
of any of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the (BB BEHREERDFE 18RRI » EFRFEEH AR
consolidated financial statements, except for HKFRS 18, where the SEBGSRBEREBEERMEE -

structure of the Group’s consolidated income statement is expected
to change.
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Five Year Summary
TFERBER/E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(BUBMESHE)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Note -kl T _NE —E-=F —E--F —E--&
i $'000F 5t $'000 F 7T $'000 F 7t $'000F 7t $'000F 7t
Results
S
ﬁ;‘f””e WY 6217123 6340559 6501215 7,519,817
Profit/(loss) from operations 3
i iy 63,575 ’ ; ; ’
@R/ (EE) 1 185,432 103,593 (212,851) 843,471
Finance costs
e 33,116 ! : ] ,
HERA ( ) (30,028) (32,547) (23,071) (11,770)
Share of losses of joint venture
P = 13v469 ’ » - ’
B A 2] S ( ) (23,736) (22,253) (22,242)
Impairment loss on interest in joint
venture - - - (42,800)
EENTAERCRERSE
Profit/(loss) before taxation
NV e 316,990 , : , '
BESER (BE) 131,668 48,793 (235,922) 766,659
liceledes 1 (76,422) (13,880) (27,736) 74,541 (177,151)
PR xith
Profit/(loss) for the year
e 240,568
REERF () 117,788 21,057 (161,381) 589,508
Attributable to:
THA LR
- Equity shareholders of the Company 234,674
R ; 116,367 45721 (158,750) 548,346
- Non-controlling interests
sl 5,894 ’ " ’ ,
R 1,421 (24,664) (2,631) 41,162
Profit/(loss) for the year 240568
REERF (BE) ) 117,788 21,057 (161,381) 589,508
Assets and liabilities
BERARE
Property, plant and equipment 2778019
W BE R /78, 3,103,420 3,392,122 3,968,218 4,142,718
Other non-current assets
e 245,147 : , , ,
IS 1 286,205 261,112 282,739 163,942
Net current assets/(liabilities)
s A 483,549 , ; 4 b
EREEE, (BE) 21,694 (275,637) (475,424) (114,224)
Total assets less current liabilities
AR 3,506,715 , 377, 775, 1192,
BEER AR 3,411,319 3,377,597 3,775,533 4,192,436
Non-current liabilities
. 324,533
S EEE 1 ( ) (298,682) (277,007) (206,434) (235,562)
E";é %SSETS CRLVRLZ 3112637 3100590 3569099 3956874
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Five Year Summary

T FRERE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(BUBMESHE)
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Note et bW —E_(UFE 2 —E-=fF C—E--H ZE--&
B & $'000 FJt $'000F T $'000F 7t $'000F 7t $'000 F 7T
Capital and reserves
BERRf#E
E;ff capita ROVEVTE 1044398 1021453 1013028 984,030
gfg“’es 1 XXVl 1960162 1963262 2244885 2,632,023
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 3,083,158 3,004,560 2,984,715 3,257,913 3,616,053
RATRESEAEGLESZERE
Non-controlling interests
99,024 , , , ]
3 70 BB 2 108,077 115,875 311,186 340,821
TOTAL EQUITY
e 3,182,182 3,112,637 3,100,590 3,569,099 3,956,874
Earnings/(loss) per share
BRERN, (&8)
:gazsplc VARALN LM 10.9 centsfll 4.3 centsfll (14.9 centsfli) 51.5 cents{l
- Diluted 219 m
e .9 cents 10.8 centsfll 4.3 centsfli (14.9 centsfli) 51.0 cents{l
Note to the five year summary T FEMEMENE
1 In 2023, the Group changed its accounting policy in relation to its long 1 RZBEZ=F  RESTBESTMHAIAENR=ZF

service payment (“LSP”) liability following the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the mandatory provident
fund (“MPF”") - LSP offsetting mechanism issued in February 2023.
The policy was applied from June 2022 by recognising a catch-up
adjustment on the Group’s LSP liability. That was the time when the
Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022, which will eventually abolish the
statutory right of an employer to reduce its LSP and severance
payment payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its
mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme. The policy change does
not have any effect on earlier periods before the legislative changes.
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